

$D \mathrel{I} S \mathrel{S} \mathrel{E} \mathrel{R} \mathrel{T} \mathrel{A} \mathrel{T} \mathrel{I} \mathrel{O} \mathrel{N}$

A Mass Conserving Mixed Stress Formulation For Incompressible Flows

ausgeführt zum Zwecke der Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Technik unter der Leitung von

Prof. Dr. Joachim Schöberl

E101 – Institut für Analysis und Scientific Computing, TU Wien

eingereicht an der Technischen Universität Wien Fakultät für Mathematik und Geoinformation

von

Dipl. Ing. Philip Lukas Lederer

Matrikelnummer: 01025754 Südtiroler Platz 2/18 1040, Wien

Diese Dissertation haben begutachtet:

- 1. **Prof. Dr. Joachim Schöberl** Institut für Analysis und Scientific Computing, TU Wien
- 2. **Prof. Dr. Jay Gopalakrishnan** Fariborz Maseeh Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Portland State University
- 3. **Prof. Dr. Rolf Stenberg** Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis, Aalto University

Wien, am 12. Februar 2019

zugänglich.

http://www.ub.tuwien.ac.at

University of Technology.

http://www.ub.tuwien.ac.at/eng

Die approbierte Originalversion dieser Dissertation ist in der Hauptbibliothek der Technischen Universität Wien aufgestellt und

The approved original version of this thesis is available at the main library of the Vienna

ТП

UB

Kurzfassung

Diese Arbeit befasst sich mit der Einführung und der Analyse einer neuen Finite Elemente Methode zur Berechnung von inkompressiblen Strömungen. Im Wesentlichen liegt hierbei der Fokus auf den linearen inkompressiblen Stokesgleichungen, welche die physikalischen Zusammenhänge – hergeleitet aus den grundlegenden Newtonschen Gesetzten – zwischen der Geschwindigkeit des Fluids und dem vorherrschenden Druck(gradienten) wiedergibt. Während die zugehörige Standard-Varitionsformulierung den Sobolevraum erster Ordnung als Funktionenraum für die Geschwindigkeit in Betracht zieht, zeigen wir in dieser Arbeit, dass es auch möglich ist, eine Variationsformulierung zu definieren, die weniger Regularität an die Geschwindigkeit fordert.

Dazu wird eine formal äquivalente Formulierung der Stokesgleichungen in Betracht gezogen und ein neuer Funktionenraum für den Gradienten der Geschwindigkeit definiert. Die resultierende Variationsformulierung ist nun wohldefiniert für den Fall, dass die (schwache) Divergenz der Geschwindigkeit quadratisch integrierbar ist, und nicht, wie es die Standard-Formulierung verlangt, alle partielle Ableitungen. Wir präsentieren wichtige Eigenschaften des neu definierten Funktionenraums, wie zum Beispiel die Definition eines stetigen Spuroperators und die Dichtheit von glatten Funktionen.

Motiviert durch diese neue Formulierung befasst sich der Rest der Arbeit mit der Herleitung und der Analyse einer neuen zugehörigen Finite Elemente Methode. Für die Approximation der Geschwindigkeit kann nun ein passender konformer Raum gewählt werden, welcher zur exakten (physikalisch korrekten) Einhaltung der Inkompressibilitätsbedingung führt. Für die Diskretisierung des Geschwindigkeitsgradienten definieren wir neue matrixwertige Finite Elemente-Basisfunktionen, deren Normal-Tangentialkomponenten stetig über Elementgrenzen hinweg ist. Wir präsentieren eine ausführliche Stabilitätsanalyse und beweisen optimale Konvergenzraten des Diskretisierungsfehlers.

Abstract

This work deals with the introduction and the analysis of a new finite element method for the discretization of incompressible flows. The main focus essentially lies on the discussion of the linear incompressible Stokes equations. These equations describe the physical behaviour and the relation – derived from the fundamental Newtonian laws – between the fluid velocity and the pressure (-gradient). Where the standard variational formulation of the Stokes equations demand a Sobolev regularity of order one for the velocity, we give an answer to the question if it is possible to define a variational formulation demanding a weaker regularity property of the velocity.

With respect to a formally equivalent representation of the Stokes equations, we answer this question by the introduction of a new function space used for the definition of the gradient of the velocity. The resulting variational formulation is well-posed if we assume that the divergence of the velocity is square integrable. Thereby, with respect to the standard formulation, where all partial derivatives have to be square integrable, this is a reduced regularity property. We present certain properties of the new defined function space and discuss a proper continuous trace operator and the density of smooth functions.

Motivated by this new variational formulation, we present and analyse a new finite element method in the rest of this work. For the approximation of the velocity we can now choose a conforming discrete space. This results in a (physically correct) incompressibility of the velocity field, thus exact mass conservation is provided. For the approximation of the gradient of the velocity we define new matrix-valued finite element shape functions, which are normal-tangential continuous across element interfaces. We present a detailed stability analysis and prove optimal convergence order of the discretization error.

Acknowledgement

First of all I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Joachim Schöberl for guiding me over the last years. His patience, enormous knowledge and experience was invaluable for the results of this thesis and many other projects. Under his supervision it was possible for me to develop a vast amount of knowledge in my research area and to widen my perspectives on other related topics. I am grateful for his motivation when things did not work out as expected and for his contributions that lead to this work. Finally, I would also like to thank him for his mentoring and for the non-research related conversations we had, as they made me the person and researcher I am today.

Secondly, I would also like to thank Prof. Jay Gopalakrishnan for his valuable input as collaborator and as reviewer of this work. I would like to express my special thanks for the kind welcome in Portland, the interesting discussions and the good times we had.

Moreover, I wish to thank Prof. Rolf Stenberg for his report on this thesis, his worthwhile comments and his interest in my work.

At this point I also want to thank my colleagues in the working group. Thank you all for the inspiring discussions, the superb working atmosphere and all the funny moments I was able to enjoy with you. In particular, I want to mention my former office mates Matthias Hochsteger, Christoph Wintersteiger and Lukas Kogler for their generous help.

My special thanks are extended to my former colleague, collaborator and friend Christoph Lehrenfeld, for his insightful comments and his extensive support.

I am using this opportunity to express my gratitude to my family for their consistent support throughout my studies.

Thank you to all my friends for the unforgettable moments I enjoyed with you.

I would like to acknowledge the support of the TU Wien and the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) through the research program "Taming complexity in partial differential systems" (F65) - project "Automated discretization in multiphysics" (P10).

Last but not least, I want to show my deepest gratitude to my girlfriend Karoline. I am grateful for her patience, her faith in me, her encouragement and for her rigorous proofreading of this work. I am very thankful and happy that she is always by my side.

Vienna, February, 2019

TECHNISCHE

UNIVERSITÄT

WIEN

SFB P

Philip Lederer



Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich erkläre an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt bzw. die wörtlich oder sinngemäß entnommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe.

Wien, am 12. Februar 2019

Philip Lukas Lederer

Contents

1	Intr	oduction 1
	1.1	Structure of this thesis
2	The	equations of fluid motion 6
	2.1	Fundamental laws
		2.1.1 The continuity equation
		2.1.2 The momentum equation
	2.2	Incompressible Newtonian fluids
		2.2.1 The Navier-Stokes equations
		2.2.2 Creeping flows - The steady Stokes equations
		2.2.3 Boundary conditions
3	Vari	ational framework 13
	3.1	Preliminaries, basic notations and functional spaces
	3.2	Abstract theory
4	A no	w variational formulation of the Stokes equations 21
1	4 1	A stress formulation for the Stokes equations 22
	4.2	The stress space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div})$ 24
	1.2	4.2.1 An equivalent definition 25
		4.2.1 The equivalent definition $1.2.1$ 2.5
		4.2.2 Density of shifton functions $\dots \dots \dots$
	43	The MCS formulation 30
	т.0	4 3 1 Stability analysis
	1 1	The symmetric version of Stokes equations
	4.4	$4.4.1 \text{Stability analysis} \qquad 50$
5	Fini	te Elements - a discrete stress space 52
	5.1	Triangulation and preliminaries
	5.2	A discrete space for the approximation of $H(\text{div})$
	5.3	A discrete space for the approximation of $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$
		5.3.1 Lowest order basis functions and normal-tangential bubbles 60
		5.3.2 The covariant Piola mapping
		5.3.3 A stress finite element
		5.3.4 Arbitrary order shape basis functions
		5.3.5 A global basis
6	The	MCS method 71
	6.1	A new variational formulation

Contents

	6.2	Discrete inf-sup stability	72	
		6.2.1 Norm equivalences	73	
		6.2.2 Stability analysis in a discrete H^1 -norm	76	
		6.2.3 Stability analysis in natural norms	82	
	6.3	Error estimates	84	
		6.3.1 Interpolation operators	85	
		6.3.2 A standard error estimate	90	
		6.3.3 A pressure robust error estimate	95	
		6.3.4 An exactly divergence free post processing	96	
7	The	MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry	101	
	7.1	An enrichment for the stress space - the symmetric bubble matrix	102	
	7.2	A discrete variational formulation	104	
	7.3	Discrete inf-sup stability	105	
		7.3.1 Norm equivalences	105	
		7.3.2 Stability analysis	109	
	7.4	Error estimates and post processing	115	
8	Nun	nerical examples	119	
	8.1	Optimal convergence rates	119	
	8.2	Pressure robustness	120	
	8.3	Mixed boundary conditions	120	
9	Ope	en questions	126	
Bi	Bibliography			

1 Introduction

Computational fluid dynamics (CFD) is an ongoing research topic and is widely used in modern industry. Whereas the principles of fluid motion are well known – in the sense of the governing equations – a numerical approximation of these equations is needed in order to satisfy the demands of modern applications. The aim of this thesis is to contribute to the CFD-community by presenting a new method for the descritization of flow fields. In particular, the presented results not only provide a new numerical scheme but also allow a new insight on the mathematical structure of the basic equations.

This thesis considers the unsteady incompressible Stokes equations given by the following set of partial differential equations

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(\nu\nabla u) + \nabla p = f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \operatorname{div}(u) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where u and p are the velocity and the pressure respectively, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 or 3, is the computational domain, f is an external force and ν is the kinematic viscosity. Note that we also discuss other types of boundary conditions in this thesis, but for the ease we now only discuss the simplest case of homogeneous Dirichlet values for the velocity. The question of solvability and well-posedness of the Stokes equations is well analyzed. In this work we particularly aim to discuss the existence of solutions only in a weak sense, thus we seek solutions of variational formulations. With respect to the standard velocity-pressure setting of the Stokes equations as denoted above, a weak formulation now demands the spaces as follows. Whereas the pressure only needs to be an element of the space of square integrable functions with a zero meanvalue, denoted by $L_0^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, the appropriate velocity space is given by the (vector-valued) Sobolev space $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Assuming $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, the resulting weak formulation is thus given by: find $u \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $p \in L_0^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ s.t.

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu \nabla u : \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) p \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \forall v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d), - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \qquad \qquad \forall q \in L_0^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}).$$
(1.2)

This formulation has – especially from the mathematical point of view – a very interesting structure: it is a saddle point problem. In contrast to standard symmetric and coercive variational formulations, this makes the solvability analysis very challenging. In particular, one has to show that the inf-sup condition for the divergence constraint is fulfilled. This was proven in the famous work of Nečas, see [88], and many subsequent works [18, 19, 15]. To be precise, in the work [88] the author presented a proof for the estimate

$$||f||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le ||f||_{H^{-1}(\Omega)} + ||\nabla f||_{H^{-1}(\Omega)}$$
 for all $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$

which was later realized to be equivalent to the inf-sup condition of the divergence constraint.

Scientists of different fields developed various numerical schemes to approximate the exact solutions of equations (1.1). The finite element method, which is based on the variational formulation of the Stokes equations given by (1.2), has shown to be especially well suited for this problem. Similarly as in the continuous setting, the saddle point structure makes things complicated: the finite dimensional velocity and pressure spaces need to be compatible, by means that the corresponding discrete inf-sup condition for the divergence constraint can not be inherited from the continuous setting and needs to be proven for each method separately. However, many different stable pairs were found, as for example the famous Taylor-Hood element, see [116, 53, 85] and its high order extension [20], or the Scott-Vogelius element, [119]. Beside these conforming methods, many other conforming and also non-conforming (with respect to the velocity space $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$) finite element pairs can be found, for example in [11, 53, 72, 40].

Talking of non-conforming schemes, we shall particularly discuss discontinuous Galerkin (DG) methods. Since their introduction by Reed and Hill in [100], DG schemes got popular for parabolic and second-order elliptic equations, see for example [7, 67, 103], and particularly also for the discretization of flow problems, see for example [113, 108, 54, 29, 31, 30, 35, 71, 8]. Where continuity with respect to $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ is only imposed in a weak sense, it is this discontinuity that allows to use certain stabilization techniques, which are needed to attain stable methods in the case of dominating convective forces. For flow fields this is specifically of interest if we not only consider the Stokes setting, but the Navier-Stokes case, as it includes the non-linear convection term $(u \cdot \nabla)u$. In recent years, there has been a growing body of literature particularly discussing DG methods (and also their hybridized versions), where the discrete velocity space V_h is chosen to be conforming with respect to $H(\text{div}, \Omega)$, see for example in the works [30, 31, 29, 80, 81, 76, 77, 49, 51, 101, 109, 74, 73, 38]. In this case, weak conformity with respect to $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ only needs to be imposed for the tangential component of the velocity field as the normal component is continuous. The motivation of this choice is given by the incompressibility constraint $\operatorname{div}(u) = 0$. Obviously, H(div)-conformity is tailored to approximate this constraint in a proper sense. To be precise, using standard (well known) H(div)-conforming finite elements for the approximation of the velocity, the discrete pressure space can be chosen as $Q_h = \operatorname{div}(V_h)$. This implies that weakly divergence free velocity fields are exactly divergence free:

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v_h) q_h \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \quad \forall q_h \in Q_h \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{div}(v_h) = 0.$$
(1.3)

This exact mass conservation property of discrete velocity solutions was identified as a crucial advantage compared to other methods, as it leads to energy stability of discretizations of the Navier-Stokes equations (using for example an upwind-stabilization for the convection term), and to pressure robust error estimates in the Stokes setting. The latter property was first discussed in the literature in [83] and lead to several subsequent works [79, 70, 16, 82, 75] and more. Standard finite element methods for the velocity pressure formulation of the Stokes equations usually provide a priori estimates for the discrete velocity u_h , which read as

$$\|u - u_h\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le C \Big(\inf_{v_h \in V_h} \|u - v_h\|_{H^1(\Omega)} + \frac{1}{\nu} \inf_{q_h \in Q_h} \|p - q_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \Big).$$

where p_h is the discrete pressure solution, and C > 0 is a constant independent of ν . Thus, the velocity error is not only bounded by the best approximation of the velocity space, but also depends on the approximation properties of the pressure space. Further, the best approximation of the pressure includes the scaling $1/\nu$. Assuming that the exact pressure is not included in the discrete pressure space (thus, the second term is not equal to zero), this scaling can lead to a bad velocity approximation if the viscosity tends to get small $\nu \to 0$. In the literature this phenomenon is also associated with a property called *poor mass conservation* and is inherited from the weak treatment of the incompressibility constraint. In contrast to this, H(div)-conformity of the discrete velocity space leads to exactly divergence free velocity fields, see equation (1.3). This then allows us to derive error estimates that are independent of the pressure, and thus in particular do not show the bad behavior as described above if the viscosity ν gets small.

It seems as if H(div)-conformity of the velocity space is the right, or at least a very good, choice in the discrete setting, rising the question if this might also be an appropriate choice in the continuous setting. We give an answer to this question by introducing a formally equivalent formulation of the Stokes equations. Introducing a viscous stress variable $\sigma = \nu \nabla u$, elementary manipulations of the standard Stokes equations yield the mixed form

$$\frac{1}{\nu}\sigma - \nabla u = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega,$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \nabla p = -f \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega,$$

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega,$$

$$u = 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_D$$

Based on this set of equations it is then possible to derive a variational formulation, where the proper velocity space is given by $H_0(\text{div})$ (including zero normal boundary conditions). The stability analysis of this new formulation is one of the main issues of this thesis, and includes the introduction of a new function space for the viscous stress variable σ . As we aim to require as little regularity as possible, we define this new space as

$$H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}) := \{ \sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H_0(\operatorname{div})^* \},\$$

which reads as the set of matrix-valued square integrable functions, whose divergence can continuously act (in the sense of a linear functional) on functions in $H_0(\text{div})$. The definition of this new function space allows a detailed analysis and leads to new findings of the mathematical structure of the Stokes equations. Motivated by this new continuous setting, we then aim to define a new discrete variational formulation. Where the approximation spaces for the velocity space and the pressure space are based on (standard) conforming finite elements, the approximation of functions in H(curl div) demands the introduction of a new finite element. Using these elements we then define a discrete method, which we call the mass conserving mixed stress method (MCS). Various publications have assessed the numerical treatment of the mixed formulation above, see for example [47, 48, 45, 62]. In particular, we want to mention the work [46] where the authors claim that their method locally conserves mass (and momentum). Their velocity approximation is given by element-wise (with respect to a triangulation) constants and additional (constant) Lagrange multipliers \hat{u}_n , \hat{u}_t used for the approximation of the velocity in normal and tangential direction at element interfaces, respectively. The resulting velocity solution then provides the property

$$\int_{\partial T} \hat{u}_n \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad T \in \mathcal{T}_h,$$

where T is an element of the triangulation \mathcal{T}_h . The equation above can therefore be understood as a local conservation of mass as the "netto inflow equals the netto outflow" on each element boundary. However, the resulting method is not pressure robust as it does not provide exactly divergence free velocity test functions. In contrast, the schemes presented in this work lead to exactly divergence free, hence pressure robust, velocity approximations that have no computational overhead (in the sense of coupling degrees of freedom) and further provide optimal convergence orders of the finite element error.

1.1 Structure of this thesis

In this thesis we first examine the continuous setting and derive new insights on the mathematical structure of the Stokes equations. The later chapters are dedicated to the introduction of new finite element methods. More precisely, this thesis is structured as follows:

- In chapter 2 we derive the governing equations of fluid motion. We follow the standard procedures known in the literature using the fundamental theorems of Newton given by *the conservation of mass* and the *conservation of momentum*. We discuss the special case of Newtonian fluids, and conclude with the derivation of the Stokes and Navier-Stokes equations.
- Chapter 3 introduces the notation that shall be used within this work. We define several well known function spaces and present the basic theorems proving well-posedness of variational formulations in an abstract setting.
- Chapter 4 is dedicated to the derivation of a new variational formulation of the Stokes equations including the definition of the function space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div})$. In a first step we provide an equivalent definition and prove that this new function space can be approximated by smooth functions. Thereby, we can apply standard density arguments to define an appropriate trace operator, which is continuous and surjective with respect to a corresponding (newly defined) trace space. Based on these findings we discuss well-posedness of the standard Stokes equations and their symmetric version using the theory of saddle point problems. The analysis includes a Korn-type inequality (for the deviator) that is proven in detail.
- Beside the definition of standard well known finite elements used for the approximation of the velocity and the pressure solution, chapter 5 is committed to the definition

of new matrix-valued finite elements that shall be used for the approximation of functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div})$. By the definition of a distributional divergence (with respect to a given triangulation), we motivate the incorporated normal-tangential continuity of discrete stress functions. We define an appropriate finite element mapping and present the construction of arbitrary high order basis functions.

- Using these new stress finite elements, we introduce a discrete variational formulation, in the chapter 6. The analysis of this method is split into several parts. In a first step we present some norm equivalences that are based on standard scaling arguments and the structure of the considered finite elements. Based on these results we then present an inf-sup condition proving discrete stability. We conclude the chapter with the introduction of several interpolation operators and present an a priori error analysis proving optimal convergence order of the finite element error. The stability analysis as well as the error estimates are presented in two different versions: whereas the first case uses discrete norms inspired by the original standard velocity-pressure setting of the Stokes equations, the second version uses *natural* norms with respect to the new continuous setting derived in chapter 3.
- Chapter 7 discusses the discretization of the symmetric case. As the discrete stress space is not suited to approximate symmetric matrices, we introduce a new constraint and impose symmetry only in a weak sense. In order to prove well-posedness, we present an enrichment of the stress space that is motivated by the work of Stenberg, see [111]. We present a detailed stability analysis and show optimal convergence of the finite element errors.
- We conclude the work with chapter 8, in which we present several numerical examples to validate the findings of the previous chapters.

Some of the presented results have been published in the works [69, 68]. However, in this thesis we extend these results and add several additional comments.

2 The equations of fluid motion

This chapter is devoted to the basic principles of fluid mechanics and the derivation of the governing equations. We follow the same ideas as provided in standard literature on fluid dynamics, see [93, 10, 114, 3].

In the following we consider an Euclidean space with the independent three-dimensional variable $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ and assume that the time t proceeds independently. Using the unit vectors e_1 , e_2 and e_3 along the x_1 , x_2 and x_3 axes, respectively, we define the vector velocity field by

$$u := u_1 e_1 + u_2 e_2 + u_3 e_3,$$

with the scalar-valued components $u_1 = u_1(x_1, x_2, x_3, t)$, $u_2 = u_2(x_1, x_2, x_3, t)$ and $u_3 = u_3(x_1, x_2, x_3, t)$. Similarly, the scalar density field and the scalar pressure is given by $\rho := \rho(x_1, x_2, x_3, t)$ and $p := p(x_1, x_2, x_3, t)$. We speak of a two-dimensional flow field, when the fluid motion is restricted to parallel planes. In this case the the velocity component, which is perpendicular to the plane is equal to zero at each point. Further, the flow is independent of deformations that are parallel to the flow. In this work a two dimensional flow is always considered in the x_1 - x_2 plane, thus the velocity field is given by $u := u_1e_1 + u_2e_2$. Note that in order to speak of the above defined physical quantities we assumed that the *continuum assumption* holds true. This means that the physical quantities of interest of the liquid contained in a given small volume are imagined to be uniformly distributed over that volume. We can then also talk about fluid particles at a specific point, when we keep in mind that this particle is actually sufficiently large to contain enough molecules of the liquid such that an averaging, for example of the velocity, makes sense.

For the derivation of the governing equations of fluid mechanics we are using the concept of (finite) control volumes and their associated control surfaces. The main purpose of using a control volume is to focus the attention on physical events and quantities only in a small region and its boundary in order to be able to keep track of all effects. We can distinguish between two different types. A fixed control volume is specified by a given (fixed) location in space, thus the fluid passes into and out off the volume through the surface. The second type is called a material control volume. The idea is that the control volume is moving with the liquid such that the fluid particles stay inside and do not pass the surface. This leads to two different aspects. A Lagrangian viewpoint focuses on the flow of fluid particles. Each particle is identified by its initial position at a specific given (start) time. When time passes all particles move and change their position. This position (trajectory) now is a function that depends on the original location and the time. Similarly, all other physical quantities only depend on the initial position and time, thus refer to one specific fluid particle. In contrast to this, the *Eulerian viewpoint* deals with fixed points in space. At a given time we can evaluate physical quantities at each point to retrieve local information on the fluid. In this work we always use the Eulerian viewpoint. The close relation of the two different viewpoints is given by the substantial derivative

$$\frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{D}t} := \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + (u \cdot \nabla), \qquad (2.1)$$

which can be interpreted as the time rate of change following a fluid particle. It consists of the local time derivative at a fixed point $\partial/\partial t$ and the convective derivative $(u \cdot \nabla)$, which describes the time rate of change induced by the movement of the particle.

2.1 Fundamental laws

2.1.1 The continuity equation

The fundamental physical principle that is considered in this section is the conservation of mass. To this end, let ω be an arbitrary fixed control volume, hence we assume that it is not moving with the flow. The principle of mass conservation then reads as

Netto mass flow through the surface $\partial \omega = \text{time rate of decrease of mass inside } \omega$. (2.2)

In the following we translate (2.2) into an explicit equation including functions and variables. We first deal with the left hand side of this equation. The mass that is transported through an infinitesimal small surface area is given by the density times the size of this area times the velocity that is perpendicular to the surface. Thus, we have, using the Gaussian theorem,

Netto mass flow through the surface
$$\partial \omega := \int_{\partial \omega} \rho u \cdot n \, ds = \int_{\omega} \operatorname{div}(\rho u) \, dx$$
.

The right hand side of (2.2) is given by the negative derivation with respect to time of the mass inside of ω , thus

time rate of decrease of mass inside
$$\omega := -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \int_{\omega} \rho \, \mathrm{d}x$$
.

Note that the control volume is fixed in time, allowing us to change the order of integration and differentiation. Combining the last two results then leads to

$$\int_{\omega} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Taking into account that the control volume ω was arbitrary, the equation inside the integral has to be fulfilled at each point and so we finally derive the continuity equation given by

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0. \tag{2.3}$$

This means that the time rate of change at a specific point equals the negative netto flow of the mass out of an infinitesimal small volume area (a fluid particle). Before we proceed with the next chapter we try to give a physical interpretation of (2.3) following one specific

fluid particle. For this we use the product rule for the second term and use the definition of the substantial derivative (2.1) to get

$$\frac{\mathrm{D}\rho}{\mathrm{D}t} = -\rho \operatorname{div}(u).$$

The left hand side is the time rate of change of the density of one fluid particle as it follows the flow, and the right hand side is equivalent to the mass per unit volume (the density ρ) times the expansion rate of the fluid particle. Note that this version of the continuity equation can also be derived by starting with a material control volume $\omega(t)$, which follows the flow, and using the principle of mass conservation. In fact, there are four equivalent versions of the continuity equation, which can all be converted into each other. For more details we refer to [3, chapter 2.5].

2.1.2 The momentum equation

In the following chapter we derive the momentum equation, which is based on Newton's second law: The time rate of change of the momentum of a particle is proportional to the force acting on it. For the derivation we choose a material control volume $\omega(t)$, which is moving with the flow. Then we have, according to Newton's second law applied on the fluid seen as a continuum,

time rate of change of momentum of
$$\omega(t)$$
 = netto forces acting on $\omega(t)$. (2.4)

For the computation of the momentum we first focus on the physical effects in the x_1 direction. The product ρu_1 is equivalent to the momentum in the direction of e_1 per unit volume,

time rate of change of momentum in x₁-direction of
$$\omega(t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \int_{\omega(t)} \rho u_1 \, \mathrm{d}x$$
.

Using Leibnitz's theorem to change the order of integration and differentiation (the control volume depends on time and is moving with velocity u), and using Gauss's theorem on the appearing surface integral, we can further write

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \int_{\omega(t)} \rho u_1 \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\omega(t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\rho u_1) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \omega(t)} (\rho u_1) u \cdot n \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\omega(t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\rho u_1) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u_1 u) \, \mathrm{d}x \, .$$

For the right hand side of (2.4) we first consider an example. Imagine a bubble consisting of oil that is surrounded by water and moves with the flow. There are two different forces acting on this bubble. Firstly, the gravity acts on each oil particle inside the bubble, and secondly, there is a force induced by the surrounding water that acts on the surface of the bubble. Although this is an example of a two-phase flow and many different physical effects are going to occur, we can apply the same ideas on our material control volume, where we consider a volume force f and a surface force s. Thus, again restricting on the x_1 -direction, we have

net forces in x₁-direction acting on
$$\omega(t) = \int_{\omega(t)} \rho f_1 \, dx + \int_{\partial \omega(t)} s_1 \, ds$$
.

Note that there is no density included for the boundary forces as the infinitesimal small areas contain no mass. The same arguments are now also applied to the x_2 -direction and the x_3 -direction. Combining all results we have for $f = (f_1, f_2, f_3)$ and $s = (s_1, s_2, s_3)$ the equation

$$\int_{\omega(t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\omega(t)} \rho f \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \omega(t)} s \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$
(2.5)

To proceed with our derivation we take a closer look on the idea of the surface force. Let us go back to our example and assume that the considered material control volume $\omega(t)$ is the oil bubble. Next, imagine that the surrounding water is removed. Then the surface force s has to be equivalent to the forces that were induced by the surrounding water. Thus, we could just consider the oil bubble and think of s to be a function depending on the position and the orientation of the surface. This idea then leads to the introduction of a stress tensor T such that s = Tn. The derivation of this stress tensor is complicated and can be found for example in [93, chapter 5.4].

Putting back the surrounding water, we now assume that the bubble is not moving. In this case the surrounding weight of the water creates a force that presses the oil bubble together. This is the pressure force p. However, when the surrounding water is moving, there will not only be a pressure but also some viscous effects. The velocity at the interface of the bubble has to be continuous, thus the moving, surrounding water creates some stresses at the surface. This leads to the introduction of the viscous stress tensor τ . These two different forces are combined by the relation $T = -\text{Id}p + \tau$. Using this relation and the idea of introducing a stress tensor in equation (2.5) leads to

$$\int_{\omega(t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\omega(t)} \rho f + \operatorname{div}(-\mathrm{Id}p + \tau) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where we applied Gauss's theorem for the boundary integral. Similar as in the previous section this equation has to be fulfilled at each point as the material control volume $\omega(t)$ was arbitrary, leading to

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) = \rho f - \nabla p + \operatorname{div}(\tau).$$
(2.6)

This is not the final form of the momentum equation, however we can not proceed without making some assumptions about the physical properties of the considered fluid.

2.2 Incompressible Newtonian fluids

Supposing a constant density ρ , the continuity equation (2.3) simplifies to

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0. \tag{2.7}$$

This divergence constraint plays a very important role, especially for numerical simulations. If the divergence of the velocity is not approximated well enough, this may result in a poor (numerical) mass conservation and can lead to big discretization errors.

The second assumption concerns the definition of the stress tensor T and is called Newton's viscosity law. It states that the stress tensor linearly depends on the rate of strain. This relation, also called *constitutive equation*, has a big influence on the behaviour of the fluid. We refer to chapter 6 in [93] for a detailed discussion on this topic. Newton's viscosity law – we then speak of a Newtonian fluid – leads to the relation

$$T = -\mathrm{Id}p + \tau \quad \text{with} \quad \tau = \lambda \mathrm{Id} \operatorname{div}(u) + 2\mu \varepsilon(\mathbf{u}), \tag{2.8}$$

with the first and second viscosity coefficients λ and μ respectively, and the symmetric gradient given by

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{u}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla u + (\nabla u)^{\mathrm{T}} \right).$$

Another common assumption considering Newtonian fluids is that they further fulfill the Stoke's assumption, which reads as $\lambda = -2/3\mu$.

2.2.1 The Navier-Stokes equations

Using relation (2.8) and the incompressibility constraint (2.7), we can simplify the divergence of the viscous stress tensor

$$\operatorname{div}(\tau) = \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{2}{3}\mu\operatorname{Id}\operatorname{div}(u) + 2\mu\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{u})\right) = \operatorname{div}(2\mu\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{u})).$$

The set of partial differential equations given by the momentum equation (2.6) (using the simplification of the previous step), and the incompressibility constraint (2.7) are called the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\rho u) - \operatorname{div}(2\mu \varepsilon(\mathbf{u})) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) + \nabla p = \rho f,$$
$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0.$$

Making the further assumption that the second viscosity μ is constant in space and time we can use the identity

$$\operatorname{div}(2\mu\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{u})) = 2\mu\,\operatorname{div}(\varepsilon(\mathbf{u})) = \mu\,(\Delta u + \nabla\,\operatorname{div}(u)) = \mu\Delta u.$$

Dividing by ρ then leads to

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \nu \Delta u + \operatorname{div}(u \otimes u) + \nabla p = f, \qquad (2.9a)$$

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0, \tag{2.9b}$$

with the kinematic viscosity $\nu := \mu/\rho$ and the scaled pressure (again denoted by p) $p := p/\rho$.

2.2.2 Creeping flows - The steady Stokes equations

A import characteristic number in fluid dynamics is the Reynolds number. It is defined by

$$\operatorname{Re} := \frac{UL}{\nu},\tag{2.10}$$

where U and L are characteristic length and velocity scales. The Reynolds number is important as it can be interpreted as the ratio between inertia and viscous forces. For example a very small viscosity (compared to U and L) leads to a high Reynols number. The friction between fluid particles is then small and the acceleration initiated by inertia forces dominates. However, in a flow characterized by a small Reynolds number, the viscous effects are crucial. Such flows are often called creeping flows and are of practical importance. This has a great impact on the governing equations of fluid motion. Using a dimension analysis for the case when $\text{Re} \to 0$ shows that the nonlinear term in (2.9a) vanishes, thus $\operatorname{div}(u \otimes u) \to 0$. The resulting set of partial equations is called the *unsteady Stokes equations*. If we make the further assumption that the flow is steady, thus does not change when time passes, we get the *steady Stokes equations* given by

$$-\nu\Delta u + \nabla p = f,$$

div(u) = 0. (2.11)

These equations are of great interest as they fit in the mathematical concept of a saddle point problem. Although the full nonlinear setting of the Navier-Stokes equations (2.9) is generally applied, a proper (numerical) treatment of (2.11) is needed in order to understand the principles and effects that appear. This thesis only focuses on the steady Stokes equation and presents a new analysis of the mathematical structure of (2.11).

2.2.3 Boundary conditions

For the systems of partial differential equations introduced above we need suitable boundary conditions. Note that we only consider the steady case. In this work deal with two different types of boundary conditions. The first one is the case, where the fluid comes in contact with a wall. Obviously, we require that no fluid is going to pass through the wall. Assuming the wall moves with velocity u_w we impose the condition

$$u \cdot n = u_{\rm w} \cdot n. \tag{2.12}$$

This condition only influences the normal component of the velocity, but has no impact on the tangential velocity. This is mainly due to the different physical effects that are responsible for the boundary condition. If we think of a wall that comes in contact with the fluid, a common approach is to consider the wall as a part of the fluid. In chapter 2.1.2 we used a control volume and its surface to determine the forces produced by the fluid from the outside. Beside the pressure force viscous effects also occurred. Considering a wall, similar observations can be made. The viscous effects close to the wall create a force that holds the fluid particles and the wall together. They are, in other words, glued together

$$u \times n = u_{\rm w} \times n. \tag{2.13}$$

Today this *no-slip* condition is commonly accepted, although many different approaches were considered in the past. For a detailed discussion we refer to [93, chapter 6.4]. These two conditions together are called Dirichlet conditions.

The second type is called a Neumann boundary condition. At this point we do not want to have a lengthy discussion on the physical interpretation of these conditions and refer to the literature. A Neumann boundary condition is denoted by

$$(-\mathrm{Id}p + \tau) \cdot n = -P, \tag{2.14}$$

with an given force P. For more details we refer to [59, chapter 1.2].

3 Variational framework

3.1 Preliminaries, basic notations and functional spaces

In the following, we introduce the notation and establish properties of certain Sobolev spaces that we use throughout this work. For a more detailed discussion on this topic we refer to [2, 88, 11] and [53]. First, we introduce the notation $A \sim B$ to indicate that there exists constants c, C > 0 independent of the mesh size (as defined in chapter 5) h and the viscosity ν such that $cA \leq B \leq CA$. We also use $A \leq B$ when there exists a C > 0 independent of h and ν such that $A \leq CB$. In a similar manner we also define the symbol \gtrsim .

For the rest of the work let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 or 3, be an open bounded subset such that the boundary $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ is either

- smooth, i.e. $\Gamma \in C^{\infty}$,
- or piecewise smooth, i.e. we assume that there exists a (finite) decomposition of Γ into smooth Lipschitz boundary parts Γ_i such that $\Gamma = \bigcup \overline{\Gamma}_i$. Further, for each

component Γ_i there exists an open Lipschitz domain $\Omega_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{d}$ such that

$$\overline{\Omega_i} \cap \overline{\Omega} = \Gamma_i \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega_i \cap \Omega = \emptyset.$$

and Ω_i and Ω_j have a positive distance for $i \neq j$. Finally, we assume that the interior of $\overline{\Omega} \cup \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \ldots$ is also a Lipschitz domain. Those are the same assumptions as in [65] and fit into the setting of [56].

Let $\mathcal{C}^k(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ be the function space consisting of real-valued k-times continuously differentiable functions on Ω . Then we define $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ as the set of infinitely differentiable, compactly supported, real-valued functions on Ω and denote by $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ the space of distributions. To inidicate vector and matrix-valued functions we include the range in the notation, thus $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) := \{\phi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d \text{ with } \phi_i \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})\}$ and $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) := \{\phi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{d \times d} \text{ with } \phi_{ij} \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})\}$ indicate vector and matrix-valued infinitely differentiable, compactly supported, real-valued functions, respectively. This notation is extended to other functions spaces as needed. Whereas

$$L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \{ f : \int_{\Omega} |f|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x < \infty \}$$

$$(3.1)$$

denotes the space of square integrable functions with the inner product and the norm

$$(f,g)_{L^2(\Omega)} := \int_{\Omega} fg \, \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \|f\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 := (f,f)_{L^2(\Omega)}, \qquad \forall f,g \in L^2(\Omega), \qquad (3.2)$$

the spaces $L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ denote its vector and matrix-valued versions. We also define the closed subspace

$$L_0^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \{ f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) : \int_{\Omega} f \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \}.$$

At several points in the later chapters we make use of the local L^2 -norm defined on subsets $\omega \subset \Omega$. For a better readability we introduce the following notation

$$\|\cdot\|_{\omega}:=\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\omega)}.$$

Certain differential operators have different definitions depending on the context. We define the "curl" operator by

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{curl}(\phi) &= (-\partial_2 \phi, \partial_1 \phi)^{\mathrm{T}}, & \text{for } \phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \text{ and } d = 2, \\ \operatorname{curl}(\phi) &= -\partial_2 \phi_1 + \partial_1 \phi_2, & \text{for } \phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^2) \text{ and } d = 2, \\ \operatorname{curl}(\phi) &= (\partial_2 \phi_3 - \partial_3 \phi_2, \partial_3 \phi_1 - \partial_1 \phi_3, \partial_1 \phi_2 - \partial_2 \phi_1)^{\mathrm{T}} \text{ for } \phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3) \text{ and } d = 3, \end{aligned}$$

where $(\cdot)^{\mathrm{T}}$ denotes the transpose and ∂_i abbreviates ∂/∂_i . Similarly, $\nabla \phi$ has different meanings depending on the context and results either in a vector $[\nabla \phi]_i = \partial_i \phi$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ or in a matrix $[\nabla \phi]_{ij} = \partial_i \phi_j$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Finally, we denote by div $(\phi) = \sum_{i=1}^3 \partial_i \phi_i$ the standard divergence operator for $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and by $[\operatorname{div}(\phi)]_j = \sum_{i=1}^3 \partial_i \phi_{ji}$ the vector-valued divergence operator applied to $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$.

Let $\tilde{d} := d(d-1)/2$ (such that $\tilde{d} = 1$ and $\tilde{d} = 3$ for d = 2 and d = 3, respectively). The standard Sobolev spaces are denoted by

$$H^{1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) : \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \}, \\ H^{1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \}, \\ H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \}, \\ H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : \|\operatorname{curl}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \}, \end{cases}$$

with the associated norms given by $\|\cdot\|_{H^1(\Omega)}$, $\|\cdot\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$, respectively. Note that we will not distinguish between the dimension of the ordinary Sobolev space in the definition of the norm, thus we use $\|\cdot\|_{H^1(\Omega)}$ as the symbol for the norm on $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. In the same fashion we also denote the seminorms by $|\cdot|_{H^1(\Omega)}$, $|\cdot|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$ and $|\cdot|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$. Sobolev spaces with higher regularity are similarly given by

$$H^{m}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) : \|\nabla^{m}u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \},$$

$$H^{m}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : \|\nabla^{m}u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \},$$

$$H^{m}(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) := \{ u \in H^{m}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \},$$

$$H^{m}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) := \{ u \in H^{m}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : \|\operatorname{curl}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} < \infty \},$$

and we use the notation $\|\cdot\|_{H^m(\Omega)}$, $\|\cdot\|_{H^m(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{H^m(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$ for the corresponding norms. Note that the Sobolev spaces above can also be defined as the closure of $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega},\cdot)$ (for sufficiently smooth boundaries) with the according norms, see for example in [64] for spaces with more regularity and for the standard spaces [57, 58, 53]. The equivalence of those definitions is not trivial and goes back to the famous theorem of N. Meyers and J. Serrin, see [86]. A detailed proof can also be found in the book [44, 2].

We continue with the definition of appropriate Sobolev spaces on the boundary. As we are also dealing with non-smooth boundaries, we follow the notations and definitions given in [24] and [84]. In the case of a partially smooth domain and d = 3 we denote by e_{ij} the open edges of Γ . When Γ_i and Γ_j are two adjacent faces then e_{ij} is the common edge. By n we denote the piecewise smooth, outward unit normal on Ω . On the edge e_{ij} we define the parallel unit tangential vector by t_{ij} . Note that on each Γ_i , the three vectors given by $n_i := n|_{\Gamma_i}, t_{ij}$ and $t_i = t_{ij} \times n_i$ form an orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^3 and the vectors t_i and t_{ij} are an orthonormal basis of the tangential plane. We denote by $\mathcal{F}(\Gamma_i)$ the set of indices jsuch that Γ_i and Γ_j have a common edge e_{ij} . In two dimensions the tangential vector t_i is simply given by rotating the normal vector by 90 degrees. Further, e_{ij} is the common vertex (and $\mathcal{F}(\Gamma_i)$) is defined correspondingly). Using the notations from above the space of square integrable functions on the boundary Γ is denoted by $L^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{R})$. Next, on each part of the boundary we define the space

$$H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R}) := \overline{\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Gamma_i})}^{\|\cdot\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i)}}$$

with

$$\|u\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i)}^2 := \int_{\Gamma_i} \int_{\Gamma_i} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^d} \,\mathrm{d}s(x) \,\mathrm{d}s(y) + \int_{\Gamma_i} u^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

Similarly, we define the space $H^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R})$. Using the notation

$$u_i \stackrel{1/2}{=} u_j \text{ at } e_{ij} \Leftrightarrow \int_{\Gamma_i} \int_{\Gamma_j} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^d} \,\mathrm{d}s(x) \,\mathrm{d}s(y) < \infty,$$

for $u_i \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R})$ and $u_j \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_j, \mathbb{R})$, there holds

$$u \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}) \Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} u \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R}) & \forall i, \\ u|_{\Gamma_i} \stackrel{1/2}{=} u|_{\Gamma_j} & \forall i \neq j \text{ s.t. } \overline{\Gamma_i} \cap \overline{\Gamma_j} \neq \emptyset. \end{cases}$$

Beside the (equivalently defined) vector-valued functions spaces $L^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d), H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R}^d), H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R}^d)$, we now further have for d = 3:

$$\begin{split} L^2_t(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) &:= \{ u \in L^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) : u \cdot n = 0 \}, \\ H^{1/2}_{-}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) &:= \{ u \in L^2_t(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) : u|_{\Gamma_i} \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R}^d) \}, \\ H^{1/2}_{\mathbb{I}}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) &:= \{ u \in H^{1/2}_{-}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) : u|_{\Gamma_j} \cdot t_{ij} \stackrel{1/2}{=} u|_{\Gamma_i} \cdot t_{ij} \forall j, \forall i \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma_j) \}, \\ H^{1/2}_{\perp}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) &:= \{ u \in H^{1/2}_{-}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) : u|_{\Gamma_j} \cdot t_j \stackrel{1/2}{=} u|_{\Gamma_i} \cdot t_i \forall i \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma_j), \forall j \}. \end{split}$$

The compatibility equation $u|_{\Gamma_j} \cdot t_{ij} \stackrel{1/2}{=} u|_{\Gamma_i} \cdot t_{ij}$ assures "continuity" of the tangential components across the edge of vector functions in the tangential planes on Γ_i and Γ_j .

Similarly, the compatibility equation $u|_{\Gamma_j} \cdot t_j \stackrel{1/2}{=} u|_{\Gamma_i} \cdot t_i$ assures "continuity" of the (in plane) normal component across the edge. The last two function spaces can also be defined on each Γ_i separately by $H_{\parallel}^{1/2}(\Gamma_i, \mathbb{R}^d) := \{u|_{\Gamma_i} : u \in H_{\parallel}^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d)\}$. In two dimensions there is no equivalent definition of the tangential vector t_{ij} , thus we simply set $H_{\parallel}^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d) = H_{\parallel}^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Next we introduce the following trace operators for smooth functions

$$\begin{split} \gamma\phi &:= \phi|_{\Gamma} & \text{for } \phi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}), \quad \gamma_{n}\phi := \phi|_{\Gamma} \cdot n & \text{for } \phi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d}), \\ \gamma_{t}\phi &:= \phi|_{\Gamma} \times n & \text{for } \phi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d}), \quad \pi_{t}\phi := (\phi|_{\Gamma} - (\phi|_{\Gamma} \cdot n)n) & \text{for } \phi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d}), \\ \gamma_{nn}\phi &:= \gamma_{n}(\phi|_{\Gamma}n)|_{\Gamma} & \text{for } \phi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}), \quad \pi_{nt}\phi := \pi_{t}(\phi|_{\Gamma}n) & \text{for } \phi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d}). \end{split}$$

Note that in three dimensions there holds $\pi_t \phi = n \times (\phi \times n)|_{\Gamma}$ and that in two dimensions γ_t does not exist. In a similar manner we define the corresponding trace operators also on a part of the boundary symbolizing it with further indices, e.g. the tangential projection on the boundary Γ_i is denoted by $\pi_{t,i}$. For the ease of notation we omit the symbols of the corresponding trace operator if it is clear from the context, e.g. where ϕ_n, ϕ_t represent the normal part and the tangential projection (with respect to π_t) of a vector-valued function. Similarly, ϕ_{nn} and ϕ_{nt} are the normal-normal and the normal-tangential projection of a matrix-valued function.

In the following we introduce trace operators for Sobolev spaces. First, recall that γ can be extended to the Sobolev space $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\gamma: H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \to H^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}),$$

is a linear, continuous and surjective operator. Keeping this in mind, we omit the notation including the symbol γ for a better readability. Note that the trace operator allows us to define an equivalent norm by

$$\|u\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \sim \inf_{\substack{\phi \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \\ \phi = u \text{ on } \Gamma}} \|\phi\|_{H^1(\Omega)}.$$

Next, we define the closed subspaces with vanishing trace

$$H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \{ u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) : u = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \},\$$

$$H^1_{0,\Gamma_i}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) := \{ u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) : u = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Gamma_i \},\$$

and similarly the vector-valued versions $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $H_{0,\Gamma_i}^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Note that there holds a similar density argument

$$H^1_0(\Omega,\mathbb{R}) = \overline{\mathcal{C}^\infty_c(\Omega,\mathbb{R})}^{\|\cdot\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \quad \text{and} \quad H^1_{0,\Gamma_i}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}) = \overline{\mathcal{C}^\infty_{0,\Gamma_i}(\Omega,\mathbb{R})}^{\|\cdot\|_{H^1(\Omega)}},$$

where $\mathcal{C}_{0,\Gamma_i}^{\infty}(\Omega, \cdot)$ denotes infinitely differentiable functions with compact support on $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \Gamma_i$. For the definition of further trace operators we first need some dual spaces. We use the superscript * in the case of a Hilbert space, whereas the dual spaces of the above defined Sobolev spaces are simply defined using the well known notation with negative indices. Thus we have for example

$$H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}):=[H^1_0(\Omega,\mathbb{R})]^* \quad \text{and} \quad H^{-1}_{\Gamma_i}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}):=[H^1_{0,\Gamma_i}(\Omega,\mathbb{R})]^*,$$

and similarly on the boundary

$$H^{-1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}) := [H^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R})]^*.$$

Further we introduce the following notation: the action of a continuous linear functional f on an element g belonging to a topological space X is denoted by $\langle f, g \rangle_X$. We omit the subscript in $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ when it is obvious from the context. Then the corresponding dual norms are defined in the common way, as for example

$$\|u\|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} := \sup_{v \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma,\mathbb{R})} \frac{\langle u, v \rangle}{\|v\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}}$$

For the Soblev space $H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ the appropriate trace operator is given by γ_n such that

$$\gamma_n: H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) \to H^{-1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}),$$

is a linear, continuous and surjective operator. We define the closed subspaces with vanishing normal trace

$$H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega) := \{ u \in H(\operatorname{div},\Omega) : \langle u \cdot n, \phi \rangle = 0 \ \forall \phi \in H^1(\Omega,\mathbb{R}) \}, \\ H_{0,\Gamma_i}(\operatorname{div},\Omega) := \{ u \in H(\operatorname{div},\Omega) : \langle u \cdot n, \phi \rangle = 0 \ \forall \phi \in H^1_{0,\Gamma\setminus\overline{\Gamma}_i}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}) \}.$$

For the trace operator of $H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ we need further (dual) Sobolev spaces with even less regularity. For this let ∇_{Γ} , div_{Γ} and curl_{Γ} be the corresponding differential operators on the boundary (see chapter 3.1 in [24]). Then we define

$$H_{\mathbb{H}}^{-1/2}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma},\Gamma) := \{ u \in H_{\mathbb{H}}^{-1/2}(\Gamma,\mathbb{R}^{d}) : \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma}(u) \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma,\mathbb{R}) \},\$$

$$H_{\mathbb{L}}^{-1/2}(\operatorname{curl}_{\Gamma},\Gamma) := \{ u \in H_{\mathbb{L}}^{-1/2}(\Gamma,\mathbb{R}^{d}) : \operatorname{curl}_{\Gamma}(u) \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma,\mathbb{R}) \}.$$

The operators γ_t and π_t can be extended such that

$$\begin{split} \gamma_t : & H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \to H_{\parallel}^{-1/2}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma}, \Gamma), \\ \pi_t : & H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \to H_{\perp}^{-1/2}(\operatorname{curl}_{\Gamma}, \Gamma), \end{split}$$

are linear, continuous and surjective operators. Notem that γ_t and π_t can also be applied to functions in $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\gamma_t : H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \to H^{1/2}_{\perp}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\pi_t : H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \to H^{1/2}_{\parallel}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d)$ are linear, continuous and surjective.

Trace operators for Sobolev spaces with higher regularity were also analyzed in the literature. In the case of $H^m(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ we refer for example to [57, 58]. However, in this work a special interest lies on the traces of functions in $H^1(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$, which were, to the best knowledge of the author, so far not analyzed in detail. Obviously, as this is a subspace

of $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, the above trace operators γ and π_t (and γ_t for d = 3) are all linear and continuous. Next we proceed similar to chapter 3.1 in [24] to define another trace. To this end let $\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_{t,j}} := \pi_{t,j}(\operatorname{curl}(u))$ for all $u \in H^1(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$, where $\pi_{t,j}u := u - (u \cdot n_j)n_j$ with the unit normal vector n_j of the domain Ω on Γ_j . This yields $\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_{t,j}} : H^1(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \to$ $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_j, \mathbb{R}^3)$. Next we define the operator $\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t}$ as

$$\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} : H^1(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \to H^{1/2}_{-}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d), \quad \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t}(x) = \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_{t,j}}(x) \quad \text{a.e.} \quad x \in \Gamma_j.$$
(3.3)
there holds the following identity

Then there holds the following identity

$$\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} u = \pi_t(\operatorname{curl}(u)).$$

In the case of a smooth boundary the tangential projections π_t maps functions from $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ onto $H^{1/2}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^3)$. This also assures the continuity (but not surjectivity!)

$$\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} : H^1(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \to H^{1/2}_{\parallel}(\Gamma, \mathbb{R}^d).$$

In the case of a piecewise smooth boundary we only have that the operator $\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t}$ maps functions from $H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)$ onto $H^{1/2}_{-}(\Gamma_i,\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Finally, similarly to the differential operators above, we define the operator skw(·) depending on the context. To this end let $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ then we have

$$\operatorname{skw}(\phi) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\phi \\ \phi & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{skw}(\psi) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \psi_3 & -\psi_2 \\ -\psi_3 & 0 & \psi_1 \\ \psi_2 & -\psi_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

For matrix valued functions $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ we simply $\mathrm{skw}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\phi - \phi^{\mathrm{T}}$.

Next we introduce an important regular decomposition result for the space $H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ including different boundary conditions. The result is well known and can be found for example in [56]. Note that in the two-dimensional case the result follows from the corresponding decomposition of $H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ functions and by the equivalence $\operatorname{curl}(\phi) = \nabla^{\perp} \phi$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$.

Theorem 1 (Regular decomposition of H(div)-functions). Let $\Gamma_i \subset \Gamma$ be a part of the boundary Γ defined at the beginning of this chapter. For $u \in H_{0,\Gamma_i}(\text{div},\Omega)$ there exist functions $\phi \in H^1_{0,\Gamma_i}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ and $z \in H^1_{0,\Gamma_i}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ such that

$$u = \operatorname{curl}(\phi) + z,$$

with the stability estimates

$$\|\phi\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le c \|u\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$$
 and $\|z\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le c \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$

We conclude this section by introducing some important inequalities.

Theorem 2 (Poincaré inequality). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 or 3, be an arbitrary bounded and connected Lipschitz domain with diam $(\Omega) = 1$. For a function $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ there holds

$$||u||_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq c_{P}\left(|u|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} + \left(\int_{\Omega} u \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{2}\right),$$

where c_p only depends on the shape of Ω .

Theorem 3 (Friedrichs inequality). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 or 3, be an arbitrary bounded and connected Lipschitz domain with $\operatorname{diam}(\Omega) = 1$. Let $\Gamma_D \subset \partial\Omega$ be of positive measure $|\Gamma_D| > 0$. For functions $u \in H^1_{0,\Gamma_D}(\Omega)$ and $v \in H^2_{0,\Gamma_D}(\Omega)$ there holds

$$||u||_{H^1(\Omega)} \le c_F |u|_{H^1(\Omega)}$$
 and $||v||_{H^2(\Omega)} \le c_F |v|_{H^2(\Omega)}$,

where c_F only depends on the shape of Ω .

Theorem 4 (Korn inequality). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 or 3, be an arbitrary bounded and connected Lipschitz domain. For $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ there holds

$$\|\varepsilon(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge c_{k}\|u\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2},$$

where the constant c_k depends on the domain Ω . Now let $\Gamma_D \subset \partial \Omega$ be of positive measure $|\Gamma_D| > 0$, and let $u \in H^1_{0,\Gamma_D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, then

$$\|\varepsilon(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \ge c_k \|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$

Proof. For a detailed proof for a smooth boundary we refer to chapter 3.3 in [39], and for non-smooth boundaries see [15]. \Box

3.2 Abstract theory

In this section we discuss the abstract theory of coercive and saddle point problems. We derive necessary and sufficient conditions yielding existence and uniqueness. For coercive problems this leads to the theorem of Lax-Milgram. For saddle point problems, often encountered when applying the method of Lagrangian multipliers, we quote the well known *LBB-condition* (named after Olga Alexandrowna Ladyschenskaja, Ivo Babuška and Franco Brezzi), and Brezzi's theorem.

Let V be a Hilbert space with the inner product and norm given by $(\cdot, \cdot)_V$ and $|| \cdot ||_V$, respectively. On the space V we define the bilinear form $a : V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ and the linear form $F : V \to \mathbb{R}$. We want to solve the problem: Find $u \in V$ such that

$$a(u,v) = F(v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$
(3.4)

Theorem 5 (Lax-Milgram). Let V be a Hilbert space and let $a : V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a symmetric, continuous and coercive bilinear form, thus there exist constants α and β such that

$$\begin{aligned} a(u,v) &\leq \beta ||u||_V ||v||_V \quad \forall u,v \in V, \\ a(u,u) &\geq \alpha ||u||_V^2 \qquad \forall u \in V. \end{aligned}$$

Then, for every $F \in V^*$ there exists a unique solution fulfilling (3.4), and there holds the stability estimate

$$||u||_V \le \frac{1}{\alpha} ||F||_{V^*}.$$

Next, we present the conditions needed to guarantee existence and uniqueness of saddle point problems. These problems often appear if we deal with mixed finite element methods and can also be interpreted as a minimization problem with certain constraints. One of the most famous examples is given by the variational formulation of the steady Stokes equations (2.11). Again, we focus on a more general setting. Beside the Hilbert space V we further define the Hilbert space Q with the scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_Q$ and the norm $|| \cdot ||_Q$. Further set $X := V \times Q$ and $||(u, p)||_X^2 := ||u||_V^2 + ||p||_Q^2$ for all $(u, p) \in X$. Next, we define the bilinear form $b : V \times Q \to \mathbb{R}$ and the bilinear form

$$B: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}, \quad B((u, p), (v, q)) := a(u, v) + b(v, p) + b(u, q).$$

Finally, let $G: Q \to \mathbb{R}$ be a linear form on Q. Then we have the abstract problem: Find $(u, p) \in X$ such that

$$B((u, p), (v, q)) = F(v) + G(q) \quad \forall (v, q) \in X.$$
(3.5)

Of course, an equivalent formulation is given by: Find $(u, p) \in V \times Q$ such that

$$a(u, v) + b(v, p) = F(v) \qquad \forall v \in V,$$

$$b(u, q) = G(v) \qquad \forall q \in Q.$$

There are several different conditions (depending on the structure and the properties of the system), which lead to existence and uniqueness of solutions of equation 3.5 and equation 3.6. For a detailed discussion on this topic we refer to chapter 4.2 in [11].

In this work we only consider the case where the bilinear form B (respectively a) is symmetric. In the famous paper [19], F. Brezzi gives sharp conditions on the bilinear forms $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ and $b(\cdot, \cdot)$ that lead to existence and uniqueness. For this we define the kernel K_b with respect to the bilinear form b by $K_b := \{u \in V : b(u, q) = 0 \ \forall q \in Q\}$.

Theorem 6 (Brezzi). Let V and Q be two Hilbert spaces. Let $a : V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a symmetric and continuous bilinear form, and let $b : V \times Q \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous bilinear form, thus

$$\begin{aligned} a(u,v) &\leq c_1 \|u\|_V \|v\|_V \quad \forall u, v \in V, \\ b(u,q) &\leq c_2 \|u\|_V \|q\|_Q \quad \forall u \in V, \forall q \in Q. \end{aligned}$$

Further assume that $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ is coercive on the kernel K_b

$$a(u, u) \ge \alpha \|u\|_V^2 \quad \forall u \in K_b,$$

and that the LBB-condition is fulfilled, thus for all $q \in Q$ with $q \neq 0$ there holds

$$\sup_{\substack{u \in V \\ u \neq 0}} \frac{b(u,q)}{\|u\|_V \|q\|_Q} \ge \beta > 0.$$
(3.6)

Then equation 3.6 has a unique solution and there holds

$$\|u\|_{V} \leq \frac{1}{\alpha} \|F\|_{V^{*}} + \frac{2c_{1}}{\alpha\beta} \|G\|_{Q^{*}} \quad and \quad \|q\|_{Q} \leq \frac{2c_{1}}{\alpha\beta} \|F\|_{V^{*}} + \frac{2c_{1}^{2}}{\alpha\beta^{2}} \|G\|_{Q^{*}}.$$

4 A new variational formulation of the Stokes equations

In the first chapter we introduced a variational formulation of the steady Stokes equations (2.11) in a velocity pressure setting. This is the most common formulation and was analyzed in detail over the last decades. The velocity pressure formulation includes the Sobolev space $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ as the corresponding space for the velocity and the space $L_0^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ for the pressure (in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions). The goal of this chapter is to derive a new formulation, which demands less regularity for the velocity space. For this we introduce a new function space, the $H(\operatorname{curl} \operatorname{div})$, and present a detailed analysis. The derivation of the new method and the introduction of the new function space is based on the work [55].

Before we start with the derivation of a formally equivalent definition of the Stokes system we present the problem we consider for the rest of this work, including all different types of boundary conditions. To keep the problem as generic as possible, we assume that the boundary Γ can be split into four parts. To this end let $\Gamma_{D,n}$, $\Gamma_{D,t}$, $\Gamma_{N,n}$, $\Gamma_{N,t} \subset \Gamma$ such that

$$\Gamma_{D,n} \cup \Gamma_{N,n} = \Gamma$$
 and $\Gamma_{D,t} \cup \Gamma_{N,t} = \Gamma$,

and further assume that either $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$ or $\Gamma_{D,n} \cap \Gamma_{D,t} \neq \emptyset$. Then, the four different parts are given by

$$\Gamma = (\Gamma_{D,n} \cap \Gamma_{D,t}) \cup (\Gamma_{D,n} \cap \Gamma_{N,t}) \cup (\Gamma_{D,t} \cap \Gamma_{N,n}) \cup (\Gamma_{N,n} \cap \Gamma_{N,t}).$$
(4.1)

For a better understanding we illustrated an example in Figure 4.1. Note however, that we do not assume that the parts $\Gamma_{D,n}$, $\Gamma_{D,t}$, $\Gamma_{N,n}$ and $\Gamma_{N,t}$ are connected.



Figure 4.1: Illustration of the assumed boundary splitting.

Similar to the natural splitting of the Dirichlet boundary conditions into a normal and a tangential part as described in section 2.2.3, we can also split the Neumann-like boundary conditions. To this end note that there holds the identity

$$Id_{nt} = \pi_t(Idn) = \pi_t(n) = n - (n \cdot n)n = n - n = 0,$$
(4.2)

thus equation (2.14) allows the splitting

$$-\nu(\nabla u)_{nn} + p = P_n$$
, and $-\nu(\nabla u)_{nt} = P_t$

Based on this findings, let f be a given volume force, let $g_{D,n}$ and $g_{D,t}$ be given Dirichlet boundary values on $\Gamma_{D,n}$ and $\Gamma_{D,t}$, respectively, and similarly let $g_{N,n}$ and $g_{N,t}$ be given Neumann boundary values on $\Gamma_{D,n}$ and $\Gamma_{D,t}$. Then, we seek for a solution u and p of the problem

$$-\nu\Delta u + \nabla p = f \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.3a}$$

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.3b}$$

$$u_n = g_{D,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,n}, \tag{4.3c}$$

$$u_t = g_{D,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,t}, \tag{4.3d}$$

$$-\nu(\nabla u)_{nn} + p = g_{N,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,n}, \tag{4.3e}$$

$$-\nu(\nabla u)_{nt} = g_{N,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,t}. \tag{4.3f}$$

Defining the spaces

$$X_D := \{ u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) : u_n = g_{D,n} \text{ on } \Gamma_{D,n}, u_t = g_{D,t} \text{ on } \Gamma_{D,t} \},\$$

$$X_0 := \{ u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) : u_n = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{D,n}, u_t = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{D,t} \},\$$

and assuming $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and enough regularity of boundary data, the classical variational formulation of (4.3) then reads as: Find (u, p) in $X_D \times L^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} \nu \nabla u : \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} g_{N,n} v_n \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_{N,t}} g_{N,t} \cdot v_t \, \mathrm{d}s, & \forall v \in X_0, \\ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, & \forall q \in L^2(\Omega). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.4)$$

Note, that in the case $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$, the pressure space is exchanged with $L_0^2(\Omega)$. For existence and uniqueness of solutions of (4.4) we refer to [18, 19, 15, 88, 43, 53].

4.1 A stress formulation for the Stokes equations

In the following we apply several modifications to the equations (4.3). In a first step we proceed similarly as in chapter 2 and introduce a new variable for the viscous fluid stress by $\sigma := \nu \nabla u$. Then, equation (4.3a) reformulates to (including a scaling by -1)

$$\operatorname{div}(\nu\sigma) - \nabla p = -f \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega.$$

Next, we use the trace of a matrix $tr(\tau) := \sum_{i=1}^{d} \tau_{ii}$ to define the deviatoric part by

$$\operatorname{dev}(\tau) := \tau - \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\tau)}{d} \operatorname{Id}.$$

We observe that due to equation (4.3b) we have the identity

$$\operatorname{dev}(\sigma) = \operatorname{dev}(\nu \nabla u) = \nu \nabla u - \frac{\nu}{d} \operatorname{tr}(\nabla u) \operatorname{Id} = \nu (\nabla u - \frac{1}{d} \operatorname{div}(u) \operatorname{Id}) = \nu \nabla u, \qquad (4.5)$$

thus σ actually only represents the deviatoric part of the velocity gradient. Hence, we can reformulate (4.3) to define the mixed stress formulation of the Stokes equations given by

$$\frac{1}{\nu}\operatorname{dev}(\sigma) - \nabla u = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.6a}$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \nabla p = -f \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.6b}$$

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.6c}$$

$$u_n = g_{D,n}$$
 on $\Gamma_{D,n}$, (4.6d)

$$u_t = g_{D,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,t}, \tag{4.6e}$$

$$-\sigma_{nn} + p = g_{N,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,n}, \tag{4.6f}$$

$$-\sigma_{nt} = g_{N,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,t}. \tag{4.6g}$$

There are several observations we can make studying the structure of this set of equations. Whereas formulations (4.6) and (4.3) are formally equivalent, the respective variational formulations demand a different regularity of the velocity. For the ease of notation we assume in the following discussion that $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma_{D,t} = \Gamma$ and $g_{D,n} = g_{D,t} = 0$. Testing equation (4.3a) with a velocity test function v, integrating over the domain and integrating by parts leads to the well known bilinear form

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu \nabla u : \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

which also appears in the variational formulation (4.4). As it is well known, the adequate space for the velocity, such that the above integral is well defined, is given by $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. In a similar manner we proceed with formulation (4.6). To this end we test the first equation (4.6a) with a stress function τ , integrate over the domain and integrate by parts in the second integral. As all boundary terms vanish, the second integral then reads as

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tau) \cdot u \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{4.7}$$

Including the weak formulation of the divergence constraint (4.6c)

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where q is an appropriate pressure test function, we conclude that an appropriate space for the velocity is given by $H_0(\text{div}, \Omega)$. However, proceeding this way, the reduced regularity property of the velocity space was only *shifted* to the stress space, as well-posedness of the integral (4.7) demands that the divergence applied to each row of τ has to be in $L^2(\Omega)$. This is the motivation to define a new function space that interprets (4.7) in a less regular setting. The construction of this space is the topic of the next section.

We desire less regularity for the velocity space, because the space $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ seems to naturally fit the incompressibility constraint, especially in a discrete setting. This is discussed in more detail in chapter 5. There we see, that it is possible to define the discrete velocity space conformingly with respect to $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. This then leads to exactly divergence free velocity approximations eliminating an effect in the literature known as "poor mass conservation".

For the rest of this chapter we always assume that $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$, but we allow the case $\Gamma_{D,t} \neq \Gamma$, see equation (4.1). This assumption is needed in order to present a rigorous stability analysis of the variational formulation introduced in section 4.3. The solvability (and precise definition) in the continuous setting in the case $\Gamma_{D,n} \neq \Gamma$ is an open question and is discussed in the outlook chapter 9. Note however, that above assumption is **not** applied for the discrete methods introduced in chapter 6 and 7. In chapter 8 we further present several numerical examples providing optimal convergence rates including all different types of boundary conditions as discussed above.

Remark 1. We want to give another motivation why the regularity assumptions $\operatorname{div}(\tau) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $u \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ are not optimal. An appropriate discrete **conforming** approximation would demand normal continuity of each row of the discrete approximations τ_h and of u_h . Thus, in the lowest order case and in two dimensions the resulting number of coupling degrees of freedoms equals 3, and not 2 as it is demanded for example by the (optimal) method in [81, 76]. Note, that the discrete method introduced in chapter 6 is optimal with respect to the number of coupling degrees of freedoms.

4.2 The stress space *H*(curl div)

This section is dedicated to the derivation of a new function space, which is needed to formulate an appropriate variational formulation of (4.6) as discussed in section 4.1. Our aim is to reduce the increased regularity of a stress function as it would be needed such that (4.7) is well-posed. We reduce this regularity by demanding that div(σ) can only continuously act – in the sense of a linear functional – on functions in $H_0(\text{div}, \Omega)$. Thus, for given functions σ and $v \in H_0(\text{div}, \Omega)$ the term $\langle \sigma, v \rangle_{H_0(\text{div}, \Omega)}$ should be well defined. To this end we introduce the new function space

$$H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega) := \{ \sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^* \}.$$

$$(4.8)$$

Obviously, this definition allows us to define a natural norm on $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ by

$$\|\sigma\|_{\rm cd}^{2} := \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|\operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div})^{*}}^{2}$$

$$= \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \left(\sup_{v \in H_{0}(\operatorname{div})} \frac{\langle\operatorname{div}(\sigma), v\rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div})}}{\|v\|_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div})}}\right)^{2}.$$
 (4.9)

In the following three sections, 4.2.1, 4.2.2 and 4.2.3, we discuss certain properties of the $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ space. Based on these findings we then finally introduce a new variational formulation in section 4.3.

4.2.1 An equivalent definition

In this section we discuss an equivalent definition of the $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ space. The equivalence is based on proving that the dual space of $H_0(\operatorname{div})$ is topologically and algebraically equivalent to the space

$$H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) := \{ \phi \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) : \operatorname{curl}(\phi) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \}.$$
(4.10)

The proof was first given in [69] and is strongly related to the decomposition of functions in $H_0(\text{div})$, see theorem 1. We start by showing the following lemma.

Lemma 1. Let $F \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$ be an arbitrary functional. Then F is also an element of $H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ and for all $v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ there holds the equivalence

$$\langle \operatorname{curl}(F), v \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = \langle F, \operatorname{curl}(v) \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)}$$

Proof. For any $F \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$, by the Riesz representation theorem, there exists a function $q^F \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ such that for all $v \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ we have

$$\langle F, v \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} = (q^F, v)_{L^2(\Omega)} + (\operatorname{div}(q^F), \operatorname{div}(v))_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$
(4.11)

If we replace v by a function in $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, we conclude that F is actually the distribution $F = q^F - \nabla \operatorname{div}(q^F) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. This implies that $\operatorname{curl}(F) = \operatorname{curl}(q^F) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$, and thus $F \in H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$. Now let $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$, then we have

$$\langle \operatorname{curl}(F), \phi \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = \langle \operatorname{curl}(q^F), \phi \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = \langle \operatorname{curl}(q^F), \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = (q^F, \operatorname{curl}(\phi))_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

As smooth functions $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ are dense in $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ we obtain

$$\langle \operatorname{curl}(F), v \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = (q^F, \operatorname{curl}(v))_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

for all $v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$. As $\operatorname{curl}(v) \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ for $v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$, we conclude by (4.11). \Box

Using this lemma we can now show the desired equivalence.

Theorem 7. The equality

$$H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^* = H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) \tag{4.12}$$

holds algebraically and topologically.

Proof. In lemma 1 we have already proven that $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^* \subseteq H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$. To show that $H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \subseteq H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$, let $g \in H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$. Using the regular decomposition, see theorem 1, we find for each function $v \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ functions $\phi_v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ and $z_w \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $v = \operatorname{curl}(\phi_v) + z_v$ and

$$\|\phi_v\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \lesssim \|u\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$$
 and $\|z_v\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \lesssim \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$.

By this stability result we can define the functional $G \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$ by

$$\langle G, v \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} := \langle \operatorname{curl}(g), \phi_v \rangle_{H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} + \langle g, z_v \rangle_{H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)}.$$
(4.13)

Note that by lemma 1 it follows that G is also an element of $H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)$. It suffices to show that G coincides with g as an element of $H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ as this then trivially also implies that they coincide in $H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)$. To this end, let $w \in H^{-1}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Since $H^{-1}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ is continuously embedded in $H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)$, we have the equality $\langle G, w \rangle_{H^{-1}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} = \langle G, w \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$. Next, as $w \in H^{-1}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \subset H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, we can also use the regular decomposition for w. Since both w and z_w are in $H^{-1}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ the equality $w = \operatorname{curl}(\phi_w) + z_w$ implies that $\operatorname{curl}(\phi_w) \in H^{-1}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, thus there is a C > 0 independent of w such that

$$\|\operatorname{curl}(\phi_w)\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le C \|w\|_{H^1(\Omega)}.$$
 (4.14)

Using this decomposition we have

$$\langle G, w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} = \langle \operatorname{curl}(g), \phi_w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} + \langle g, z_w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)}$$

Now let $w_n \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ converge to w in $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ as $n \to \infty$, and further define the regular decomposition $w_n = \operatorname{curl}(\phi_{w_n}) + z_{w_n}$. By the construction of the regular decomposition components (see e.g., [36]), ϕ_{w_n} is an element of $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$. Moreover we have the equivalence

$$\langle \operatorname{curl}(g), \phi_{w_n} \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = \langle \operatorname{curl}(g), \phi_{w_n} \rangle_{\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = \langle g, \operatorname{curl}(\phi_{w_n}) \rangle_{\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} = \langle g, \operatorname{curl}(\phi_{w_n}) \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)}.$$

Since $\operatorname{curl}(g)$ is in $H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, the left-most term converges to $\langle \operatorname{curl}(g), \phi_w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})}$. The right-most term must converge to $\langle g, \operatorname{curl}(\phi_w) \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})}$ because equation (4.14) implies that $\|\operatorname{curl}(\phi_{w_n} - \phi_w)\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \to 0$. Thus $\langle \operatorname{curl}(g), \phi_w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = \langle g, \operatorname{curl}(\phi_w) \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)}$ and consequently,

$$\langle G, w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} = \langle g, \operatorname{curl}(\phi_w) + z_w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} = \langle g, w \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)}.$$

This proves that G = g in $H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and so $g \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$.

Finally, we prove that $||f||_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^*} \sim ||f||_{H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$, implying equivalence of the resulting topologies. Note that by the stability of the regular decomposition and the triangle inequality we have $||\phi_v||_{H^1(\Omega)} + ||z_v||_{H^1(\Omega)} \sim ||v||_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$. For any $f \in H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^*$ we then have, using the equivalence proven in lemma 1, that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^{*}} &= \sup_{v \in H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} \frac{\langle f, v \rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}{\|v\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}} \\ &\sim \sup_{\phi \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}}), \ z \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{d})} \frac{\langle f, \operatorname{curl}(\phi) + z \rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}{\|\phi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + \|z\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}} \\ &= \sup_{\phi \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}}), \ z \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{d})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(f), \phi \rangle_{H_{0}^{1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} + \langle f, z \rangle_{H_{0}^{1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{d})}}{\|\phi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + \|z\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}} \\ &\sim \|f\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega)} + \|\operatorname{curl}(f)\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

Thus, the $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$ -norm and the $H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ -norm are equivalent.

1 0

By theorem 7 it follows that the requirement $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$. As σ is a square integrable matrix-valued function, $\sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, we immediately have that $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore, the only non-redundant requirement emerging from $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H^{-1}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ is that $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. By this we have the equivalences

$$H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega) = \{ \sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \},$$
(4.15)

and

$$\|\sigma\|_{\mathrm{cd}}^2 \simeq \|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \left(\sup_{v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \mathrm{curl}(\mathrm{div}(\sigma)), v \rangle}{\|v\|_{H^1(\Omega)}}\right)^2.$$
(4.16)

Obviously, this equivalent definition was also the motivation for the name of the new function space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$.

At this point we want to mention that similar spaces, in the sense of the definition, were introduced in the works [97, 96, 95, 110]. Therein the authors introduced a function space for the analysis of the elasticity problem given by symmetric square integrable matrixvalued functions whose div div is in $H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, thus

$$H(\operatorname{div}\operatorname{div},\Omega) := \{ \sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \sigma = \sigma^{\mathrm{T}}, \operatorname{div}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) \in H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \}.$$

4.2.2 Density of smooth functions

Density results are well known for standard Sobolev spaces and are used for example in the definition of appropriate trace operators. One of the first works considering an approximation by smooth functions is the famous paper of Meyers and Serrin [86].

The main idea is the following: In a first step one constructs a series of smooth functions with simple mollification techniques. Whereas this idea can be applied without any constraints in the interior of the domain, we have to add a shift (mapping) from the boundary into the interior of the domain, if we want to apply a similar technique at $\partial\Omega$. In order to prove convergence in the appropriate Sobolev norm one then shows that the convolution commutes with the according differential operator and that the series converges in L^2 . A classical pullback (at the boundary) works in the case of $H^1(\Omega)$, but one has to use appropriate mappings in the case of $H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ and $H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$. This was for example proven in [106] and [42]. In this section we show that smooth functions can also be used to approximate functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ by proving that the space $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ is dense. Similar as for standard spaces the proof is based on a convolution, but this time convergence has to be proven with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{cd}}$.

We start with the introduction of a smooth mapping as it is defined in [42], which is based on several results from [66]. Due to the assumptions on $\partial\Omega$, see section 3.1, there exists a vector field $j \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$, whose restriction to $\partial\Omega$ is globally transversal (has a zero tangential component) and has an Euclidian norm equal to one, thus $(j(x))_t = 0$ and $||j(x)||_{l^2} = 1$ for all $x \in \partial\Omega$. Using this smooth function we define the mapping

$$\phi^{\varepsilon}: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d, x \mapsto x - \varepsilon j(x).$$

Applying the function ϕ^{ε} on Ω shrinks the domain and each point on the boundary is moved into the interior by the length ε . Note that one can show (using the uniform cone property, see pp. 599-600 [66]) that there exists a r > 0 such that $\phi^{\varepsilon}(\Omega) + B(0, \varepsilon r) \subset \Omega$ for all $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$. Further we have the following properties:

Lemma 2. There holds:

- $\phi^{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ for all $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$.
- For all $l \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a constant c such that $||D^l \phi^{\varepsilon}(x) D^l x||_{\infty} \leq c\varepsilon$ for all $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$, where D^l denotes the Fréchet derivative of order l.
- The Jacobian determinant $J^{\varepsilon} := \det(\phi^{\varepsilon})'$ converges $\|J^{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty} \to 1$ for $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Proof. For (i) and (ii) we refer to [42]. Point (iii) follows from (ii).

The inverse of the shrinking function ϕ^{ε} will enlarge the domain. For this let $\varepsilon^* > 0$ such that ϕ^{ε} is invertible for all $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon^*]$ and define the inverse $\phi^{-\varepsilon} := (\phi^{\varepsilon})^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$.

Lemma 3. There holds:

- $\phi^{-\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}$.
- For all $l \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a constant c such that $||D^l \phi^{-\varepsilon}(x) D^l x||_{\infty} \leq c\varepsilon$ for all $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon^*]$.
- $J^{-\varepsilon} := \det(\phi^{-\varepsilon})' \text{ converges } \|J^{-\varepsilon}\|_{\infty} \to 1 \text{ for } \varepsilon \to 0.$

Proof. Follows from lemma 2 and the implicit function theorem.

Next, we define the standard mollifier by

$$\psi(y) := \begin{cases} c \exp\left(-1/(1 - \|y\|_{l^2}^2)\right) & \text{for } \|y\|_{l^2} < 1, \\ 0 & \text{for } \|y\|_{l^2} \ge 1, \end{cases}$$

with a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ chosen such that $\int_B \psi = 1$, and the ball in zero with radius 1 denoted B := B(0, 1). Using the shrinking function ϕ^{ε} and setting $F(x) = (\phi^{\varepsilon})'(x)$, we define for all $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$ the smoothing operator

$$(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)(x) := \int_{B} \Psi(y) J(x) F^{\mathrm{T}}(x) \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) \,\mathrm{d}y \quad \forall \sigma \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}),$$

where r > 0 is fixed and chosen as stated above. The function $S^{\varepsilon}\sigma$ reads as the convolution of σ with the smooth function $\Psi(y)$ including the mapping ϕ^{ε} . This allows us to evaluate the function $S^{\varepsilon}\sigma$ also on the boundary $\partial\Omega$, because $\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y \in \Omega$ for all $y \in B$ and all $x \in \partial\Omega$. There holds the following approximation result.

Lemma 4. Let $\sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$. There holds $S^{\varepsilon} \sigma \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ and the approximation result $\|S^{\varepsilon} \sigma - \sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \to 0$ for $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Proof. The proof follows the same step as the proof of lemma 3.1 in [42]. Let x and z be two arbitrary points in Ω . Using the transformation rule for integrals we have

$$(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)(x) - (S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)(z) \lesssim \frac{1}{(\varepsilon r)^d} \int_{\Omega} \Psi(\frac{y - \phi^{\varepsilon}(x)}{\varepsilon r}) - \Psi(\frac{y - \phi^{\varepsilon}(z)}{\varepsilon r})\sigma(y) \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

where we used that J and F are uniformly bounded and that Ψ is zero outside of B(0,1). As Ψ and ϕ^{ε} are uniformly Lipschitz continuous, we can bound

$$\Psi(\frac{y-\phi^{\varepsilon}(x)}{\varepsilon r}) - \Psi(\frac{y-\phi^{\varepsilon}(z)}{\varepsilon r}) \lesssim \frac{1}{\varepsilon r} \|x-z\|_{l^2}$$

and thus $|(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)(x) - (S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)(z)| \leq 1/(\varepsilon r)^{d+1} ||\sigma||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} ||x - z||_{l^{2}}$ from which we conclude continuity of $S^{\varepsilon}\sigma$ in Ω and the existence of a continuous extension up to the boundary. Continuing with a partial derivative we have, using the product rule,

$$\begin{split} \partial_i (S^{\varepsilon} \sigma)(x) &= \int_B \Psi(y) J(x) \partial_i F^{\mathrm{T}}(x) \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r) y) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \int_B \Psi(y) J(x) F^{\mathrm{T}}(x) \partial_i \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r) y) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \int_B \Psi(y) J(x) F^{\mathrm{T}}(x) \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r) y) \partial_i F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) \, \mathrm{d}y \end{split}$$

As ϕ^{ε} is smooth, the first and the third integral are continuous with respect to x with the same arguments as above. Using the chain rule we observe that for each component σ_{lm} with $0 \leq l, m \leq d$ we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} \Psi(y) \partial_{i} \sigma_{lm}(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) \, \mathrm{d}y &\lesssim \int_{B} \Psi(y) (\nabla \sigma_{lm}) (\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) \partial_{i} \phi^{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{\varepsilon r} \partial_{i} \phi^{\varepsilon}(x) \int_{B} - \nabla \Psi(y) \sigma_{lm}(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}y \end{split}$$

Because $-(\varepsilon r)^{-1}\partial_i\phi^{\varepsilon}(x)\nabla\Psi(y)$ is also a mollifier, we have, using that J and F are uniformly bounded and the same arguments as above, that $\partial_i(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)(x)$ is continuous. By induction we conclude that $S^{\varepsilon}\sigma \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d\times d})$ and the first statement is proven.
Similarly, continuity with respect to the L^2 norm follows by applying the transformation and using that J, J^{-1} and F are uniformly bounded. Let $\sigma_s \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ with Liptschitzconstant L. As $\int_B \psi = 1$, we can write

$$(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma_{s})(x) - \sigma_{s}(x) \lesssim \int_{B} \Psi(y)\sigma_{s}(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) \,\mathrm{d}y - \sigma_{s}(x)$$
$$= \int_{B} \Psi(y)\sigma_{s}(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) - \sigma_{s}(x) \,\mathrm{d}y \lesssim \varepsilon L$$

as $|\sigma_s(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) - \sigma_s(x)| \leq L|\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y - x| \leq \varepsilon L$. By the density of Lipschitz functions $\mathcal{C}^{0,1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ in L^2 we can find for a given $\sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ such a smooth function $\sigma_s \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ with $\|\sigma - \sigma_s\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq \delta$ and $\|\sigma_s\|_{\mathcal{C}^{0,1}} \leq L$. Then by the triangle inequality and the continuity of S^{ε} with respect to the L^2 norm we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sigma - S^{\varepsilon}\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} &\leq \|\sigma - \sigma_{s}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\sigma_{s} - S^{\varepsilon}\sigma_{s}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|S^{\varepsilon}(\sigma - \sigma_{s})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\lesssim (1 + \|S^{\varepsilon}\|)\delta + \varepsilon L. \end{aligned}$$

The term on the right side can be made arbitrarily small: first, one chooses δ small enough resulting in a corresponding function σ_s with a (potentially great) Lipschitz-constant L, and then one chooses ε small enough. This concludes the proof.

In the last lemma we have proven that the operator S^{ε} can be used to approximate well with respect to the L^2 -norm. This is important as the L^2 -norm is one part of the introduced norm $\|\cdot\|_{cd}$. The second term is given by the dual norm of $\operatorname{div}(\sigma)$ in $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$. Although we do not generally assume that $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ for a $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl} \operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, the next lemma deals with the case where we have this enhanced regularity and shows that in this case the operator S^{ε} is also suitable to approximate the divergence.

Lemma 5. Let $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ and assume that $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\|\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma) - \operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \to 0 \quad for \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Proof. We present the proof only in the three-dimensional case as the two-dimensional case follows similarly. For the ease of notation we define for all $y \in B$ the mapping $\eta(x) := \phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y$. Note that there holds $\eta' = (\phi^{\varepsilon})' = F$. Defining further $\tilde{F} := [\eta^{-1}]'$, we have with $\hat{x} = \eta(x)$ the following identities

$$F(x)^{-1} = F(\eta(x)) = F(\hat{x}),$$

$$\tilde{F}^{-1}(\hat{x}) = F(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})),$$

$$\tilde{J}(\hat{x}) = 1/J(x),$$

$$[F(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))]^{-T}(\nabla w)(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) = \tilde{F}(\hat{x})^{T}(\nabla w)(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) = \nabla[w(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))].$$

(4.17)

We use the following notation: For a matrix A(x) let A_i be the i - th row. Then we define

$$\nabla A_{i\cdot} := \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{x_1} A_{i1} & \partial_{x_2} A_{i1} & \partial_{x_3} A_{i1} \\ \partial_{x_1} A_{i2} & \partial_{x_2} A_{i2} & \partial_{x_3} A_{i2} \\ \partial_{x_1} A_{i3} & \partial_{x_2} A_{i3} & \partial_{x_3} A_{i3} \end{pmatrix},$$

thus we use the same notation of the gradient as for column vectors. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, then the weak divergence of σ is given by

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma), \varphi \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} = -\int_{\Omega} \int_{B} \Psi(y) J(x) F^T(x) \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) \,\mathrm{d}y : (\nabla \varphi)(x) \,\mathrm{d}x + \varepsilon r (\varepsilon r)y \,\mathrm{d}y = 0$$

Next we apply Fubinis theorem to change the order of integration and then apply the transformation theorem. Together with the identities (4.17) this yields

$$\begin{split} \langle \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma), \varphi \rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\Omega} J(x) F^{T}(x) \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) : (\nabla\varphi)(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} F^{T}(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \sigma(\hat{x}) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) : (\nabla\varphi)(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \sigma(\hat{x}) \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) : (\nabla\varphi)(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \sigma(\hat{x}) : (\nabla\varphi)(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \tilde{F}(\hat{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla[\varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, . \end{split}$$

As $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, we can integrate by parts. The product rule then yields

$$\begin{split} \langle \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma), \varphi \rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} &= \int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \operatorname{div}(\tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x})\sigma(\hat{x})) \cdot \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= \int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \, \operatorname{div}(\sigma(\hat{x})) \cdot \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \begin{pmatrix} \nabla(\tilde{F}_{1.}^{-T}(\hat{x})) : \sigma(\hat{x})) \\ \nabla(\tilde{F}_{2.}^{-T}(\hat{x})) : \sigma(\hat{x})) \\ \nabla(\tilde{F}_{3.}^{-T}(\hat{x})) : \sigma(\hat{x})) \end{pmatrix} \cdot \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, . \end{split}$$

Using (4.17) we can write

$$\begin{pmatrix} \nabla(\tilde{F}_{1.}^{-T}(\hat{x})) : \sigma(\hat{x})) \\ \nabla(\tilde{F}_{2.}^{-T}(\hat{x})) : \sigma(\hat{x})) \\ \nabla(\tilde{F}_{3.}^{-T}(\hat{x})) : \sigma(\hat{x})) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \nabla(F_{1.}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\eta(x)) \\ \nabla(F_{2.}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\eta(x)) \\ \nabla(F_{3.}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\eta(x)) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, again by the transformation rule and Fubinis theorem we have

$$\begin{split} \langle \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma), \varphi \rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} &= \int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\Omega} F^{T}(x) \operatorname{div}(\sigma(\eta(x))) \cdot \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\Omega} \begin{pmatrix} \nabla(F_{1.}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\eta(x)) \\ \nabla(F_{2.}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\eta(x)) \\ \nabla(F_{3.}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\eta(x)) \end{pmatrix} \cdot \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= \int_{\Omega} S_{d1}^{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} S_{d2}^{\varepsilon} \sigma \cdot \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x, \end{split}$$

with the new smoothing operators defined by

$$\begin{split} S_{d1}^{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}(\sigma) &:= \int_{B} \Psi(y) F^{T}(x) (\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) (\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (r\varepsilon)y) \, \mathrm{d}y, \\ S_{d2}^{\varepsilon} \sigma &:= \int_{B} \Psi(y) \begin{pmatrix} \nabla(F_{1\cdot}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (r\varepsilon)y) \\ \nabla(F_{2\cdot}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (r\varepsilon)y) \\ \nabla(F_{3\cdot}^{T}(x)) : \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (r\varepsilon)y) \end{pmatrix} \, \mathrm{d}y \end{split}$$

Following the same steps as in the proof of lemma 4 one shows that these operators are continuous and that $||f - S_{d1}^{\varepsilon}f||_{L^2} \to 0$ for functions $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. As $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $||\nabla(F^T(x))||_{\infty} \to 0$ (see lemma 2), we conclude

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma) - \operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} &= \|S_{d1}^{\varepsilon}\operatorname{div}(\sigma) + S_{d2}^{\varepsilon}\sigma - \operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \|S_{d1}^{\varepsilon}\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|S_{d2}^{\varepsilon}\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \|S_{d1}^{\varepsilon}\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\nabla(F^{T}(x))\|_{\infty}\|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

In contrast to lemma 5, the next lemma considers the case where we do not assume enhanced regularity of $\operatorname{div}(\sigma)$ but that $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))$ is the null functional.

Lemma 6. Assume $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ with $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) = 0 \in H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$. There holds $\|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma))\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega)} \to 0.$

Proof. We only present the proof in the three-dimensional case, as the two-dimensional case follows similarly. Note that in two dimensions the curl operator maps slightly different but yields the same results. With the same steps as in the proof of lemma 5 we have for a $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$

$$\begin{split} \langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)), \varphi \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \\ &= -\int_{\Omega} \int_{B} \Psi(y) J(x) F^{T}(x) \sigma(\phi^{\varepsilon}(x) + (\varepsilon r)y) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(x) \, \mathrm{d}y : (\nabla \operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} F^{T}(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \sigma(\hat{x}) F^{-\mathrm{T}}(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) : (\nabla \operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \sigma(\hat{x}) \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) : (\nabla \operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \, . \end{split}$$

We continue with estimating the inner integral. Using the chain rule for the curl operator and the transformation properties (4.17) we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \sigma(\hat{x}) \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) &: (\nabla \operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \tilde{F}^{-1}(\hat{x})(\nabla \operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \tilde{F}(\hat{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \tilde{F}^{-1}(\hat{x}) \nabla [(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \end{split}$$

Using the product rule for the gradient, the integral on the right side can be split into two integrals which yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \tilde{F}^{-T}(\hat{x}) \sigma(\hat{x}) \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) &: (\nabla \operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla [\tilde{F}^{-1}(\hat{x})(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &- \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \begin{pmatrix} \nabla [\tilde{F}_{1\cdot}^{-1}(\hat{x})]^{\mathrm{T}}(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \\ \nabla [\tilde{F}_{2\cdot}^{-1}(\hat{x})]^{\mathrm{T}}(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \\ \nabla [\tilde{F}_{2\cdot}^{-1}(\hat{x})]^{\mathrm{T}}(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \end{pmatrix} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \end{split}$$

For the first integral we have by the product rule of the curl operator,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) &: \nabla[\tilde{F}^{-1}(\hat{x})(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\frac{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \tilde{F}^{-1}(\hat{x})(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \right] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \operatorname{curl}[\tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x})\varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))] \right] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\operatorname{curl} \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x})\varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \right] \right] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &- \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\nabla \left(\frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \right) \times \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x})\varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \right] \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \end{split}$$

Summing up all terms, this yields

$$\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)), \varphi \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = -\int_{B} \Psi(y)(A+B+C) \,\mathrm{d}y,$$

with

$$\begin{split} A &:= \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\operatorname{curl} \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \right] \right] \mathrm{d}\hat{x}, \\ B &:= -\int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \begin{pmatrix} \nabla [\tilde{F}_{1\cdot}^{-1}(\hat{x})]^{\mathrm{T}}(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))) \\ \nabla [\tilde{F}_{2\cdot}^{-1}(\hat{x})]^{\mathrm{T}}(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))) \\ \nabla [\tilde{F}_{2\cdot}^{-1}(\hat{x})]^{\mathrm{T}}(\operatorname{curl}(\varphi))(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x}))) \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}\hat{x}, \\ C &:= -\int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\nabla \left(\frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \right) \times \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \right] \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \end{split}$$

As $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ it can be trivially extended by zero on \mathbb{R}^d . Further, as η and the boundary $\partial \Omega$ is smooth (Lipschitz) it can also be extended such that $\tilde{F}(\hat{x})$ can be evaluated for

 $\hat{x} \in \Omega \setminus \eta(\Omega)$. By this we have for the first term

$$\begin{split} -\int_{B} \Psi(y) A \, \mathrm{d}y &= -\int_{B} \Psi(y) \int_{\eta(\Omega)} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\operatorname{curl} \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \right] \right] \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= -\int_{\Omega} \sigma(\hat{x}) : \nabla \left[\operatorname{curl} \left[\int_{B} \Psi(y) \frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})} \tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{x}) \varphi(\eta^{-1}(\hat{x})) \, \mathrm{d}y \right] \right] \mathrm{d}\hat{x} = 0. \end{split}$$

where we used that $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) = 0$ in $H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$. Using the Cauchy Schwarz inequality we get with similar arguments and using that $\nabla \tilde{F}(\hat{x}) = \nabla F(\eta^{-1}(x))$ and $1/\tilde{J}(\hat{x}) = J(\eta^{-1}(x))$ the estimates

$$\begin{split} -\int_{B} \Psi(y) B \,\mathrm{d}y &- \int_{B} \Psi(y) C \,\mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla \tilde{F}^{-1}\|_{\infty} \|\operatorname{curl}(\varphi)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla^{2} \frac{1}{\tilde{J}(\hat{x})}\|_{\infty} \|\tilde{F}^{\mathrm{T}}\|_{\infty} \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla F\|_{\infty} \|\operatorname{curl}(\varphi)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla^{2} J(x)\|_{\infty} \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

By the definition of the dual norm this yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma))\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} &= \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega)} \frac{\|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla F\|_{\infty} \|\operatorname{curl}(\varphi)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla^{2}J(x)\|_{\infty} \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}} \\ &\leq \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla F\|_{\infty} + \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla^{2}J\|_{\infty} \to 0, \end{aligned}$$

where we used the properties given in lemma 2 in the last step. Using the denisty $\mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ in $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$ we conclude the proof.

The last lemma needed for the final result is a decomposition result for functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. The idea is to split a given function into a part with enhanced regularity and a part whose curl div vanishes.

Lemma 7 (Decomposition). Let $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ arbitrary. There exist functions $\tilde{\sigma} \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ and θ , with $\theta \in H_0(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ for d = 3 and $\theta \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ for d = 2, such that

$$\sigma = \operatorname{skw}(\theta) - \tilde{\sigma}, \quad and \quad \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) = \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{skw}(\theta))).$$

Proof. By the definition of the space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ we have $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) \in H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$. We start with the three-dimensional case. In a first step we show that

$$\|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)} \simeq \|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)^*}.$$

For this note that by density of $\mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ in $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)} &= \sup_{u \in H^1_0(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), u \rangle}{\|u\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} = \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^\infty(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^\infty(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} = \|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)^*}.\end{aligned}$$

Next, we use for each $u \in H_0(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ a regular decomposition, see for example in [63, 94], thus there exist a $\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $z \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $u = \nabla \psi + z$ and

 $\|\psi\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le \|u\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$ and $\|z\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le \|u\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$.

By a density argument and integration by parts for the duality pair including $\nabla\psi$ this then yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))\|_{H(\operatorname{curl})^*} &= \sup_{u \in H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), u \rangle}{\|u\|_{H(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} \\ &= \sup_{\substack{\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega,\mathbb{R})\\z \in H_0^1(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)}} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), \nabla \psi + z \rangle}{\|\psi\|_{H^1(\Omega)} + \|z\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \approx \sup_{z \in H_0^1(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), z \rangle}{\|z\|_{H^1(\Omega)}}.\end{aligned}$$

Due to the proven norm equivalence $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))$ is an admissible functional for $H_0(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$, and we can solve the problem: Find $\theta \in H_0(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)/\nabla H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl}(\theta) \cdot \operatorname{curl}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), \xi \rangle \quad \forall \xi \in H_0(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) / \nabla H_0^1(\Omega).$$

This problem is solvable applying the Lax-Milgram theorem 5, and a Friedrich-type inequality (see [87]). In two-dimensions we similarly solve the problem: Find $H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl}(\theta) \cdot \operatorname{curl}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), \xi \rangle \quad \forall \xi \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$

As the curl is just the rotated gradient, solvability is again guaranteed by the Lax-Milgram theorem 5 and the standard Friedrich inequality, theorem 3. In both dimensions we have that $\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{skw}(\theta)) = \operatorname{curl}(\theta)$, thus $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) = \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{skw}(\theta)))$. Defining $\tilde{\sigma} = \sigma - \operatorname{skw}(\theta)$ concludes the proof.

Theorem 8. The space $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ is dense in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$.

Proof. Choose an arbitrary $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. For $\varepsilon \to 0$, the functions $S^{\varepsilon}\sigma$ define a sequenc of smooth functions in $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, and by lemma 4 we have $\|S^{\varepsilon}\sigma - \sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \to 0$.

Next, we use the decomposition lemma 7 to get a $\tilde{\theta} := \text{skw}(\theta)$ with $\theta \in H_0(\text{curl}, \Omega)$ for d = 3 and $\theta \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ for d = 2 and a $\tilde{\sigma} \in H(\text{curl div}, \Omega)$ such that $\sigma = \tilde{\theta} + \tilde{\sigma}$ and $\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\sigma})) = 0$. Density arguments then yield

$$\begin{split} \sup_{v \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) - \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)), v \rangle}{\|v\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \\ &= \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)) - \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\sigma)), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \\ &= \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\theta})) - \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\tilde{\theta})), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} - \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\tilde{\sigma})), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\Omega)}}. \end{split}$$

As $\tilde{\theta}$ is also an element of $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$, lemma 5 yields

$$\sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\theta})) - \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\tilde{\theta})), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}}$$

$$= \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\theta}) - \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\tilde{\theta})) \cdot \operatorname{curl}(\varphi)}{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\|\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\theta}) - \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\tilde{\theta})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\|\operatorname{curl}(\varphi)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}}$$

$$\leq \|\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\theta}) - \operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon}\tilde{\theta})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \to 0.$$

By lemma 6 we further have

$$\sup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(S^{\varepsilon} \tilde{\sigma})), \varphi \rangle}{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \to 0.$$

Using the norm equivalence (4.16) concludes the proof.

The denisty allows us to give another equivalent definition of the $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ space by

$$H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega) = \overline{\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega},\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})}^{\|\cdot\|_{\operatorname{cd}}}.$$
(4.18)

4.2.3 A trace space for $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$

The proven density of smooth functions in the last section is the key ingredient needed for the definition of an appropriate trace operator for functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. This is done in the usual way. First, we define the trace operator for smooth functions, and then we use a density argument. To this end let $\Gamma_i \subseteq \Gamma$ be an arbitrary subset of the boundary. Then we define the following spaces

$$W(\Gamma_i) := \{ w \in H^1(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) : w = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_i \} \qquad \text{for } d = 3, \\ W(\Gamma_i) := \{ w \in H^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) : w = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_i \} \qquad \text{for } d = 2, \end{cases}$$

where in three dimensions the operator $\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t}$ is defined according to equation (3.3) and in two dimensions by

$$\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w = \pi_t \circ (\operatorname{curl}(w)) = \pi_t ((-\partial_2 w, \partial_1 w)^{\mathrm{T}}).$$

Based on this space we then further define the space

$$TW(\Gamma_i) := \{\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w : w \in W(\Gamma_i)\}, \quad \text{with} \quad \|\mu\|_{TW(\Gamma_i)} := \inf_{\substack{w \in W(\Gamma_i) \\ \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w = \mu}} \|w\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}.$$

As we see in the following, the "normal-tangential" trace of functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ on Γ_i lies in the dual space of $TW(\Gamma_i)$. To see this, we choose a smooth function $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ and a function $w \in W(\Gamma_i)$. As $\operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w = 0$ on $\Gamma \setminus \Gamma_i$, we first have the identity

$$\langle (\phi)_{nt}, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_i)} = \int_{\Gamma_i} \phi_{nt} \cdot \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Gamma} \phi_{nt} \cdot \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w \, \mathrm{d}s$$

Then, using integration by parts, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi_{nt}, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_i)} &= \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\phi) \cdot \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \phi : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Gamma} \phi_{nn} \cdot (\operatorname{curl}(w))_n \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\phi) \cdot \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \phi : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.19)$$

where we used the identity (see for example [11])

$$(\operatorname{curl}(w))_n = \operatorname{curl}_t(\gamma_t w) = 0,$$

as all functions $w \in W(\Gamma_i)$ have a vanishing trace w = 0 on the boundary. Here, curl_t is the curl-operator applied on the tangential plane. Note that this identity and the trivial property $\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{curl}(w)) = 0$ further shows that the function $\operatorname{curl}(w)$ belongs to $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. As smooth functions are dense in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ (see section 4.2.2), this allows us to define the normal-tangential trace operator by

$$\gamma_{nt} : H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega) \to TW(\Gamma_i)^*,$$

$$\gamma_{nt}(\sigma) := \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} + (\sigma, \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w))_{\Omega}.$$

(4.20)

Similarly as for the other trace operators we omit the operator γ_{nt} whenever it is clear from the context. Integrating the first term of the second line of equation (4.19) by parts, we further see

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\phi) \cdot \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \phi : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\phi)) \cdot w \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \phi : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where we used that w vanishes on the boundary. Thus, equivalence (4.15) yields the integration by parts formula

$$\langle (\sigma)_{nt}, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} w \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_i)} = \int_{\Omega} \sigma : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), w \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega)} \quad \forall w \in W(\Gamma_i).$$

$$(4.21)$$

Theorem 9 (Normal-tangential trace). The normal-tangential operator defined by equation (4.20) is linear, continuous and surjective.

Proof. The linearity is clear due to the definition. Now let $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. Then we have by the definition of the normal-tangential trace

$$\begin{split} \|\sigma_{nt}\|_{TW(\Gamma_{i})^{*}} &= \sup_{\mu \in TW(\Gamma_{i})} \frac{\langle \sigma_{nt}, \mu \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{i})}}{\|\mu\|_{TW(\Gamma_{i})}} \leq \sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_{i})} \frac{\langle \sigma_{nt}, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_{t}} w \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{i})}}{\|w\|_{H^{1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} \\ &= \sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_{i})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}{\|w\|_{H^{1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} + \sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_{i})} \frac{\langle \sigma, \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{\Omega}}{\|w\|_{H^{1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} \end{split}$$

Using the Cauchy Schwarz inequality and the definition of the $H^1(\text{curl})$ -norm, we can bound the second term by

$$\sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_i)} \frac{(\sigma, \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w))_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\|w\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} \le \sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_i)} \frac{\|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|\nabla \operatorname{curl}(w)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\|w\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} \le \|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Similarly, we have for the first term

$$\sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_i)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}{\|w\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}} \le \sup_{w \in W(\Gamma_i)} \frac{\|\operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^*} \|\operatorname{curl}(w)\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}{\|w\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}}.$$

As $\|\operatorname{curl}(w)\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} = \|\operatorname{curl}(w)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \|w\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)}$, we conclude

$$\|\sigma_{nt}\|_{TW(\Gamma_{i})^{*}} \leq \|\operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{H_{0}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^{*}} + \|\sigma\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \|\sigma\|_{\operatorname{cd}}.$$

Now let $g \in TW(\Gamma_i)^*$. We solve the following problem:

$$\begin{aligned} -\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\nabla\operatorname{curl}(\tilde{w}))) - \Delta \tilde{w} + \tilde{w} &= 0 \quad \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \tilde{w} &= 0 \quad \text{ on } \Gamma, \\ \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} \tilde{w} &= 0 \quad \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_i, \\ (\nabla\operatorname{curl}(\tilde{w}))_{nt} &= g \quad \text{ on } \Gamma_i. \end{aligned}$$

The variational formulation of this problem reads as: Find $\tilde{w} \in W(\Gamma_i)$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla \operatorname{curl}(\tilde{w}) : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(\tilde{v}) + \nabla \tilde{w} : \nabla \tilde{v} + \tilde{w} \cdot \tilde{v} \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle g, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} \tilde{v} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_i)}, \quad \forall \tilde{v} \in W(\Gamma_i).$$

Due to the theory provided by Lax-Milgram, see theorem 5, this problem is solvable as the right hand side is an admissible functional and the bilinearform on the left is (trivially) coercive with respect to the $H^1(\text{curl})$ -norm. Further, the solution fulfills the stability estimate

$$\|\tilde{w}\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)} \le \|g\|_{TW(\Gamma_i)}.$$

Now set $\sigma = \nabla \operatorname{curl}(\tilde{w})$. In the following we show that $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl} \operatorname{div})$ and $\sigma_{nt} = g$ in $TW(\Gamma_i)^*$. By the above stability estimate, we first have

$$\|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \|\nabla\operatorname{curl}(\tilde{w})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \|\tilde{w}\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)} \le \|g\|_{TW(\Gamma)},$$

thus $\sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$. Next, let $\phi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})$. By the definition of the distributional curl div, and as ϕ is an admissible test function of the variational formulation above we have

$$\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), \phi \rangle_{H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} = -\int_{\Omega} \sigma : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \nabla \tilde{w} : \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{w} \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\lesssim \|\tilde{w}\|_{H^1(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)} \|\phi\|_{H^1(\Omega)},$$

$$(4.22)$$

thus by a density argument

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} &= \sup_{u \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), u \rangle_{H^{1}_{0}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})}}{\|u\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{u \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{\tilde{d}})} \frac{\|\tilde{w}\|_{H^{1}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega)} \|u\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}}{\|u\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}} \leq \|g\|_{TW(\Gamma_{i})} \end{aligned}$$

By equation (4.16), we conclude that $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. This allows us to apply the normal tangential trace. Then, the integration by parts formula (4.21) and the equality given by the first line of (4.22) shows that we have for all $\tilde{w} \in W(\Gamma_i)$ the identity

$$\begin{aligned} \langle (\sigma)_{nt}, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} \tilde{v} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_i)} &= \int_{\Omega} \sigma : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{div}(\sigma)), w \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega)} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \sigma : \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \nabla \tilde{w} : \nabla \tilde{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{w} \cdot \tilde{v} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \langle g, \operatorname{curl}_{\pi_t} \tilde{v} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_i)}. \end{aligned}$$

By the above results we conclude that the normal-tangential trace operator is surjective and continuous. $\hfill \Box$

Using these trace operators it is now possible to define subspaces of $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ including certain boundary conditions. This is needed in the definition of the variational formulation in the next section.

4.3 The MCS formulation

By the definition of the new function space we are now able to derive a new variational formulation of the system (4.6). We start by the introduction of the velocity space. As denoted at the beginning of this chapter our aim is to define a variational formulation demanding less regularity. To this end we define the space

$$V := H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega),$$

thus in contrast to the standard velocity-pressure formulation we do not aim for the velocity space $H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, but only demand that the divergence is square integrable. Note that this (reduced) regularity property still allows us to consider normal traces of velocities in V. By this we can incorporate the Dirichlet boundary conditions (4.6d) as an essential boundary condition in the space V, so we further define

$$V_D := \{ v \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : v_n = g_{D,n} \text{ on } \Gamma \}.$$

The tangential velocity $g_{D,t}$ on $\Gamma_{D,t}$ will be given as a natural boundary condition. Finally, we further define the subset of divergence free velocities by

$$V^0 := \{ v \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : \operatorname{div}(v) = 0 \}.$$

The appropriate space for the pressure is given by the set of square integrable functions. Note that we have to assume a zero mean value (for the uniqueness of the pressure) as we assumed that $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$, thus we set

$$Q := L_0^2(\Omega).$$

Finally, we define the stress space with a homogeneous normal-tangential trace on $\Gamma_{N,t}$ as

$$\Sigma := \{ \sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : \operatorname{tr}(\sigma) = 0, \sigma_{nt} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{N,t} \}.$$

$$(4.23)$$

By the findings of section 4.2.3, the normal-tangential trace is continuous, thus Σ is a closed subspace of $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. The property $\operatorname{tr}(\sigma) = 0$ is motivated by the equivalence (4.5), hence as σ only approximates the deviatoric part of ∇u it can be chosen such that the matrix trace equals zero. Similarly as for the velocity space, one part of the Neumann boundary conditions can be incorporated as an essential boundary condition. To this end we define the space

$$\Sigma_N := \{ \sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : \operatorname{tr}(\sigma) = 0, \sigma_{nt} = g_{N,t} \text{ on } \Gamma_{N,t} \}.$$

Based on these function spaces we can now derive a new variational formulation using the standard approach. Multiplying (4.6c) with a test function $q \in Q$ and integrating over the domain Ω , we obtain the familiar weak incompressibility constraint

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0. \tag{4.24}$$

Next, we test equation (4.6a) with a test function $\tau \in \Sigma$ and integrate over the domain Ω . Assuming enhanced regularity of the exact solution u, a density argument shows that we can write

$$\int_{\Omega} \tau : \nabla u \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{V} - \langle \tau_{nt}, g_{D,t} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{D,t})},$$

where we used that $u_n = 0$ on $\Gamma_{D,n}$ and $\tau_{nt} = 0$ on $\Gamma_{N,t}$. Thus, we get the equation

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{V} = \langle \tau_{nt}, g_{D,t} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{D,t})}.$$
(4.25)

Finally, we also test equation (4.6b) with a test function $v \in V$, and integrate over the domain and by parts in the term including the pressure. This yields

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), u \rangle_V + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

Now assume a given $f \in V^*$ and $g_{D,t} \in TW(\Gamma_{D,t})$. Further assume the increased regularity of the essential boundary data $g_{D,n} \in [H^{1/2}(\Gamma_D)]_n$ and $g_{N,t} \in [H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_N, \mathbb{R}^d)]_t$. The mass conserving mixed stress formulation (MCS) now reads as: Find $(\sigma, u, p) \in \Sigma_N \times V_D \times Q$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{V} = \langle \tau_{nt}, g_{D,t} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{D,t})} & \text{for all } \tau \in \Sigma, \\ \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_{V} + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = -\langle f, v \rangle_{V} & \text{for all } v \in V, \\ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 & \text{for all } q \in Q. \end{cases}$$
(4.26)

In the following we check if the exact solution (σ, u, p) of the system (4.26), assuming enough regularity, fulfills the boundary conditions (4.3c),(4.3d) and (4.3f). Incorporated as essential boundary conditions into the spaces V_D and Σ_N , we already have

$$u_n = g_{D,n}$$
 and $\sigma_{nt} = g_{N,t}$,

on Γ and $\Gamma_{N,t}$, respectively. In the following we assume enough regularity of the given right hand side. The second line of (4.26) then reads as

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Using integration by parts for the third term we have, as $v_n = 0$ on Γ ,

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} v \cdot \nabla p \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_N} p v_n = -\int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Choosing test functions with a compact support in Ω we conclude that in the volume we have $\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \nabla p = -f$. In the same manner we proceed with the first equation of (4.26). Using integration by parts for the volume integral we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \tau : \nabla u \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma} \tau_n \cdot u \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Gamma_D} \tau_{nt} \cdot g_{D,t} \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$

Splitting the third integral into a normal-normal part and a normal-tangential part, thus

$$\int_{\Gamma} \tau_n \cdot u \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Gamma} \tau_{nn} u_n \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma} \tau_{nt} \cdot u_t \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

and using $u \in V_D$ and $\tau \in \Sigma$ we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \tau : \nabla u \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_D} \tau_{nt} \cdot u_t \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Gamma_D} \tau_{nt} \cdot g_{D,t} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

With the same arguments as above we conclude $\sigma = \nu \nabla u$ in the volume and $u_t = g_{D,t}$ on the boundary.

We want to make a final comment on the increased regularity of the essential boundary data. As usual, in the case of non-homogeneous essential boundary conditions, one solves equations (4.26) using a homogenization step, thus one splits the solutions into two parts

$$u = u_0 + u_g \quad \text{with} \quad u_0 \in V, u_g \in V_D, \\ \sigma = \sigma_0 + \sigma_g \quad \text{with} \quad \sigma_0 \in \Sigma, \sigma_g \in \Sigma_N,$$

where u_g and σ_g are found using the surjectivity of the trace operators. In particular, due to the increased regularity of the essential boundary data, one finds functions $u_g \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\sigma_g \in [H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)]^d$ such that

$$(u_g)_n = g_{D,n}$$
 on $\Gamma_{D,n}$ and $(\sigma_g)_{nt} = g_{N,t}$ on $\Gamma_{N,t}$.

To find the homogeneous solutions we then solve the problem: Find $(\sigma_0, u_0, p) \in \Sigma \times V \times Q$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{V} = \langle \tau_{nt}, g_{D,t} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{D})} - \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u_{g} \rangle_{V} & \forall \tau \in \Sigma, \\ \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_{V} + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = -\langle f, v \rangle_{V} - \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma_{g}), v \rangle_{V} & \forall v \in V, \\ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 & \forall q \in Q. \end{cases}$$

Note that the terms $\langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u_g \rangle_V$ and $\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma_g), v \rangle_V$ are well defined, as the increased regularity of u_g and σ_g yields that the duality pairs can be written as

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u_g \rangle_V = -\int_{\Omega} \tau : \nabla u_g \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma_g), v \rangle_V = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\sigma_g) \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

If we would only assume $g_{D,n} \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_D)$ and $g_{N,t} \in [TW(\Gamma_N)]^*$, the surjectivity of the trace operators would imply $u_g \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ and $\sigma_g \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, thus the duality pairs above would not be well defined, and a homogenization process would not be possible.

4.3.1 Stability analysis

In this section we present a detailed stability analysis of the mass conserving mixed stress formulation given by the set of equations (4.26). Analyzing the structure of the left hand side, we realize that the resulting system is a saddle point problem where σ and p are the primal variable, and u is the dual variable. Similarly as in the mixed formulation of a Poisson problem, the role of the variables switched, as in the classical velocity-pressure formulation of the Stokes equations the velocity u is the primal variable and the pressure p is the dual variable. In order to show stability we aim to use the theory of saddle point problems as discussed in section 3.2. As usual, we only consider the case of homogeneous essential boundary values of the normal component u_n and the normal-tangential trace σ_{nt} on Γ and $\Gamma_{N,t}$, respectively. The case of non-homogeneous essential values follows again by homogenization. In the set of equations (4.26) we identify the following bilinear forms. In the top left we have the L^2 -inner product of the primal variable σ with a test function τ , thus we define

$$\begin{cases} a: L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) \times L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) \to \mathbb{R}, \\ a(\sigma, \tau) := \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \end{cases}$$
(4.27)

Note, that although the bilinear form a is continuous with respect to the L^2 -norm on $L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, for functions $\sigma, \tau \in \Sigma$ it is equivalent to

$$a(\sigma, \tau) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \operatorname{dev}(\sigma) : \operatorname{dev}(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The next bilinear form is given by the incompressibility constraint (4.24)

$$\begin{cases} b_1 : H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) \times L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}, \\ b_1(u, q) := \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.28)$$

Finally, we have the divergence constraint for the stress variable σ . As discussed above, the velocity u is now a dual variable, and can be interpreted as a Lagrange multiplier to enforce the constraint on σ . We define

$$\begin{cases} b_2 : H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega) \times H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}, \\ b_2(\sigma,u) := \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), u \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}. \end{cases}$$
(4.29)

Adding up both constraints we further define the bilinear form

$$\begin{cases} b: H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega) \times L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}) \times H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}, \\ b(\sigma,q;u) := b_1(u,q) + b_2(\sigma,q), \end{cases}$$
(4.30)

and the corresponding kernel

$$K_b := \{ (\sigma, p) \in \Sigma \times Q : b(\sigma, q; u) = 0 \text{ for all } u \in V \}.$$

$$(4.31)$$

Beside the bilinear forms we define for all $\sigma \in \Sigma$, $u \in V$ and $q \in Q$ the following norms

$$\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} := \|\sigma\|_{\mathrm{cd}}, \quad \|u\|_{V} := \|u\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)}, \quad \|q\|_{Q} := \|q\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}.$$

The first result shows that the introduced bilinear forms are all continuous.

Lemma 8 (Continuity). The bilinear forms a, b_1 and b_2 are continuous:

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma,\tau) &\lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|\tau\|_{\Sigma} \quad \forall \sigma, \tau \in \Sigma, \\ b_1(u,q) &\lesssim \|u\|_V \|q\|_Q \qquad \forall u \in Q, q \in Q \\ b_2(\sigma,u) &\lesssim \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} \|u\|_V \qquad \forall \sigma \in \Sigma, u \in V. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The continuity of a and b_1 follows with a Cauchy Schwarz argument for the appearing integrals. For b_2 it follows by the continuity of the duality pair with the corresponding norms and $\|\operatorname{div}(\sigma)\|_{V^*} \leq \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma}$.

We continue with proving that the bilinear form a is coercive on the kernel.

Lemma 9 (Coercivity on the kernel). The bilinear form a is coercive on the kernel K_b

$$\frac{1}{\nu}(\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_Q)^2 \lesssim a(\sigma, \sigma) \quad \text{for all } (\sigma, p) \in K_b.$$

Proof. Let $(\sigma, p) \in K_b$ be arbitrary. Using the Stokes-LBB, lemma 4.9 in [43], we find a function $u \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \subset V$ such that $\operatorname{div}(u) = p$ and $||u||_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq ||p||_Q$. Thus, we can bound

$$\begin{aligned} \|p\|_Q &\leq \frac{(\operatorname{div}(u), p)_{\Omega}}{\|u\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \leq \sup_{v \in H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} \frac{(\operatorname{div}(v), p)_{\Omega}}{\|v\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \\ &= \sup_{v \in H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} \frac{\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_V}{\|v\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} = \sup_{v \in H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} \frac{(\sigma, \nabla u)}{\|v\|_{H^1(\Omega)}} \leq \|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we further have

$$\sup_{v \in V} \frac{\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_V}{\|v\|_V} = \sup_{v \in V} \frac{(\operatorname{div}(v), p)_\Omega}{\|v\|_V} \le \|p\|_Q \le \|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

This yields for all $(\sigma, p) \in K_b$ that $(\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_Q) \leq \nu a(\sigma, \sigma)$. A division by ν gives the desired result.

Lemma 10. For all $u \in V$ there exists a function $q \in Q$ such that

 $b_1(u,q) \gtrsim \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \quad and \quad \|q\|_Q \lesssim \|u\|_V.$

Proof. This follows immediately by choosing $q := \operatorname{div}(u)$. This is an admissible choice as

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Gamma} u_n \, \mathrm{d}s = 0,$$

thus $q \in Q$. Now we have

$$b_1(u,q) = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = \| \operatorname{div}(u) \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2,$$

and trivially $||q||_Q = ||\operatorname{div}(u)||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le ||u||_V.$

To prove a similar inf-sup stability result for the bilinear form b_2 , we are going to solve a symmetric auxiliary problem on the subspace $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V$. In order to solve this auxiliary problem we need to show that it is well-posed and solvable. The next two results are dedicated to this question. The first theorem shows a very similar estimate as given by Korn's first inequality, see theorem 4. The second result then handles the case with (partly) homogeneous boundary conditions.

Theorem 10 (A Korn-like inequality for the deviator). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 or 3, be an arbitrary bounded and connected Lipschitz domain. For $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ there holds

$$\|\operatorname{dev}(\nabla u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge c_{d}\|u\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2},$$

where c_d only depends on Ω .

Proof. The proof follows similar steps as the proof of Korn's inequality, theorem 3.1 in [39]. For the ease of notation let $\mathbb{D}(u) := \operatorname{dev}(\nabla u)$, then we define the subspace

$$D := \{ u \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) : \mathbb{D}(u) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) \}.$$
(4.32)

Note that D is a Hilbert space with the norm $||u||_D^2 := ||\mathbb{D}(u)||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + ||u||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$. Let $u \in D$, then elementary calculations show that in three dimensions we can write for all $i, j, k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_j \partial x_k} = \begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i,k} & \text{for } i \neq k, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i,j} & \text{for } i \neq j, \\ 3\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i,i} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i+1}} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i+1,i} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i+2}} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i+2,i} & \text{for } i = j = k, \end{cases}$$

where the indices i + 1 and i + 2 are taken modulo 3. Similarly, we can write in two dimensions for all $i, j, k \in \{1, 2\}$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_j \partial x_k} = \begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i,k} & \text{for } i \neq k, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i,j} & \text{for } i \neq j, \\ 2\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i,i} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i+1}} \mathbb{D}(u)_{i+1,i} & \text{for } i = j = k, \end{cases}$$

where the index i + 1 is taken modulo 2. Therefore, we have, as $u \in D$, that

$$\frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_j \partial x_k} \in H^{-1}(\Omega) \quad \text{for all } i, j, k \in \{1, \dots, d\}.$$
(4.33)

Applying the famous result from Nečas (see [88], and for non-smooth boundaries, see [15]) which reads as

$$||f||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq ||f||_{H^{-1}(\Omega)} + ||\nabla f||_{H^{-1}(\Omega)}$$
 for all $f \in L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$,

to the partial derivatives $\partial u_i/\partial x_k$, equation (4.33) implies that $\partial u_i/\partial x_k$ is an element of $L^2(\Omega)$ for all i, k, and therefore $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. This shows the algebraic equivalence $D = H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ (as each element of the right side is also in D), and that the injection of $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \to D$ is continuous, and – as just proven – also surjective. Applying the closed graph theorem, we conclude that this injection is an isomorphism, thus we have proven norm equivalence.

Lemma 11. Let $\Gamma_i \subseteq \partial \Omega$ and $\Gamma_j \subset \partial \Omega$. Assume that either $\Gamma_i = \partial \Omega$ or $\Gamma_j \cap \Gamma_i \neq \emptyset$. Let $u \in \{v \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d), v_n = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_i\}$. There holds

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u}) : \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_j} \tilde{u}_t \cdot \tilde{v}_t \, \mathrm{d}s \ge \|u\|_1^2.$$

Proof. By theorem 10 it suffices to show that $||u||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq ||\mathbb{D}(u)||^2_{L^2(\Omega)} + ||u_t||^2_{L^2(\Gamma_j)}$, where again $\mathbb{D}(u) = \operatorname{dev}(\nabla u)$. We prove this by contradiction. To this end we assume that there exists no $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathbb{D}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|u_{t}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{j})}^{2} \ge \alpha \|u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}.$$

Then for all $l \in \mathbb{N}^*$ there exists a function $v_l \in \{v \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d), v_n = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_i\}$ such that

$$\|\mathbb{D}(v_l)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \|(v_l)_t\|_{L^2(\Gamma_j)}^2 \le \frac{1}{l} \|v_l\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$
(4.34)

Further, without loss of generality, we can choose $||v_l||_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$. By theorem 10 and estimate (4.34), we further have

$$\|v_l\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le \|v_l\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\mathbb{D}(v_l)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \|v_l\|_{L^2(\Omega)},$$

thus v_l is bounded in $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Applying the theorem of Rellich, see chapter VI in [2], this yields that v_l is also relatively compact in $L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, hence there exists a sub sequence (again denoted by v_l) such that $v_l \to v$ with $v \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Further, estimate (4.34) yields $\|\mathbb{D}(v_l)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \to 0$, thus $\mathbb{D}(v) = 0$ and by theorem 10

$$\|v - v_l\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \le \|v - v_l\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\mathbb{D}(v_l)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \to 0, \tag{4.35}$$

thus $v \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. By the continuity of the trace operator we conclude that $v_n = 0$ on Γ_i as $v_l \in \{v \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d), v_n = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_i\}$ for all $l \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Equation (4.34) further shows that also $v_t = 0$ on Γ_j . As $\mathbb{D}(v) = 0$, it is either zero or has the form v = a + bx with $a \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Assuming $\Gamma_j \cap \Gamma_i \neq \emptyset$ implies that v = 0 on $\Gamma_j \cap \Gamma_i$, which yields v = 0. For the other case, $\Gamma_i = \partial \Omega$, the identity div(u) = db first shows the equivalence

$$b|\Omega|d = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tilde{u}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tilde{u}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\partial\Omega} \tilde{u} \cdot n \, \mathrm{d}s = 0.$$

implying b = 0. As $v_n = 0$ on Γ , we similarly as before conclude that a = 0. In both cases equation (4.35) then further shows $||v_l||_{L^2(\Omega)} \to 0$, which is a contradiction, thus the lemma is proven.

Using the two previous results we are finally ready to show an inf-sup result for b_2 .

Lemma 12. For all $u \in V$ there exists a $\sigma \in \Sigma$ such that

$$b_2(\sigma, u) \gtrsim \|u\|_V^2$$
 and $\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} \lesssim \|u\|_V$.

Proof. Let $u \in V$ be arbitrary. We solve the following auxiliary problem: Find $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{V}$ with $\tilde{V} := H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V$, such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u}) : \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \tilde{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) \operatorname{div}(\tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \tilde{v} \in \tilde{V}.$$
(4.36)

Applying lemma 11, we immediately see that the bilinear form on the left hand side is coercive with respect to the H^1 -norm. A simple Cauchy Schwarz argument then further shows

the continuity, thus theorem 5 (Lax-Milgram) yields that there exists a unique solution, which is continuously bounded by the right hand side:

$$\|\tilde{u}\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \lesssim \|u\|_V. \tag{4.37}$$

Now set $\sigma := -\text{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u})$. In the following we show that $\sigma \in \Sigma$. The above continuity of the solution \tilde{u} , proves that σ is square integrable as

$$\|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \|\operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \|\tilde{u}\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \lesssim \|u\|_V.$$

Next, let $\phi \in \mathcal{C}_0^\infty(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. Using the definition of the distributional divergence we see that

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \phi \rangle_V = -\int_{\Omega} \sigma : \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u}) : \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u}) : \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \phi) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

As ϕ is an admissible test function for the weak formulation (4.36), we observe

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \phi \rangle_V = \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) \, \operatorname{div}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}x \lesssim \|u\|_V \|\phi\|_V$$

The density of $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ in V then yields

$$\sup_{v \in V} \frac{\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_V}{\|v\|_V} \lesssim \|u\|_V,$$

thus summing up both bounds proves $\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} \lesssim \|u\|_{V}$. Further note that the above arguments show the identity

$$b_2(\sigma, u) = \|u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \sim \|u\|_V^2.$$
(4.38)

Finally, as $\operatorname{tr}(\sigma) = 0$, we conclude that $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, which allows us to apply the normal-tangential trace operator. Now let $tw \in TW(\Gamma_{N,t})$ be arbitrary. By definition of the trace space $TW(\Gamma_{N,t})$, there exists a $w \in W(\Gamma_{N,t})$ such that $(\operatorname{curl}(w))_t = tw$ on $\Gamma_{N,t}$. The definition of the trace operator then gives

$$\langle \gamma_{nt}(\sigma), tw \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{N,t})} = \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} + (\sigma, \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w))_{\Omega}.$$

Next, as $w \in W(\Gamma_{N,t})$ we have $(\operatorname{curl}(w))_n = \operatorname{curl}_t(\gamma_t(w)) = 0$ on Γ , thus $\operatorname{curl}(w)$ is an admissible test function for the weak formulation (4.36). Using the same density arguments as above yields

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \gamma_{nt}(\sigma), tw \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{N,t})} &= \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} + (-\operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u}), \nabla \operatorname{curl}(w))_{\Omega} \\ &= \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(w) \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} - (u, \operatorname{curl}(w))_{\Omega} - (\operatorname{div}(u), \operatorname{div}(\operatorname{curl}(w)))_{\Omega} = 0, \end{aligned}$$

thus $\sigma \in \Sigma$ and the lemma is proven.

In the next theorem we combine both result to prove the inf-sup estimate of the bilinear form b.

Theorem 11 (Inf-sup estimate of b). For all $u \in V$ there exists a $(\sigma, p) \in \Sigma \times Q$ such that

$$\sup_{(\tau,q)\in\Sigma\times Q} \frac{b(\tau,q;u)}{\|\tau\|_{\Sigma} + \|q\|_{Q}} \gtrsim \|u\|_{V}.$$
(4.39)

Proof. Let $\sigma \in \Sigma$ and $p \in Q$ be the variables given by lemma 10 and lemma 12, respectively. Then there holds

$$\sup_{(\tau,q)\in\Sigma\times Q} \frac{b(\tau,q;u)}{\|\tau\|_{\Sigma} + \|q\|_{Q}} \ge \frac{b_{1}(u,p) + b_{2}(\sigma,u)}{\|p\|_{Q} + \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma}} = \frac{\|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|u\|_{V}^{2}}{\|p\|_{Q} + \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma}} \gtrsim \|u\|_{V},$$

where we used that $\|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|u\|_{V}^{2} \sim \|u\|_{V}^{2}$ and $\|p\|_{Q} + \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} \lesssim \|u\|_{V}$.

Corollary 1. Assume a given $f \in V^*$ and $g_{D,t} \in TW(\Gamma_D)$. Further assume the increased regularity of the essential boundary data $g_{D,n} \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_D)$ and $g_{N,t} \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_N, \mathbb{R}^d)$. There exists a unique solution $(\sigma, u, p) \in \Sigma_N \times V_D \times Q$ of equations (4.26) such that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_{Q} \right) + \sqrt{\nu} \|u\|_{V} \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|f\|_{V^{*}} + \|g_{N,t}\|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{N})} \right) \\
+ \sqrt{\nu} \left(\|g_{D,t}\|_{TW(\Gamma_{D})} + \|g_{D,n}\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{D})} \right).$$

Proof. This is a direct consequence of theorem 6, and the results of lemma 8, lemma 9 and theorem 11. In the case of non-homogeneous essential boundary conditions a standard homogenization method is used as discussed at the end of section 4.3. \Box

4.4 The symmetric version of Stokes equations

A different version of the Stokes equations is given if we replace the gradient of the velocity u by its symmetric version $\varepsilon(u)$, hence equation (4.3a) then reads as

$$-\operatorname{div}(\nu\varepsilon(u)) + \nabla p = f$$
 in Ω .

This formulation is considered for example in [11], and is particularly of interest in two-phase flows, see for example in [59]. There it is important that the matching conditions between the two phases is formulated with the symmetric gradient. Assuming $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and enough regularity of boundary data, the classical variational formulation then reads as: Find (u, p) in $X_D \times L^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} \nu \varepsilon(u) : \varepsilon(v) \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} g_{N,n} v_n \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_{N,t}} g_{N,t} v_t \, \mathrm{d}s, \ \forall v \in X_0, \\ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, \qquad \qquad \forall q \in L^2(\Omega). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.40)$$

Note that in the case $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$ the pressure space is exchanged to $L_0^2(\Omega)$. In the following we want to derive a similar stress formulation as it is given by equation (4.6) using the

symmetric gradient. Introducing $\sigma = \nu \varepsilon(u)$ and using the same manipulation as in the beginning of section 4.1 we derive the equations

$$\frac{1}{\nu}\operatorname{dev}(\sigma) - \varepsilon(u) = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.41a}$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \nabla p = -f \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.41b}$$
$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega$$

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{4.41c}$$

$$u_n = g_{D,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,n}, \tag{4.41d}$$

$$u_t = g_{D,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,t}, \tag{4.41e}$$

$$-\sigma_{nn} + p = g_{N,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,n}, \tag{4.41f}$$

$$-\sigma_{nt} = g_{N,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,t}. \tag{4.41g}$$

Although formulated in an arbitrary setting (used for the discrete method introduced in chapter 7), we assume again that $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$.

Based on (4.41) we now want to derive a new variational formulation where we include the findings from above. Thus, again we aim for a formulation where the velocity space is given by $V = H_0(\text{div}, \Omega)$ and the pressure space by $Q = L_0^2(\Omega)$. Note however that we have to change the stress space. Equation (4.41a) shows that the stress variable now approximates the deviatoric part of the symmetric gradient. To this end we define the closed subspaces of functions in $H(\text{curl div}, \Omega)$ that are trace free and symmetric:

$$\Sigma^{\text{sym}} := \{ \sigma \in H(\text{curl div}, \Omega) : \text{tr}(\sigma) = 0, \sigma + \sigma^{\text{T}} = 0, \sigma_{nt} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{N,t} \}, \\ \Sigma^{\text{sym}}_{N} := \{ \sigma \in H(\text{curl div}, \Omega) : \text{tr}(\sigma) = 0, \sigma + \sigma^{\text{T}} = 0, \sigma_{nt} = g_{N,t} \text{ on } \Gamma_{N,t} \}.$$

Following the same steps as before we test equation (4.41a) with a test function $\tau \in \Sigma^{\text{sym}}$ and integrate over the domain Ω . Due to the symmetry of τ there holds the identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \varepsilon(u) : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u)^{\mathrm{T}} : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x,$$
(4.42)

thus again using the enhanced regularity of the velocity field we have the equation

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{V} = \langle \tau_{nt}, g_{D,t} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{D})}.$$

Note that the second term on the left is the bilinearform b_2 that was introduced in the standard formulation. For the rest we follow the same steps as in section 4.3. Now let $f \in V^*$ and $g_{D,t} \in TW(\Gamma_D)$. Further assume the increased regularity of the essential boundary data $g_{D,n} \in [H^{1/2}(\Gamma_D)]_n$ and $g_{N,t} \in [H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_N, \mathbb{R}^d)]_t$. The symmetric MCS formulation now reads as: Find $(\sigma, u, p) \in \Sigma_N^{\text{sym}} \times V_D \times Q$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{V} = \langle \tau_{nt}, g_{D,t} \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{D})} & \text{for all } \tau \in \Sigma^{\operatorname{sym}}, \\ \langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_{V} + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v) p \, \mathrm{d}x = -\langle f, v \rangle_{V} + \langle v_{n}, g_{N,n} \rangle_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{N})} & \text{for all } v \in V, \\ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) q \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 & \text{for all } q \in Q. \end{cases}$$
(4.43)

4.4.1 Stability analysis

Again we only consider the case of homogeneous essential boundary conditions as the nonhomogeneous case follows with the techniques discussed at the end of section 4.3. Further, comparing the symmetric weak formulation (4.43) with the standard formulation (4.26)we realize that we have only exchanged the stress space, thus we aim to derive a stability analysis using the same norms and the same bilinear forms as we have defined in section 4.3.1.

By the definition of the symmetric stress space we immediately see that $\Sigma^{\text{sym}} \subset \Sigma$, hence continuity of the bilinear forms follows from lemma 8. Similarly, also coercivity is a direct consequence of lemma 9 due the property $K_b^{\text{sym}} \subset K_b$ where

$$K_b^{\text{sym}} := \{ (\sigma, p) \in \Sigma^{\text{sym}} \times Q : b(\sigma, q; u) = 0 \text{ for all } u \in V \}.$$

In order to prove existence and uniqueness of a solution of equation 4.43 it is sufficient to show inf-sup stability given by the following theorem.

Theorem 12 (Inf-sup of b). For all $u \in V$ there exists a $(\sigma, p) \in \Sigma^{sym} \times Q$ such that

$$\sup_{(\tau,q)\in\Sigma^{\text{sym}}\times Q} \frac{b(\tau,q;u)}{\|\tau\|_{\Sigma} + \|q\|_{Q}} \gtrsim \|u\|_{V}.$$
(4.44)

Proof. The proof follows with similar steps as in the proof of lemma 12 and lemma 10. Let $u \in V$ be fixed, then we define the auxiliary problem: Find $(\tilde{u}, \tilde{p}) \in \tilde{V} \times Q$ with $\tilde{V} := H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V$ such that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \varepsilon(\tilde{u}) : \varepsilon(\tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tilde{v}) \tilde{p} \, \mathrm{d}x &= \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \tilde{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) \operatorname{div}(\tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \tilde{v} \in \tilde{V}, \\ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tilde{u}) \tilde{q} \, \mathrm{d}x &= 0 \qquad \qquad \forall \tilde{q} \in Q. \end{split}$$

This problem is solvable due to the LBB-condition of the standard Stokes problem, as seen in lemma 4.9 in [43], and a similar result as given by lemma 11, including Korn's inequality, see theorem 4. Brezzi's theorem then further yields the continuity estimate

$$\|\tilde{u}\|_{H^1(\Omega)} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim \|u\|_V.$$
(4.45)

For $\sigma := -\varepsilon(\tilde{u})$ we immediately observe that $\sigma + \sigma^{\mathrm{T}} = 0$ and $\operatorname{tr}(\sigma) = \operatorname{div}(\tilde{u}) = 0$ and due to the stability estimate (4.45) also $\|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim \|u\|_V$. Following the same arguments as in

lemma 12 we have for a smooth function $\phi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ the identity

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \phi \rangle_{V} = \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) \, \operatorname{div}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\phi) \tilde{p} \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{4.46}$$

Using estimate (4.45) we conclude by a density argument that

$$\sup_{v \in V} \frac{\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_V}{\|v\|_V} \lesssim \sup_{v \in V} \frac{\|u\|_V \|v\|_V + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|v\|_V}{\|v\|_V} \lesssim \|u\|_V$$

and further

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), u \rangle_{V} \gtrsim \|u\|_{V}^{2} - \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \gtrsim \|u\|_{V}^{2} - \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|u\|_{V}.$$
(4.47)

By the above estimates we observe that $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$, which allows us to apply the normal-tangential trace operator. Then, with the same steps as in the proof of lemma 12, we also have $\sigma_{nt} = 0$ on $\Gamma_{N,t}$, thus with the findings from above we conclude $\sigma \in \Sigma^{\operatorname{sym}}$.

Now choose $p := \alpha \operatorname{div}(u)$, with $\alpha > 2$. This is an admissible choice with the same argument as in the proof of lemma 10. We observe that there holds the equivalence

$$b_1(u,p) = \alpha \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2,$$

and hence by (4.47)

$$\begin{split} \sup_{(\tau,q)\in\Sigma^{\mathrm{sym}}\times Q} \frac{b(\tau,q;u)}{\|\tau\|_{\Sigma} + \|q\|_{Q}} &\geq \frac{b(\sigma,p;u)}{\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_{Q}} \\ &\geq \frac{\|u\|_{V}^{2} - \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\|u\|_{V} + \alpha\|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}}{\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_{Q}} \end{split}$$

Using Young's inequality with a scaling factor 1/2 we get

$$\|u\|_{V}^{2} - \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\|u\|_{V} + \alpha\|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge \frac{1}{2}\|u\|_{V}^{2} + (\alpha - 2)\|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \sim \|u\|_{V}^{2}.$$

By (4.45) we further have

$$\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_{Q} \lesssim \|u\|_{V} + \alpha \|\operatorname{div}(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \sim \|u\|_{V},$$

and the statement is proven.

Corollary 2. Assume a given $f \in V^*$ and $g_{D,t} \in TW(\Gamma_D)$. Further assume the increased regularity of the essential boundary data $g_{D,n} \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_D)$ and $g_{N,t} \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_N, \mathbb{R}^d)$. There exists a unique solution $(\sigma, u, p) \in \Sigma_N^{\text{sym}} \times V_D \times Q$ of equation (4.43) such that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|\sigma\|_{\Sigma} + \|p\|_{Q} \right) + \sqrt{\nu} \|u\|_{V} \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|f\|_{V^{*}} + \|g_{N,t}\|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{N})} \right) \\
+ \sqrt{\nu} \left(\|g_{D,t}\|_{TW(\Gamma_{D})} + \|g_{D,n}\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{D})} \right).$$

Proof. This is a direct consequence of theorem 6, and the results of lemma 8, lemma 9 and theorem 12. In the case of non-homogeneous essential boundary conditions a standard homogenization method is used. \Box

5 Finite Elements - a discrete stress space

5.1 Triangulation and preliminaries

We start with the introduction of several preliminaries that we shall use within this work. Given a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with d = 2 or 3 with a Lipschitz boundary as described in chapter 3, let \mathcal{T}_h be a partition of Ω into triangles and tetrahedrons in two and three dimensions, respectively. Throughout this work we assume that the triangulation \mathcal{T}_h is

• shape regular: There exists a constant $c_s > 0$ such that

$$\max_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \frac{\operatorname{diam}(T)^d}{|T|} \le c_s \quad \text{ for all } T \in \mathcal{T}_h,$$

and

• quasi-uniform: There exists a constant $c_q > 0$ such that

diam
$$(T) \ge c_a h$$
 for all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$,

where $h := \max_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \operatorname{diam}(T)$.

For a given element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ we denote by $\mathcal{V}_h(T)$ the set of vertices of the element T, and by $\mathcal{F}_h(T)$ the set of faces, so the d-1 subsimplices, of the element T. In a similar manner we then denote by \mathcal{F}_h the set of all element interfaces and boundaries of the given triangulation \mathcal{T}_h . This set can further be split into two parts. The first part is denoted by $\mathcal{F}_h^{\text{ext}}$ and is given by all facets that lie on the boundary of the domain, thus $\mathcal{F}_h^{\text{ext}} := \{F \in \mathcal{F}_h : F \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset\}$. The second part, denoted by $\mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}}$, contains all facets that are in the interior of the domain, thus $\mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}} = \mathcal{F}_h \setminus \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{ext}}$.

With a slight abuse of notation, we use the same symbol n for the outward unit normal vector on each element boundary ∂T and for the normal vector defined on the boundary Γ . Then, the corresponding normal and tangential traces of smooth vector-valued functions, and the normal-normal and normal-tangential traces of smooth matrix-valued functions on element boundaries and facets are equivalently defined as in section 3.1.

At several points in the definition of the finite elements and also in the numerical analysis we make use of a mapping from a physical element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ to a so called reference element denoted by \hat{T} . To this end we define

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{T} &:= \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x_1, x_2 \text{ and } x_1 + x_2 \le 1 \} & \text{for} & d = 2 \\ \widehat{T} &:= \{ (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : 0 \le x_1, x_2, x_3 \text{ and } x_1 + x_2 + x_3 \le 1 \} & \text{for} & d = 3 \end{aligned}$$

Although one could define a different reference element, it is important that the diameter is approximately one, thus $\operatorname{diam}(\widehat{T}) = \mathcal{O}(1)$. On these reference elements we denote the vertices by

$$V_0 := (0,0), \quad V_1 := (1,0), \quad V_2 := (0,1),$$

and

$$V_0 := (0, 0, 0), \quad V_1 := (1, 0, 0), \quad V_2 := (0, 1, 0), \quad V_3 := (0, 0, 1),$$

for two and three dimensions, respectively. Next, we further define the following reference faces and the associated normal and tangential vectors. In two dimensions we have

$$\begin{split} \hat{F}_0 &:= \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x_1, x_2 \le 1, x_1 + x_2 = 1 \}, \\ \hat{F}_1 &:= \{ (0, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x_2 \le 1 \}, \\ \hat{F}_2 &:= \{ (x_1, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x_1 \le 1 \}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\hat{n}_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (1, 1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{n}_1 := (-1, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{n}_2 := (0, -1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \\ \hat{t}_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-1, 1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_1 := (0, -1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_2 := (1, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

For the three dimensional case we have

$$\begin{split} \hat{F}_0 &:= \{ (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : 0 \le x_1, x_2, x_3 \le 1, x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = 1 \}, \\ \hat{F}_1 &:= \{ (0, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : 0 \le x_2, x_3 \le 1, 0 \le x_2 + x_3 \le 1 \}, \\ \hat{F}_2 &:= \{ (x_1, 0, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x_1, x_3 \le 1, 0 \le x_1 + x_3 \le 1 \}, \\ \hat{F}_3 &:= \{ (x_1, x_2, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x_1, x_2 \le 1, 0 \le x_1 + x_2 \le 1 \}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\hat{n}_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (1, 1, 1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_{01} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-1, 1, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_{02} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (0, 1, -1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \hat{n}_1 := (-1, 0, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_{11} := (0, -1, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad \hat{t}_{12} := (0, 0, -1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \hat{n}_2 := (0, -1, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_{21} := (1, 0, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad \hat{t}_{22} := (0, 0, -1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \hat{n}_3 := (0, 0, -1)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \hat{t}_{31} := (1, 0, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad \hat{t}_{32} := (0, -1, 0)^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

In figure 5.1 we illustrated the reference elements in both dimensions.

By the definition of the reference element we are now able to define the associated element mappings. For an arbitrary element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ let $\phi_T : \hat{T} \to T$ be an affine homeomorphism, with the Jacobi matrix denoted by $F_T := \phi'_T$. As we assumed that the triangulation \mathcal{T}_h is shape regular and quasi-uniform we have

$$||F_T||_{\infty} \approx h$$
 and $||F_T^{-1}||_{\infty} \approx h^{-1}$ and $|\det(F_T)| \approx h^d$. (5.1)



Figure 5.1: The reference element \hat{T} and the corresponding normal and tangential vectors in two dimensions (left) and in three dimensions (right).

Similarly, we can restrict the mapping ϕ_T to a reference face $\hat{F} \in \mathcal{F}_h(\hat{T})$ and reference edge $\hat{E} \subset \partial \hat{F}$ (in three dimensions) whose gradients are then denoted by $F_T^F := (\phi_T|_{\hat{F}})'$ and $F_T^E := (\phi_T|_{\hat{E}})'$. Using these quantities the unit normals and tangents of the reference element and its mapped configurations on the physical element T are related by

$$n = \frac{\det(F_T)}{\det(F_T^F)} F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{n} \quad \text{and} \quad t = \frac{1}{\det(F_T^E)} F_T \hat{t}, \tag{5.2}$$

where in two dimensions we have to replace F_T^E by F_T^F . On each face $F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}}$ we make use of the standard notations for the jump and the average of a functions. To this end let $T_1, T_2 \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and let $F = T_1 \cap T_2$ be its common element interface. Further let n_1 and n_2 be the corresponding outward normal vectors. For a function $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^0(T_1, \mathbb{R}) \cup \mathcal{C}^0(T_1, \mathbb{R})$ we define the mean value and the jump on F as

$$\{\phi\} := \frac{1}{2}(\phi|_{T_1} + \phi|_{T_2}) \text{ and } [\![\phi]\!] := \phi|_{T_1} - \phi|_{T_2}.$$

For a facet $F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{ext}}$ the average and the jump is just defined as the identity.

We continue with the definition of polynomial spaces. For a given element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ we denote by $\mathbb{P}^k(T)$ the space of polynomials defined on T whose total order is less or equal k. Again, we use the same notation as for function spaces for non scalar-valued polynomial spaces, e.g. where $\mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ denotes the space of vector-valued polynomials, we use $\mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ for the space of matrix-valued polynomials. Using these notations we further define polynomials on the triangulation by

$$\mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h,\mathbb{R}) := \prod_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \mathbb{P}^k(T,\mathbb{R}),$$

and similarly $\mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$. Beside this we make use of homogeneous polynomials denoted by $\mathbb{P}^k_{\text{hom}}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ and the space of matrix-valued skew symmetric polynomials defined by

$$\mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{skw}}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) := \{ \eta \in \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : (\eta + \eta^{\mathrm{T}})|_T = 0 \text{ on all } T \in \mathcal{T}_h \}.$$

Finally, we introduce the space of rigid displacements by

$$\operatorname{RM}(\mathcal{T}_h) := \{ a + Bx : a \in \mathbb{P}^0(T, \mathbb{R}^d), B \in \mathbb{P}^0_{\operatorname{skw}}(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) \}.$$
(5.3)

At several points in the analysis we make use of polynomials defined in the tangent plane of a face of a given element T. To this end let $F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$, then with a slight abuse of notation we do not distinguish between the tangent plane parallel to the facet F and the isomorphic \mathbb{R}^{d-1} and write instead $\mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1})$. Note that for example the tangential projection of a polynomial $\mu \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ is in this space, thus $\mu_t \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1})$.

With respect to a triangulation we introduce for each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ the local elementwise L^2 -projection on polynomials of order k by Π_T^k . Note that we do not distinguish between scalar-, vector- or matrix-valued functions, but always use the same symbol. Following the notations from above the corresponding global L^2 -projection onto the space $\mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ is given by $\Pi_{\mathcal{T}_h}^k$. Similarly, on each facet $F \in \mathcal{F}_h$, let Π_F^k denote the L^2 -projection onto the space of polynomials of order k on F. Again, we use the same symbols for projections with different ranges. For example, the projection into the tangent plane of F is also given by Π_F^k , i.e., with the notation from above we have for any vector-valued function $v \in L^2(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ that the projection $\Pi_F^k v \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ satisfies $(\Pi_F^k v, q)_F = (v, q)_F$ for all $q \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1})$. Finally, the local projection onto the space of rigid displacements is given by

$$\left| \int_{T} \Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v - v \, \mathrm{d}x \right| = 0,$$
$$\left| \int_{T} \operatorname{curl} \left(\Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v - v \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \right| = 0,$$

for all functions $v \in H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ (see definition below). This projection fulfills the following properties (see [18])

$$\|\nabla(v_h - \Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v_h)\|_T \lesssim \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T \qquad \forall T \in \mathcal{T}_h, \tag{5.4}$$

$$\|\llbracket v_h - \Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v_h \rrbracket\|_F^2 \lesssim \sum_{T: T \cap F \neq \emptyset} h \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T^2 \quad \forall F \in \mathcal{F}_h.$$
(5.5)

Similarly, we also define function spaces with respect to the triangulation \mathcal{T}_h , e.g.

$$H^{m}(\mathcal{T}_{h},\mathbb{R}) := \{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}) : u|_{T} \in H^{m}(T,\mathbb{R}) \text{ for all } T \in \mathcal{T}_{h} \},\$$

denotes the broken Sobolev space of order m. Note that we use the same symbols for a broken differential operator applied on each element for functions in a broken Sobolev space and the continuous operator applied on functions in the corresponding standard Sobolev space, e.g. we write $(\nabla u)|_T = \nabla(u|_T)$ for functions $u \in H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$. We conclude this section with the definition of several local polynomial basis functions. For a detailed discussion we refer to [1, 4]. To this end let $I_{\mathcal{V}_h(T)}$ be the index set of the vertices $\mathcal{V}_h(T)$, then we use the standard notation for the barycentric coordinate functions given by λ_i , thus we have

$$\lambda_i \in \mathbb{P}^1(T, \mathbb{R})$$
 such that $\lambda_i(V_j) = \delta_{ij} \quad \forall i, j \in I_{\mathcal{V}_h(T)},$

where δ_{ij} is the Kronecker delta. Next, let $l_i(x_1)$ be the Legendre polynomial of order iand let $l_i^S(x_1, x_2) := x_2^i l_i(x_1/x_2)$ be the scaled Legendre polynomial of order i. Further let $p_i^j(x_1)$ be the Jacobi polynomial of order i with coefficients $\alpha = j$, $\beta = 0$. Using these one-dimensional polynomials, we define in two dimensions

$$\hat{r}_{ij}(\lambda_{\alpha},\lambda_{\beta},\lambda_{\gamma}) := l_i^S(\lambda_{\beta} - \lambda_{\alpha},\lambda_{\alpha} + \lambda_{\beta})p_j^{2i+1}(\lambda_{\gamma} - \lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\beta}).$$
(5.6)

The set

$$\{\hat{r}_{ij}(\lambda_{\alpha},\lambda_{\beta},\lambda_{\gamma}): 0 \le i+j \le k \text{ and } (\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \text{ permutation of } \{0,1,2\}\}$$

form a basis of the polynomial space $\mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R})$. Next note, as p_0^{2i+1} is constant, there holds the equality $\hat{r}_{ij}(\lambda_{\alpha}, \lambda_{\beta}, \lambda_{\gamma}) = \hat{r}_{i0}(\lambda_{\alpha}, \lambda_{\beta})$. Then the set

$$\{\hat{r}_{i0}(\lambda_{j+1},\lambda_{j+2})|_{\hat{F}_i}: 0 \le i \le k\},\$$

where the indices j + 1 and j + 2 of the barycentric coordinate functions are taken modulo 3, form a basis of the polynomial space $\mathbb{P}^k(\hat{F}_j, \mathbb{R})$ (see chapter 3.2 in [72], or in [37] and [107]). In three dimensions a similar results holds true. We define

$$\hat{r}_{ijl}(\lambda_{\alpha},\lambda_{\beta},\lambda_{\gamma},\lambda_{\delta}) = l_{i}^{S}(\lambda_{\beta}-\lambda_{\alpha},\lambda_{\alpha}+\lambda_{\beta}) \\
p_{j}^{2i+1,S}(\lambda_{\gamma}-\lambda_{\alpha}-\lambda_{\beta},\lambda_{\gamma}+\lambda_{\alpha}+\lambda_{\beta})p_{l}^{2i+2j+2,S}(\lambda_{\delta}-\lambda_{\alpha}-\lambda_{\beta}-\lambda_{\gamma}),$$
(5.7)

where $p_i^{j,S}(x_1, x_2) := x_2^i p_i^j(x_1/x_2)$ is the scaled Jacobi polynomial. Again, we have that the set $\hat{r}_{ijl}(\lambda_{\alpha}, \lambda_{\beta}, \lambda_{\gamma}, \lambda_{\delta})$ with $0 \le i + j + l \le k$ and an arbitrary permutation $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta)$ of (0, 1, 2, 3), defines a basis for $\mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R})$ and that for $0 \le i + l \le k$ the restriction on a facet \hat{F}_j given by $\hat{r}_{il0}(\lambda_{j+1}, \lambda_{j+2}, \lambda_{j+3})|_{\hat{F}_j}$ is a basis of $\mathbb{P}^k(\hat{F}_j, \mathbb{R})$, where the indices of the barycentric coordinate functions are now taken modulo 4.

5.2 A discrete space for the approximation of H(div)

In the previous chapter we derived the MCS formulation, equation (4.26), where the velocity solution u is an element of the Sobolev space $H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. An appropriate discretization, in the sense of conformity, of the space $H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ is well known in the literature. In the following we introduce two spaces with several properties that shall be used in this work. For a detailed discussion on this topic we refer for example to the book [11]. The first space we introduce is based on the work [99] and [89] and is called the Raviart-Thomas space. To this end let $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$, then we define

$$\mathcal{RT}^k(T) := \{ u = a + bx : a \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d), b \in \mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{hom}}(T, \mathbb{R}) \},\$$

and the global space

$$\mathcal{RT}^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h}) := \{ u \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : u|_{T} \in \mathcal{RT}^{k}(T) \text{ for all } T \in \mathcal{T}_{h} \}.$$
(5.8)

The space $\mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ contains, locally on each element, the full polynomial space $\mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and certain polynomials of order k + 1. Due to this enrichment the (global) divergence is equivalent to $\mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$. The space is constructed such that we have for all functions $u \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ and on each facet $F \in \mathcal{F}_h$ that the normal component $u_n \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R})$, thus the high order polynomials, have a zero normal trace. Further, due to the H(div)conformity, the normal jump is zero $[\![u_n]\!] = 0$ on all element interfaces $F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}}$. Note that in the original work [99] the space was defined on the reference element and was mapped appropriately, given by equation (5.10) (the Piola transformation) below.

In contrast to the Raviart-Thomas space the corresponding discrete space that contains, locally on each element, all polynomials up to a certain total order is given by the Brezzi-Douglas-Marini space (see [23, 21, 22]), denoted by

$$\mathcal{BDM}^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h}) := \{ u \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : u |_{T} \in \mathbb{P}^{k}(T, \mathbb{R}^{d}) \text{ for all } T \in \mathcal{T}_{h} \}$$

= $\{ u \in \mathbb{P}^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h}, \mathbb{R}^{d}) : [\![u_{n}]\!] = 0 \text{ on all } F \in \mathcal{F}_{h} \}.$ (5.9)

Again, due to the H(div)-conformity, we can apply the (global) divergence to all functions in $\mathcal{BDM}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ to get a polynomial of order k-1. To be precise, the divergence is surjective, and we have the following relation between the two spaces

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathcal{RT}^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h})) = \operatorname{div}(\mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_{h})) \subset \mathbb{P}^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h}, \mathbb{R})$$

and

$$\ldots \subset \mathcal{RT}^{k-1}(\mathcal{T}_h) \subset \mathcal{BDM}^k(\mathcal{T}_h) \subset \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h) \subset \mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_h) \subset \ldots$$

Whereas the standard pullback preserves continuity for standard H^1 -conforming finite elements, the proper mapping for H(div)-conforming finite elements is given by the Piola mapping. To this end let $\hat{u} \in L^2(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}^d)$, then we define on a physical element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ the function

$$\mathcal{P}(\hat{u}) := \frac{1}{\det F_T} F_T \hat{u} \circ \phi^{-1}.$$
(5.10)

The Piola mapping preserves the normal component and maps the divergence one-to-one, thus if $\hat{u} \in H(\operatorname{div}, \widehat{T})$, then

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathcal{P}(\hat{u})) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{det} F_T} \widehat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{u}) \circ \phi^{-1},$$

where $\widehat{\operatorname{div}}$ is the divergence operator with respect to the reference coordinates on \widehat{T} . At several points in the analysis we use scaling arguments for the gradient of a Piola mapped function. Then, by the chain rule we have for a function $\widehat{u} \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ on each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ the identity

$$\nabla(\mathcal{P}(\hat{u})) = \frac{1}{\det F_T} F_T \widehat{\nabla} \hat{u} F_T^{-1}.$$
(5.11)

We conclude this section with the introduction of appropriate degrees of freedoms for the Raviart-Thomas space $\mathcal{RT}^k(T)$. Note that similar results can be found for $\mathcal{BDM}^k(T)$ in [11, section 2.3.1].

Lemma 13. For any $k \ge 0$, $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and for any $u \in \mathcal{RT}^k(T)$ the following equations,

$$\int_{F} u_n q \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \quad \text{for all } q \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}), \quad \text{for all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T),$$
$$\int_{T} u \cdot r \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \quad \text{for all } r \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(F, \mathbb{R}^d),$$

imply that u = 0.

Proof. See proof of Proposition 2.3.4 in [11].

5.3 A discrete space for the approximation of $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$

In this section we introduce a new finite element and a corresponding new finite dimensional discrete space in which we can approximate the solution σ of the system (4.26). As σ is an element of the (matrix) trace-free subspace $\Sigma \subset H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ we proceed as follows: First, we discuss the definition of a discrete space to approximate arbitrary functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. Then, we show that the introduced construction of this space further allows a simple splitting such that we can also only approximate functions in the subspace Σ .

The discrete space that approximates the space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ should fulfill several properties: First of all, the discrete space should provide approximations with optimal convergence results (with respect to the mesh size h). To this end we demand that the finite element space should include matrix-valued polynomials up to a fixed, but arbitrary, given total order k. Secondly, we demand a certain continuity of the finite element basis functions across element interfaces such that the divergence can be continuously applied to discrete stress functions in a proper sense.

We first tackle the second question. As we have already seen in section 4.2.3, the normaltangnetial trace operator is continuous for functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. Similarly as for the Sobolev space $H^1(\Omega)$, where the trace operator γ is continuous and results in a \mathcal{C}^0 -continuity of the discrete basis functions across element interfaces, the continuity of γ_{nt} already gives us a hint how the new stress finite element basis functions should be constructed. The following theorem should further motivate this insight.

Theorem 13. Suppose σ is in $H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ and $\sigma_{nn}|_{\partial T} \in H^{1/2}(\partial T)$ for all elements $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$. Assume that the normal-tangential trace σ_{nt} is continuous across element interfaces. Then σ is in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ and moreover

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \left[\int_T \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x - \langle v_n, \sigma_{nn} \rangle_{H^{1/2}(\partial T)} \right]$$
(5.12)

for all $v \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. By the definition of the distributional divergence and using integration by parts on each element T separately, we have

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \phi \rangle = -\int_{\Omega} \sigma : \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\partial T} \sigma_n \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}s$$

Next, we split the boundary integral into two parts given by the normal and tangential direction, and we obtain

$$\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} -\int_{\partial T} \sigma_n \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}s = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} -\int_{\partial T} \sigma_{nn} \phi_n \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\partial T} \sigma_{nt} \cdot \phi_t \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} -\int_{\partial T} \sigma_{nn} \phi_n \, \mathrm{d}s - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\mathrm{int}}} \int_F \left[\!\left[\sigma_{nt}\right]\!\right] \cdot \phi_t \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where we used that ϕ vanishes at the boundary Γ . By the continuity of the normaltangential trace of σ we get $[\![\sigma_{nt}]\!] = 0$ on all facets $F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}}$, and the second sum vanishes. This yields

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), \phi \rangle = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot \phi \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\partial T} \sigma_{nn} \phi_n \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \| \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \|_{L^2(T)} \| \phi \|_{L^2(T)} + \| \sigma_{nn} \|_{H^{1/2}(\partial T)} \| \phi_n \|_{H^{-1/2}(\partial T)}$$

$$\leq c(\sigma) \| \phi \|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)},$$

$$(5.14)$$

where $c(\sigma)$ is a constant depending on σ . Since $\mathcal{D}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, we conclude that $\operatorname{div}(\sigma)$ is in $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)^*$, hence by definition, $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. The identity (5.12) also follows from (5.13) and a density argument.

Theorem 13 shows that normal-tangential continuity, assuming enough regularity of σ on each element T, is enough to guarantee that the divergence of σ lies in the dual space of $H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, thus $\sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. However, the regularity assumption $\sigma_{nn}|_{\partial T} \in$ $H^{1/2}(\partial T)$ makes the construction of finite element basis functions much more complicated. Although it is possible to show that it would be enough to assume only an increased regularity property at the vertices of each element (as the normal-normal component jumps there), this would still make the construction much more complex. In contrast to this, we define a finite element basis that is *slightly non-conforming* with respect to the space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$, but is much easier to construct. Note that this non-conformity is taken into account in the stability analysis of the next chapters.

With the findings from above we define a discrete finite dimensional space that shall be used for the approximation for functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$

$$\Xi^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h}) := \{ \sigma_{h} \in \mathbb{P}^{k}(\mathcal{T}_{h}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \llbracket (\sigma_{h})_{nt} \rrbracket = 0 \text{ on all } F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}^{\text{int}} \}.$$

The rest of this chapter focuses on the definition of a finite element and the construction of proper shape functions for $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$. First note that the definition of trace free matrices,

$$\mathbb{D} := \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d} : (M, \mathrm{Id}) = 0 \},\$$

allows us to decompose

$$\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h) = \Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(\mathcal{T}_h) \oplus \Xi^k_{\mathrm{Id}}(\mathcal{T}_h).$$

Here $\Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(\mathcal{T}_h)$ and $\Xi^k_{\mathrm{Id}}(\mathcal{T}_h)$ are defined by an orthogonal decomposition with respect to \mathbb{D} ,

$$\begin{aligned} \Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(\mathcal{T}_h) &:= \{ \sigma_h \in \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D}) : \llbracket (\sigma_h)_{nt} \rrbracket = 0 \text{ on all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}} \}, \\ \Xi^k_{\text{Id}}(\mathcal{T}_h) &:= \{ \sigma_h \in \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \text{Id}) : \llbracket (\sigma_h)_{nt} \rrbracket = 0 \text{ on all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}} \} \\ &= \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \text{Id}), \end{aligned}$$
(5.15)

where we used that the normal-tangential trace of a polynomial in $\mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathrm{Id})$ trivially vanishes on each facet $F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\mathrm{int}}$ due to (4.2).

5.3.1 Lowest order basis functions and normal-tangential bubbles

In a first step we are going to define lowest order constant matrix-valued basis functions for the space $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$, which are suited to study normal-tangential components on facets $F \in \mathcal{F}_h$. In the latter sections these basis functions are then used to define a stress finite element and to give an explicit representation of (high order) shape functions for the space $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$.

Now let $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ be an arbitrary element with the vertices $\mathcal{V}(T) := \{V_i\}_{i=0}^d$ with the index set $I_{\mathcal{V}(T)} := \{0, \ldots, |\mathcal{V}(T)|\}$. Then, as defined in section 5.1, the corresponding barycentric coordinate functions on T are given by $\{\lambda_i\}_{i=0}^d$. Further let $F_i \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$ denote the face opposite to the vertex V_i , with the associated normal vector n_i . In two dimensions we define the tangential vector on F_i as the rotated normal vector $t_i = (n_i)^{\perp}$, and in three dimensions we denote by $t_{ij} = (V_i - V_j)/|v_i - V_j|$ the unit tangential vector along the edge between the vertices V_i and V_j .

For d = 2 we define for all $i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}$ the constant matrix functions

$$S^{i} := \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \lambda_{i+1} \otimes \operatorname{curl}(\lambda_{i+2})), \tag{5.16}$$

where the indices i+1 and i+2 are taken modulo 3. In three dimensions we define similarly on each face $F_i \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$ two constant matrix functions by

$$S_0^i := \operatorname{dev} \left(\nabla \lambda_{i+1} \otimes \left(\nabla \lambda_{i+2} \times \nabla \lambda_{i+3} \right) \right), \quad S_1^i := \operatorname{dev} \left(\nabla \lambda_{i+2} \otimes \left(\nabla \lambda_{i+3} \times \nabla \lambda_{i+1} \right) \right), \quad (5.17)$$

where the indices i + 1, i + 2 and i + 3 are now taken modulo 4.

Lemma 14. The sets $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\}$ and $\{S^i_q : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)} \text{ and } q = 0, 1\}$ form a basis of \mathbb{D} for d = 2 and 3, respectively. Moreover, the normal-tangential component of S^i and S^i_q vanishes everywhere on the element boundary except on F_i ,

$$S_{nt}^{i}|_{F_{j}} = 0, \qquad (S_{q}^{i})_{nt}|_{F_{j}} = 0, \qquad for \quad i \neq j, \quad F_{j} \in \mathcal{F}_{h}(T), \quad i, j \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)},$$

When $i = j \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}$ and d = 3,

$$t_{i+2,i+3}^T S_0^i n_i = 0, \quad t_{i+1,i+2}^T S_0^i n_i \neq 0, \quad t_{i+3,i+1}^T S_0^i n_i \neq 0,$$
(5.18a)

$$t_{i+2,i+3}^T S_1^i n_i \neq 0, \quad t_{i+1,i+2}^T S_1^i n_i \neq 0, \quad t_{i+3,i+1}^T S_1^i n_i = 0.$$
 (5.18b)

Proof. By construction, all functions in the sets $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\}\$ and $\{S^i_q : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\$ and $q = 0, 1\}$ are trace free and constant. Thus, in order to show that they are a basis of \mathbb{D} it is sufficient to show that they are linearly independent and that the dimension matches. To prove linear independence we provide a proof for the second statement of the lemma.

We start with the two-dimensional case. First note that by equation (4.2) the normaltangential trace of a function S^i is equivalent to

$$S_{nt}^{i} = (\operatorname{dev}(\nabla\lambda_{i+1}\otimes\operatorname{curl}(\lambda_{i+2})))_{nt} = (\nabla\lambda_{i+1}\otimes\operatorname{curl}(\lambda_{i+2}))_{nt}.$$

Using the abbreviation $s_{ij} := \nabla \lambda_{i+1} \otimes \operatorname{curl}(\lambda_{i+2})$, thus $s_{i+1,i+2} = S^i$, the normal-tangential trace on the facet F_l with $l \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}$ is given by

$$t_l^{\mathrm{T}} s_{i,j} n_l = t_l^{\mathrm{T}} \big[\nabla \lambda_i \otimes \operatorname{curl}(\lambda_j) \big] n_l = (\nabla \lambda_i \cdot t_l) (\nabla \lambda_j \cdot t_l).$$

As $n_i \sim \nabla \lambda_i$ we further have

$$(\nabla \lambda_i \cdot t_l)(\nabla \lambda_j \cdot t_l) \sim (n_i \cdot t_l)(n_j \cdot t_l).$$

In the case $l \neq i, j$ this leads to $S_{nt}^i|_{F_i} \sim (n_i \cdot t_{i+1})(n_{i+2} \cdot t_l) \neq 0$ as the triangle T is not degenerated. Similarly, for l = i or l = q the normal-tangential trace is zero as $(n_i \cdot t_l) = (n_i \cdot t_i) = 0$ or $(n_j \cdot t_l) = (n_j \cdot t_j) = 0$, respectively.

In three dimensions we define as above the quantity $s_{i,j,k} = \text{dev} \left(\nabla \lambda_i \otimes (\nabla \lambda_j \times \nabla \lambda_k) \right)$. If i, j, k, l is any permutation of $I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}$, we see that for any $p \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}$ and any $t_p \in n_p^{\perp}$, where n_p^{\perp} is the tangent plane of F_p , we have

$$t_p^T s_{i,j,k} n_p \sim (n_i \cdot t_p) (t_{il} \cdot n_p).$$
 (5.19)

This can be derived with elementary manipulations. An example is given in figure 5.2, where we can easily see $\nabla \lambda_j \times \nabla \lambda_k \sim n_j \times n_k \sim t_{il}$. Due to this we have on any facet F_p

$$t_p^{\mathrm{T}}(S_0^i)n_p = t_p^{\mathrm{T}}(s_{i+1,i+2,i+3})n_p \sim (n_{i+1} \cdot t_p)(t_{i+1,i} \cdot n_p),$$

which vanishes for all $p \neq i$ since $n_{i+1} \cdot t_{i+1} = 0$ and $t_{i+1,i} \cdot n_{i+2} = t_{i+1,i} \cdot n_{i+3} = 0$. Similarly, we conclude that $(S_1^i)_{nt} = 0$ on all facets except F_i . By equation (5.19) we further have

$$t_{jk}^{\mathrm{T}}s_{i,j,k}n_{l} = 0, \quad t_{ki}^{\mathrm{T}}s_{i,j,k}n_{l} \neq 0, \quad t_{ji}^{\mathrm{T}}s_{i,j,k}n_{l} \neq 0,$$

hence the statements in (5.18) also follow. This proves that the sets $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\}$ and $\{S^i_q : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)} \text{ and } q = 0, 1\}$ are linearly independent, and we conclude the proof with a simple counting argument.



Figure 5.2: An example of an element configuration.

Corollary 3. The sets $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\} \cup \{\mathrm{Id}\}\ and\ \{S^i_q : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\ and\ q = 0,1\} \cup \{\mathrm{Id}\}\ form$ a basis of $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ for d = 2 and 3, respectively.

Proof. As the functions defined by (5.16) and (5.17) are all trace free, and as $(\mathrm{Id})_{nt}|_{F_j} = 0$ for all $F_j \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$, the sets $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\} \cup \{\mathrm{Id}\}$ and $\{S_q^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)} \text{ and } q = 0, 1\} \cup \{\mathrm{Id}\}$ are linearly independent. We conclude the proof with a simple counting argument and lemma 14.

Beside the trivial normal-tangential bubble given by the identity matrix we can further define other higher order bubbles. To this end we define the local space

$$\mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T) := \left\{ b \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{D}) : b_{nt} = 0 \right\}.$$

Using the above defined low order functions, we can give a representation to these bubbles in the following lemma.

Lemma 15. Any normal-tangential bubble $b \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T)$ can be represented as either

$$b = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} \mu_i \lambda_i S^i \quad or \quad b = \sum_{q=0}^1 \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} \mu_i^q \; \lambda_i S_q^i, \tag{5.20}$$

for d = 2 or 3, respectively, where $\mu_i, \mu_i^0, \mu_i^1 \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T)$. Consequently,

$$\dim \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T) = \begin{cases} \frac{3}{2}k(k+1), & \text{if } d = 2\\ \frac{8}{6}k(k+1)(k+2), & \text{if } d = 3 \end{cases}$$

Proof. We start with the proof in two dimensions. By lemma 14 we know that the set $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\}$ is a basis for \mathbb{D} . Therefore, the matrix b(x) can be represented as

$$b(x) = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} a_i(x) S^i,$$
(5.21)

with polynomials $a_i \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R})$. Again, by lemma 14 there exists a nonzero constant c_i that equals the value of $S^i_{nt}|_{F_i}$. Then we have

$$b_{nt}(x) = t_i^{\mathrm{T}} b(x) n_i = c_i a_i(x) = 0,$$

for all $x \in F_i$ as $b \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T)$. As c_i is a constant, this implies that $a_i(x)$ vanishes on F_i , and we can use a factorization with respect to λ_i (which is a linear polynomial and zero on F_i), thus a_i can be equivalently written as

$$a_i(x) = \mu_i(x)\lambda_i(x)$$
 with $\mu_i \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T),$

which proves equation (5.20). In three dimensions we have equivalently

$$b(x) = \sum_{q=0}^{1} \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} a_i^q(x) S_q^i,$$

with $a_i^q(x) \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R})$, and with lemma 14 we find constants c_i^0 and c_i^1 such that

$$t_{i+2,i+3}^{\mathrm{T}}b(x)n_i = c_i^1 a_i^1(x) = 0$$
 and $t_{i+3,i+1}^{\mathrm{T}}b(x)n_i = c_i^0 a_i^0(x) = 0$,

which also proves equation (5.20) with the same steps as above.

The dimension follows from the representation (5.20): In two dimensions lemma 14 yields that the basis functions $\{S^i : i \in I_{\mathcal{V}(T)}\}$ are linearly independent, and thus representation (5.20) shows that dim $\mathcal{B}_k(T)$ equals 3 times the dimensions dim $\mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T)$. The same argument can be applied in three dimensions.

5.3.2 The covariant Piola mapping

For the definition of a finite element for the discrete stress space we need to define an appropriate transformation that preserves normal-tangential continuity. In section 5.2 we presented the Piola transformation that preserves the normal components on facets, thus it is a suitable transformation for functions in $H(\text{div}, \Omega)$. The transformation that preserves tangential continuity is known in the literature (see [11] and [87]) as the covariant transformation, and is given by

$$\mathcal{C}(\hat{u}_h) := F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{u}_h \circ \phi^{-1}.$$

This mapping is particularly of interest for discretizations of the space $H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$. The idea now is to combine those two transformations to define a mapping that preserves normaltangential continuity. To motivate this let S^i be an arbitrary constant matrix function in the two dimensional case defined by equation (5.16), thus we have the representation

$$S^{i} = \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \lambda_{i+1} \otimes \operatorname{curl}(\lambda_{i+2})).$$

As analyzed in the last chapter, this constant matrix is designed to study normal-tangential traces and may help to understand how to define a suitable mapping. The barycentric coordinate function λ_{i+1} is an element of $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, thus $\nabla \lambda_{i+1}$ is an element of $H(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$

(although – or exactly because – $\nabla \lambda_{i+1}$ is equivalent to a normal vector). With a similar argument, $\operatorname{curl}(\lambda_{i+2})$ is an element of $H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. Ignoring the deviator, the definition of S^i suggests that the *proper* transformation is given by a Piola mapping from the right and a covariant mapping from the left. We define the covariant Piola mapping by

$$\mathcal{M}(\hat{\sigma}_h) := \frac{1}{\det(F_T)} F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\sigma}_h \circ \phi^{-1} F_T^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (5.22)$$

where $\hat{\sigma}_h \in \mathbb{P}^k(\widehat{T}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}).$

Lemma 16. For an arbitrary $\hat{\tau} \in \mathbb{P}^k(\widehat{T}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, let $\tau = \mathcal{M}(\hat{\tau})$. We have

$$ct^T \tau n = \hat{t}^T \hat{\tau} \hat{n}, \qquad where \ c = \begin{cases} \det(F_T^F)^2 & \text{if } d = 2, \\ \det(F_T^F) \det(F_T^E) & \text{if } d = 3. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, there holds the relation $tr(\hat{\tau}) = 0 \Leftrightarrow tr(\tau) = 0$, thus the covariant Piola mapping and the deviator commute

$$\operatorname{dev}(\mathcal{M}(\hat{\tau})) = \mathcal{M}(\operatorname{dev}(\hat{\tau})).$$

Proof. Using the relation between the physical and the reference unit normal and tangential vectors, see equation (5.2), we immediately see

$$t^{\mathrm{T}}\tau n = \frac{1}{\det(F_T^E)} \hat{t}^{\mathrm{T}} F_T^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{1}{\det(F_T)} F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\tau} F_T^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{\det(F_T)}{\det(F_T^F)} F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{n} = \frac{1}{\det(F_T^E)\det(F_T^F)} \hat{t}^{\mathrm{T}} \hat{\tau} \hat{n}.$$

Next, note that for arbitrary matrices $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ we have the relation $\operatorname{tr}(A^{-1}BA) = \operatorname{tr}(B)$, and thus $\operatorname{tr}(F_T^{-T}\hat{\tau}F_T^{T}) = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\tau})$. Then we see

$$dev(\mathcal{M}(\hat{\tau})) = \frac{1}{det(F_T)} \left(F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\tau} F_T^{\mathrm{T}} - \frac{1}{d} \operatorname{tr}(F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\tau} F_T^{\mathrm{T}}) \operatorname{Id} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{det(F_T)} \left(F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\tau} F_T^{\mathrm{T}} - \frac{1}{d} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\tau}) \operatorname{Id} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{det(F_T)} \left(F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\tau} F_T^{\mathrm{T}} - \frac{1}{d} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\tau}) F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \operatorname{Id} F_T^{\mathrm{T}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{det(F_T)} F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \left(\hat{\tau} - \frac{1}{d} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\tau}) \operatorname{Id} \right) F_T^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathcal{M}(\operatorname{dev}(\hat{\tau})).$$

5.3.3 A stress finite element

With the findings from above we can finally define a local stress finite element in the formal style of [25] (also adopted in other texts, e.g., [43, 13]) as a triple $(T, \Xi^k(T), \Phi(T))$, where the element T is a simplex, thus either a triangle or a tetrahedron, the space $\Xi^k(T) = \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, and $\Phi(T)$ is a set of linear functionals representing the degrees of freedom

defined in the following. The first group of degrees of freedom is associated to the set of element facets $\mathcal{F}_h(T)$. We define for each $F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$,

$$\Phi^F(\tau) := \left\{ \int_F \tau_{nt} \cdot r \, \mathrm{d}s : \ r \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1}) \right\}.$$
(5.23)

The next group is associated to the interior of the element T and given by

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{D}}^{T}(\tau) := \left\{ \int_{T} \tau : F_{T} \hat{\eta} F_{T}^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}x : \ \hat{\eta} \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^{k}(\hat{T}) \right\}.$$
(5.24)

As $\operatorname{tr}(F_T \hat{\eta} F_T^{-1}) = 0$, for $\eta \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(\hat{T})$, every functional in $\Phi_{\mathbb{D}}^T$ tests a function τ only with a trace free bubble. Thus, in order to also test the matrix trace we further define the degrees of freedom

$$\Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}^T(\tau) := \left\{ \int_T \operatorname{tr}(\tau) : \hat{\mu} \, \mathrm{d}x : \ \hat{\mu} \in \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}) \right\}.$$
(5.25)

All together, we define the set

$$\Phi(T) := \Phi_{\mathbb{D}}^T \cup \Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}^T \cup \{\Phi^F : F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)\},$$
(5.26)

and proceed to prove that this set of degrees of freedom is unisolvent and that the number of degrees of freedom matches the dimension of $\Xi^k(T)$.

Theorem 14. The triple $(T, \Xi^k(T), \Phi(T))$ defines a finite element.

Proof. To prove the unisolvency of the degrees of freedom, consider a $\tau_h \in \Xi^k(T)$ satisfying $\phi(\tau_h) = 0$ for all $\phi \in \Phi(T)$. In the following we show that this implies that $\tau_h = 0$ proving unisolvency. As $(\tau_h)_{nt} \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1})$, the facet degrees of freedom $\phi(\tau_h) = 0$ imply that $\tau_h \in \{\sigma \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \sigma_{nt} = 0 \text{ on } \partial T\}$. Next, as $\operatorname{tr}(\tau_h) \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R})$ the second group Φ_{Id}^T of the interior degrees of freedom $\phi(\tau_h) = 0$, implies that τ_h is trace free, thus $\tau_h \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T)$. Finally, the first group of the interior degrees of freedom then yields

$$0 = \int_{T} \tau_{h} : F_{T} \hat{\eta} F_{T}^{-1} = \int_{T} F_{T}^{T} \tau_{h} F_{T}^{-T} : \hat{\eta} = \int_{T} (\det F_{T})^{-1} \mathcal{M}^{-1}(\tau_{h}) : \hat{\eta} = \int_{\hat{T}} \mathcal{M}^{-1}(\tau_{h}) : \hat{\eta}$$

for all $\hat{\eta} \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(\hat{T})$. By lemma 16 we have that $\mathcal{M}^{-1}(\tau_h)$ is in $\mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(\hat{T})$, yielding $\mathcal{M}^{-1}(\tau_h) = 0$ and $\tau_h = 0$.

It only remains to prove that the dimensions match. The dimension of $\Xi^k(T)$ is given by dim $\mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ (which equals $d^d \dim \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R})$). Using lemma 15 to count the number of degrees of freedom in $\Phi(T)$, we see in two dimensions

$$\begin{split} \#\Phi(T) &= \#\Phi_{\mathbb{D}}^{T} + \#\Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}^{T} + \#\{\Phi^{F}: F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}(T)\} \\ &= \frac{3}{2}k(k+1) + \frac{1}{2}(k+1)(k+2) + 3(k+1) \\ &= \frac{3}{2}(k+1)(k+2) + \frac{1}{2}(k+1)(k+2) = 4\dim\mathbb{P}^{k}(T,\mathbb{R}). \end{split}$$

With the same argument in three dimensions we conclude the proof.
As mentioned in the beginning of this chapter, the space $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ and similarly also the space $\Xi^k(T)$ allow a natural splitting into two parts, see equation (5.15). To this end we define the spaces $\Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(T) = \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{D})$ and $\Xi^k_{\mathrm{Id}}(T) = \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathrm{Id})$. The construction of the above degrees of freedoms allows us to define finite elements for each of the subsets separately.

Lemma 17. The triple $(T, \Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^k(T), \Phi_{\mathbb{D}}(T) \cup \{\Phi^F : F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)\})$ and $(T, \Xi_{\mathrm{Id}}^k(T), \Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}(T))$ define a finite element, and

$$\dim \Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(T) = (d^d - 1) \dim \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}).$$
(5.27)

Proof. The proofs follow the same steps as the proof of Theorem 14.

We conclude this section by defining another set of unisolvent linear functionals for the space $\Xi^k(T)$, used to define an interpolation operator for the stress space in section 6.3.1. To this end we define the degrees of freedom associated to the interior of T by

$$\tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^{T}(\tau) := \left\{ \int_{T} \tau : F_{T} \hat{\eta} F_{T}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}x : \ \hat{\eta} \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(\hat{T}, \mathbb{D}) \right\}.$$
(5.28)

In contrast to $\Phi_{\mathbb{D}}^T$, the functionals in $\tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^T$ do not test with normal-tangential bubbles but with trace free polynomials of order k-1. Now we similarly define the sets

$$\tilde{\Phi}(T) := \tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^T \cup \Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}^T \cup \{\Phi^F : F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)\},$$
(5.29)

$$\tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}(T) := \tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^T \cup \{ \Phi^F : F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T) \}.$$
(5.30)

Theorem 15. The set $\tilde{\Phi}(T)$ is unisolvent for the space $\Xi^k(T)$. The set $\tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}(T)$ is unisolvent for $\Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(T)$.

Proof. To prove the unisolvency of the degrees of freedom we again consider a $\tau_h \in \Xi^k(T)$ satisfying $\phi(\tau_h) = 0$ for all $\phi \in \tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^T \cup \Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}^T \cup \{\Phi^F : F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)\}$. Similar as in the proof of theorem 14, the facet and the second group of interior degrees of freedoms show that $\tau_h \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T)$. Now, lemma 15 yields that τ_h can be written as

$$\tau_h = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} \mu_i \lambda_i S^i, \text{ for } d = 2, \text{ and } \tau_h = \sum_{q=0}^1 \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} \mu_i^q \lambda_i S_q^i, \text{ for } d = 3,$$

with polynomials $\mu_i, \mu_i^0, \mu_i^1 \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T)$. According to the definition of the element degress of freedom $\tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^T$ we can choose $F\hat{\eta}F^{-1} = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} \mu_i S^i$ and $F\hat{\eta}F^{-1} = \sum_{q=0}^1 \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}}(T)} \mu_i^q S^i_q$ for d = 2 and 3, respectively. As we assume that the degrees of freedom applied on τ_h vanish, we have in two dimensions

$$\int_T \sum_{i \in \mathcal{V}} \mu_i \lambda_i S^i : \sum_{i \in \mathcal{V}} \mu_i S^i \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_T \lambda_i \Big| \sum_{i \in \mathcal{V}} \mu_i S^i \Big|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

yielding $\mu_i = 0$, and thus $\tau_h = 0$. In three dimensions the argument is the same. We conclude the proof with a simple counting argument similar as in the proof of theorem 14.

5.3.4 Arbitrary order shape basis functions

Using the lowest order basis functions defined in section 5.3.1 we can write down shape functions on an element T using barycentric coordinates. In two dimensions we immediately see that the set

$$\lambda_{i+1}^{\alpha_1}\lambda_{i+2}^{\alpha_2}S^i, \qquad \lambda_i^{\beta_0}\lambda_{i+1}^{\beta_1}\lambda_{i+2}^{\beta_2}(\lambda_i S^i), \qquad \lambda_i^{\gamma_0}\lambda_{i+1}^{\gamma_1}\lambda_{i+2}^{\gamma_2} \mathrm{Id},$$
(5.31)

for all $i \in \mathcal{V}$, and all multi-indices (α_1, α_2) , $(\beta_0, \beta_1, \beta_2)$ and $(\gamma_0, \gamma_1, \gamma_2)$, with $\alpha_i \ge 0$, $\beta_i \ge 0$, $\gamma_i \ge 0$ having length $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 = k$ and $\beta_0 + \beta_1 + \beta_2 = k - 1$, form a basis for $\Xi^k(T)$. Similarly, when T is a tetrahedron, the following set is a basis for $\Xi_k(T)$:

$$\lambda_{i+1}^{\alpha_1}\lambda_{i+2}^{\alpha_2}\lambda_{i+3}^{\alpha_3}S_q^i, \qquad \lambda_i^{\beta_0}\lambda_{i+1}^{\beta_1}\lambda_{i+2}^{\beta_2}\lambda_{i+3}^{\beta_3}(\lambda_i S_q^i), \qquad \lambda_i^{\gamma_0}\lambda_{i+1}^{\gamma_1}\lambda_{i+2}^{\gamma_2}\lambda_{i+3}^{\gamma_3}\mathrm{Id}, \tag{5.32}$$

for all $i \in \mathcal{V}$, q = 0, 1, and all multi-indices $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$, $(\beta_0, \beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3)$ and $(\gamma_0, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3)$, with $\alpha_i \ge 0$, $\beta_i \ge 0$ $\gamma_i \ge 0$ having length $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + \gamma_3 = k$, and $\beta_1 + \beta_2 + \beta_3 = k - 1$. Note that if the last set of basis functions is removed, then the resulting set of functions forms a basis for $\Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(T)$.

Although it is easy to prove that the functions defined by equation (5.31) or (5.32) are linearly independent, we opt to do so for another set of reference element shape functions. Using a Dubiner basis instead of barycentric monomials, the ensuing construction produces better conditioned matrices. For a better understanding of this topic we refer the reader for example to the works [52, 115].

In the following we are going to define arbitrary high order shape basis functions on the reference element. In section 5.3.1 we gave an explicit construction of the lowest order basis functions by equations (5.16) and (5.17). Using these definitions on the reference element (including a scaling with a proper constant) we derive for d = 2 the matrices given by

$$\hat{S}^{0} := \sqrt{2} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \hat{S}^{1} := \begin{pmatrix} 0.5 & 0 \\ 1 & -0.5 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \hat{S}^{2} := \begin{pmatrix} 0.5 & -1 \\ 0 & -0.5 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.33)$$

and for d = 3 the matrices

_ . .

$$\hat{S}_{0}^{0} = \sqrt{6} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-2}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \hat{S}_{0}^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 1 & \frac{-2}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \hat{S}_{0}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-2}{3} & 1 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \hat{S}_{0}^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-2}{3} & 0 & 1\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \hat{S}_{1}^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 1 & 0 & \frac{-2}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \hat{S}_{1}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 1 & \frac{-2}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \hat{S}_{1}^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.34)

Note that we made the particular choice of the numbering of the vertices of \hat{T} and the corresponding tangential vectors as it is given in section 5.1. With the same techniques as in lemma 14, one easily sees that

$$\hat{t}_{j}^{T} \hat{S}^{i} \hat{n}_{j} = \delta_{ij} \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{t}_{j}^{T} \lambda_{i} \hat{S}^{i} \hat{n}_{j} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i, j = 0, 1, 2, \hat{t}_{jl}^{T} \hat{S}_{q}^{i} \hat{n}_{j} = \delta_{ij} \delta_{ql} \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{t}_{jl}^{T} \lambda_{i} \hat{S}_{q}^{i} \hat{n}_{j} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i, j = 0, 1, 2, 3 \quad \text{and} \quad q, l = 0, 1,$$

$$(5.35)$$

and that $\{\hat{S}^i : i = 0, 1, 2\}$ and $\{\hat{S}^i_q : i = 0, 1, 2, 3; q = 0, 1\}$ are basis for \mathbb{D} in two and three dimensions, respectively. Based on these constant matrices and the identity matrix we now construct shape functions for the local stress space $\Xi^k(\hat{T})$.

Using the definition of the Dubiner basis in two dimensions, see equation (5.6), we define a local basis by

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Psi}_{F}^{k} &:= \{ \hat{S}^{j} \hat{r}_{i0}(\lambda_{j+1}, \lambda_{j+2}) : j = 0, 1, 2 \text{ and } 0 \le i \le k \}, \\ \hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^{k} &:= \{ \lambda_{j} \hat{S}^{j} \hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_{0}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}) : j = 0, 1, 2 \text{ and } 0 \le i + l \le k - 1 \}, \\ \hat{\Psi}_{\mathrm{Id}}^{k} &:= \{ \mathrm{Id} \hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_{0}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}) : 0 \le i + l \le k \}, \end{split}$$

and similar in three dimensions, using the definition (5.7), we define

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Psi}_{F}^{k} &:= \{ \hat{S}_{q}^{j} \hat{r}_{il0}(\lambda_{j+1}, \lambda_{j+2}, \lambda_{j+3}) : j = 0, 1, 2, 3 \text{ and } q = 0, 1 \text{ and } 0 \le i+l \le k \}, \\ \hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^{k} &:= \{ \lambda_{j} \hat{S}_{q}^{j} \hat{r}_{ilg}(\lambda_{0}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}, \lambda_{3}) : j = 0, 1, 2, 3 \text{ and } q = 0, 1 \text{ and } 0 \le i+l+g \le k-1 \}, \\ \hat{\Psi}_{\mathrm{Id}}^{k} &:= \{ \mathrm{Id} \hat{r}_{ilg}(\lambda_{0}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}, \lambda_{3}) : 0 \le i+l+g \le k \}. \end{split}$$

Theorem 16. The set of functions $\{\hat{\Psi}_F^k \cup \hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^k \cup \hat{\Psi}_{\mathrm{Id}}^k\}$ is a basis for $\Xi^k(\hat{T})$, and $\{\hat{\Psi}_F^k \cup \hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^k\}$ is a basis for $\Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^k(\hat{T})$.

Proof. We start with the two-dimensional case. First note that the functions $\lambda_i \hat{S}^i$ with i = 0, 1, 2 are linearly independent. This follows with elementary calculations and using the property that $(\hat{S}^i)_{nt}$ vanishes also on lines parallel to F_j with $j \neq i$. Now let $\alpha_i^j \in \mathbb{R}, \beta_{il}^j \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\gamma_{il} \in \mathbb{R}$ be arbitrary coefficients and define $\hat{S}_i^j := \hat{S}^j \hat{r}_{i0}(\lambda_{j+1}, \lambda_{j+2}), \hat{B}_{il}^j := \lambda_j \hat{S}^j \hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_0, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)$, and $\hat{D}_{il} := \mathrm{Id}\hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_0, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)$. We assume that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \alpha_{i}^{j} \hat{S}_{i}^{j} + \sum_{j=0}^{2} \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \sum_{l=i}^{k-1} \beta_{il}^{j} \hat{B}_{il}^{j} + \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{l=i}^{k} \gamma_{il} \hat{D}_{il} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and show that this induces that all coefficients are equal to zero proving linear independency of the basis functions. Let \hat{F}_g with g = 0, 1, 2 be an arbitrary reference face. Due to (5.35) and (4.2) there holds

$$\hat{t}_{g}^{\mathrm{T}} \Big(\sum_{j=0}^{2} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \alpha_{i}^{j} \hat{S}_{i}^{j} + \sum_{j=0}^{2} \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \sum_{l=i}^{k-1} \beta_{il}^{j} \hat{B}_{il}^{j} + \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{l=i}^{k} \gamma_{il} \hat{D}_{il} \Big) \hat{n}_{g}$$

$$= \hat{t}_{g}^{\mathrm{T}} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{k} \alpha_{i}^{g} \hat{S}_{i}^{g} \right) \hat{n}_{g} = \hat{t}_{g}^{\mathrm{T}} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{k} \alpha_{i}^{g} \hat{S}^{g} \hat{r}_{i0} (\lambda_{g+1}, \lambda_{g+2}) \right) \hat{n}_{g} = 0.$$

As $\hat{r}_{i0}(\lambda_{g+1}, \lambda_{g+2})$ is a polynomial basis on \hat{F}_g , and as \hat{S}^g , \hat{n}_g and \hat{t}_g are constant, it follows that all coefficients α_i^g have to be zero. As g was arbitrary we conclude $\alpha_i^j = 0$ for j = 0, 1, 2 and $0 \le i \le k$.

Next, as $tr(\lambda_i \hat{S}^i = 0)$, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sum_{j=0}^{2}\sum_{i=0}^{k-1}\sum_{l=i}^{k-1}\beta_{il}^{j}\hat{B}_{il}^{j} + \sum_{i=0}^{k}\sum_{l=i}^{k}\gamma_{il}\hat{D}_{il}) = \operatorname{tr}(\sum_{i=0}^{k}\sum_{l=i}^{k}\gamma_{il}\hat{D}_{il}) = \sum_{i=0}^{k}\sum_{l=i}^{k}\gamma_{il}\hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_{0},\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}),$$

and thus with the same arguments as before also $\gamma_{il} = 0$ for $0 \le i + l \le k$.

Finally, as the functions $\lambda_i \hat{S}^i$ are linearly independent, we have for each g = 0, 1, 2 (due to the assumption at the beginning)

$$\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \sum_{l=i}^{k-1} \beta_{il}^g \hat{B}_{il}^g = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \sum_{l=i}^{k-1} \beta_{il}^g \hat{r}_{il} \lambda_g \hat{S}^g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

As $\hat{r}_{il}\lambda_g$ is a basis for $\lambda_g \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(\hat{T})$, and the last equation holds true for all points in \hat{T} , we conclude $\beta_{il}^g = 0$ for $0 \leq i + l \leq k - 1$. As g was arbitrary, this yields that all coefficients are equal to zero. With a simple counting argument similar as in the proof of theorem 14, and with the same steps in the three dimensional case the first statement of the theorem is proven.

For the second statement note that due to $\operatorname{tr}(S^i) = 0$ all shape functions in $\{\hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^k \cup \hat{\Psi}_F^k\}$ are trace free and are further matrix-valued polynomials up to order k. Then the proof follows the same lines as above.

Remark 2. In the work [69] a slightly different space with respect to the polynomial orders was defined. Due to the construction of the shape functions and the degrees of freedom in theorem 14 it is possible to combine different orders for the different groups such that same spaces as in [69] can be constructed. To this end we define

$$\Xi^{k,r,s}(T) := \{ \sigma \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \operatorname{tr}(\sigma) \in \mathbb{P}^r(T, \mathbb{R}), \sigma_{nt} \in \mathbb{P}^s(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1}) \text{ for all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T) \}.$$
(5.36)

With the same arguments as above one shows that in two dimensions

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Psi}_{F}^{k} &:= \{ \hat{S}^{j} \hat{r}_{i0}(\lambda_{j+1}, \lambda_{j+2}) : j = 0, 1, 2 \text{ and } 0 \leq i \leq s \}, \\ \hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^{k} &:= \{ \lambda_{j} \hat{S}^{j} \hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_{0}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}) : j = 0, 1, 2 \text{ and } 0 \leq i + l \leq k - 1 \}, \\ \hat{\Psi}_{\mathrm{Id}}^{k} &:= \{ \mathrm{Id} \hat{r}_{il}(\lambda_{0}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2}) : 0 \leq i + l \leq r \}, \end{split}$$

is a basis for $\Xi^{k,r,s}(\widehat{T})$, and that the set of functionals

$$\Phi^{F,s}(\tau) := \left\{ \int_{F} \tau_{nt} \cdot r \, \mathrm{d}s : r \in \mathbb{P}^{s}(F, \mathbb{R}^{d-1}) \right\},$$

$$\Phi^{T,k}_{\mathbb{D}}(\tau) := \left\{ \int_{T} \tau : F_{T} \hat{\eta} F_{T}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}x : \hat{\eta} \in \mathbb{B}_{nt}^{k}(\hat{T}) \right\},$$

$$\Phi^{T,r}_{\mathrm{Id}}(\tau) := \left\{ \int_{T} \mathrm{tr}(\tau) : \hat{\mu} \, \mathrm{d}x : \hat{\mu} \in \mathbb{P}^{r}(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}) \right\},$$

is unisolvent for $\Xi^{k,r,s}(T)$. A similar observation can be made in three dimensions.

5.3.5 A global basis

Using the local basis on the reference triangle \hat{T} we can now simply define a global basis for the stress space $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$. This is done in the usual way. Using the mapping \mathcal{M} and a basis function $\hat{S} \in \{\hat{\Psi}_{\mathbb{D}}^k \cup \hat{\Psi}_{\mathrm{Id}}^k \cup \hat{\Psi}_F^k\}$ we define the restriction of a global shape function S (with support on a patch) on an arbitrary physical element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ by

$$S := \mathcal{M}(\hat{S})$$

Next, we identify all topological entities, vertices and faces of the physical element T with the corresponding entities of the global mesh. This identification is needed as faces and vertices coincide for adjacent physical elements. Note that the global orientation of the faces (and edges) plays an important role in order to assure (normal-tangential) continuity. This is a well known difficulty, and we refer for example to the work [118] for a detailed discussion regarding this topic. By this, we construct global basis functions which are, restricted on a physical element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$, always a mapped basis function of the basis defined on the reference element \hat{T} .

Further note that due to lemma 16 the resulting basis functions are normal-tangential continuous, thus $[\![S_{nt}]\!] = 0$. To see this, let ϕ_1 be the mapping of an arbitrary element T_1 , and let ϕ_2 be the mapping of an element T_2 such that $F = T_1 \cap T_2$. There exists a reference face $\hat{F} \subset \partial \hat{T}$ such that $F = \phi_1(\hat{F}) = \phi_1(\hat{F})$ (in the sense of a set) and $\phi_1|_{\hat{F}} = \phi_2|_{\hat{F}}$ (in the sense of equivalent functions). By this, and the same ideas for a reference edge \hat{E} in the three-dimensional case, the constant c in lemma 16 is the same for both mappings. In two dimensions we have the identity $S_{nt} = (t^T S_n)t$, thus lemma 16 implies normal-tangential continuity of S because S was a mapped basis function of the reference element. In three dimensions S_{nt} is a tangent vector in F. Each tangent vector can be represented as a linear combination of two arbitrary edge tangent vectors $t_i \subset \partial F$. By lemma 16, we deduce that the scalar values $t_i^T S_n$ are preserved, thus again, we have normal-tangential continuity. Taking all functions in $\{\hat{\Psi}^k_{\mathbb{D}} \cup \hat{\Psi}^k_{\mathrm{Id}} \cup \hat{\Psi}^k_F\}$ and mapping them to each element separately results in a basis for $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$. In the same manner one also maps functions of a global shape function S to define a basis for $\Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(\mathcal{T}_h)$.

6 The MCS method

This chapter is dedicated to the numerical approximation of the solution of the system (4.26), and is structured as follows: At the beginning we focus on the derivation of a new variational formulation, which is based on discrete finite dimensional spaces. These spaces are chosen such that they fit to the formulation (4.26). Afterwards, we present two different versions of a stability analysis. In a first setting we show solvability using a discrete DG-like H^1 -norm for the velocity space and a L^2 -norm for the stress space. Obviously, this choice is motivated by the primal velocity-pressure formulation of the Stokes equations, where the velocity is an element of $H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$. The second version then discusses well-posedness in *natural* norms. In this case, the velocity is measured in the H(div)-norm, which fits to the continuous setting given by (4.26). Similarly, we then also choose a discrete stress norm that fits to the space $H(\text{curl div}, \Omega)$. We conclude the chapter with several error estimates proving optimal convergence of the finite element error.

For the discrete setting we allow all different kinds of boundary conditions as it is given in equation (4.6). To this end we assume that the boundary is divided according to (4.1).

6.1 A new variational formulation

We begin with the definition of the discrete spaces. For the ease of representation we assume that the essential boundary conditions $g_{N,t}$ and $g_{D,n}$ lie in the trace spaces of the corresponding polynomial spaces as defined below. Now, let $k \ge 1$, and define

$$\Sigma_h := \Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^k(\mathcal{T}_h) = \{ \tau_h \in \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D}) : \llbracket (\tau_h)_{nt} \rrbracket = 0 \text{ for all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}} \cup \Gamma_{N,t} \},$$
(6.1)
$$V_h := \mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^k(\mathcal{T}_h) \cap V,$$
(6.2)

$$v_h := \mathcal{N} I \quad (I_h) \mapsto v,$$

and for given boundary conditions $g_{D,n}$ and $g_{N,t}$ the spaces

$$\Sigma_{h,N} := \{ \tau_h \in \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D}) : [\![(\tau_h)_{nt}]\!] = 0 \text{ for all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}}, (\tau_h)_{nt} = g_{N,t} \text{ on } \Gamma_{N,t} \},\$$
$$V_{h,D} := \{ v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h) : v_n = g_{D,n} \text{ on } \Gamma_{D,n} \}.$$

The pressure space is given by

$$Q_h := \begin{cases} \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}) \cap L^2_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) & \text{if } \Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma, \\ \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}) & \text{else}. \end{cases}$$
(6.3)

Note that the discrete stress space only uses the subset of trace free polynomials, see equation (5.15). As discussed in chapter 5, the velocity and the pressure spaces are chosen to be conforming, but the stress space is slightly non-conforming $\sigma_h \not\subset H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. Still, all elements in the discrete stress space are square integrable functions, thus we have the

conformity $\Sigma_h \subset L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$. With these findings we realize that the bilinear forms defined in the continuous setting by equations (4.27) and (4.28) can also be used in the discrete setting. We have

$$a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma_h : \tau_h \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \text{and} \quad b_1(u_h, q_h) = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u_h) q_h \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

for all functions $\sigma_h, \tau_h \in \Sigma_h$ and $u_h \in V_h, q_h \in Q_h$.

Handling the terms with the divergence of stress variables we can not proceed in the same way. To this end we define the discrete bilinear form

$$b_{2h} : \{ \tau \in H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : [\![\tau_{nt}]\!] = 0 \} \times \{ v \in H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d) : [\![v_n]\!] = 0 \} \to \mathbb{R}, b_{2h}(\tau, v) := \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\tau) \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F [\![\tau_{nn}]\!] v_n \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$

$$(6.4)$$

This definition is motivated by identity (5.12) of theorem 13. Moreover, using an integration by parts argument, we find the equivalent representation

$$b_{2h}(\tau, v) = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau : \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F \tau_{nt} \cdot \llbracket v_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s, \tag{6.5}$$

since $\llbracket \tau_{nt} \rrbracket = 0$ and $\llbracket v_n \rrbracket = 0$. Using above definitions, and assuming enough regularity of the right hand side, the discrete counterpart of the weak form (4.26) is given by the (MCS) method that reads as: Find $(\sigma_h, u_h, p_h) \in \Sigma_{h,N} \times V_{h,D} \times Q_h$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h, u_h) = (g_{D,t}, (\tau_h)_{nt})_{\Gamma_{D,t}} & \text{for all } \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, \\ b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) + b_1(v_h, p_h) = -(f, v_h)_{\Omega} + (g_{N,n}, (v_h)_n)_{\Gamma_{N,n}} & \text{for all } v_h \in V_h, \\ b_1(u_h, q_h) = 0 & \text{for all } q_h \in Q_h. \end{cases}$$
(6.6)

As discussed in section 5.2, the velocity and the pressure space fulfill the property $\operatorname{div}(V_h) = Q_h$. Therefore, any weakly divergence-free velocity field is also strongly divergence free:

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u_h) q_h \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, \ \forall q_h \in Q_h \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{div}(u_h) = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$
(6.7)

Thus, the velocity solution u_h of the system (6.6) is exactly divergence free.

Remark 3. Similarly as in the infinite dimensional setting, system (6.6) is solved using a homogenization process.

6.2 Discrete inf-sup stability

In this section we discuss discrete inf-sup stability of the MCS method (6.6). Although we only consider the case of homogeneous boundary conditions,

$$g_{D,n} = g_{D,t} = g_{N,t} = g_{N,n} = 0, (6.8)$$

we want to mention that with the usual techniques all results can be extended also to the non-homogeneous case. The stability analysis that we present in this section is based on norms that might seem unnatural with respect to the continuous setting of problem (4.26). To this end we define

$$\begin{aligned} ||\tau_{h}||_{\Sigma_{h}}^{2} &:= ||\tau_{h}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = ||\operatorname{dev}(\tau_{h})||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}, & \tau_{h} \in \Sigma_{h}, \\ ||v_{h}||_{V_{h}}^{2} &:= ||v_{h}||_{1,h}^{2} := \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} ||\nabla v_{h}||_{T}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| \llbracket (v_{h})_{t} \rrbracket \|_{F}^{2}, & v_{h} \in V_{h}, \\ ||q_{h}||_{Q_{h}}^{2} &:= ||q_{h}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}, & q_{h} \in Q_{h}. \end{aligned}$$

This choice is motivated by the primal velocity-pressure formulation of the Stokes system, hence with respect to the variational formulation given by (4.4). Note that the L^2 -like norm for the space Σ_h is also related to an H^1 -like norm of the velocity since we expect σ_h to be an approximation of $\nu \nabla u$. The norm for the velocity space is the same as it occurs in discontinuos Galerkin settings, see for example in [7, 67, 102], and for flow problems in [113, 108, 54, 29, 31, 30] and [78, 76, 77].

Although the analysis that we present in this section follows very similar lines as the results given in [69], there are some crucial differences. In [69] the velocity space was chosen as the conforming polynomial space $\mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_h)$. In order to show discrete inf-sup stability, the authors used a stress space that was locally enriched with normal-tangential bubbles, thus using the notation of this thesis given by equation (5.36), the authors used the space $\Xi^{k+1,0,k}(\mathcal{T}_h)$. Note that a similar choice of the velocity space as in this thesis was also made in the work [49]. Therein, the authors presented a hybrid DG method for solving the Brinkman problem, which is based on the work of Cockburn et al. [32]. Their discretization results in a stress approximation with a similar normal-tangential continuity and can be seen as a hybridized version of the MCS method. Note that the choice $\mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ leads to a less accurate velocity approximation (compared to an approximation with \mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}), thus in order to retain the optimal convergence order of the velocity (measured in a discrete H^1 -norm) a local element-wise post processing has to be introduced. With the reconstruction operators introduced in [76, 77], this post processing can be done retaining the exact divergence-free property.

Before we start, we show several norm equivalences that we shall use within this thesis.

6.2.1 Norm equivalences

For the discrete analysis we are going to use several norm equivalences proven in the following. Due to quasi-uniformity of the triangulation \mathcal{T}_h these results are all based on standard scaling arguments.

Lemma 18. For any $\hat{\tau} \in \Xi^k_{\mathbb{D}}(\hat{T})$, letting $\tau = \mathcal{M}(\hat{\tau})$, we have

$$h^{d} \|\tau_{h}\|_{T}^{2} \sim \|\hat{\tau}_{h}\|_{\hat{T}}^{2}, \tag{6.9}$$

and on any $F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$

$$h^{d+1} \left\| t^T \tau_h n \right\|_F^2 \sim \left\| \hat{t}^T \hat{\tau}_h \hat{n} \right\|_{\hat{F}}^2.$$
(6.10)

Proof. This follows with a scaling argument, lemma 16, and equations (5.1) and (5.2). Note that a similar scaling result is presented in the work [112]. \Box

Lemma 19. For all $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$,

$$||\tau_h||_{\Sigma_h}^2 \sim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} ||\operatorname{dev}(\tau_h)||_T^2 + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \left\| (\tau_h)_{nt} \right\|_F^2$$

Proof. Using norm equivalence for finite dimensional spaces on the reference element \widehat{T} , we have for any face $\widehat{F} \in \mathcal{F}_{\widehat{T}}$ and for all functions and $\widehat{\tau} \in \Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^k(\widehat{T})$

$$\|\hat{t}^{\mathrm{T}}\hat{\tau}_h\hat{n}\|_{\hat{F}}^2 \lesssim \|\hat{\tau}_h\|_{\hat{T}}^2$$

Due to (6.10) and lemma 18, this yields

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \left\| (\tau_h)_{nt} \right\|_F^2 \lesssim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \| \tau_h \|_T^2, \quad \text{ for all } \tau_h \in \Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^k(T).$$

This proves one side of the stated equivalence. The other side is obvious.

Lemma 20. For all $v_h \in V_h$ there holds

$$||v_{h}||_{V_{h}}^{2} \sim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} ||\nabla v_{h}||_{T}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \left\| \Pi_{F}^{0} [\![(v_{h})_{t}]\!] \right\|_{F}^{2}$$

Proof. One side of the equivalence is obvious from the continuity of Π_F^0 . For the other direction first note that

$$||v_{h}||_{V_{h}}^{2} \leq \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} ||\nabla v_{h}||_{T}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{2}{h} \left\| \Pi_{F}^{0} \llbracket (v_{h})_{t} \rrbracket \right\|_{F}^{2} + \frac{2}{h} \left\| \llbracket (v_{h})_{t} \rrbracket - \Pi_{F}^{0} \llbracket (v_{h})_{t} \rrbracket \right\|_{F}^{2}.$$
(6.11)

Now, on each facet $F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$, using a Poincaré type inequality on the boundary and an inverse inequality for polynomials, see [117], we get the standard estimate

$$\left\| (v_h)_t - \Pi_F^0(v_h)_t \right\|_F \lesssim h \| \nabla_t v_h \|_F \lesssim h^{1/2} \| \nabla v_h \|_T,$$

and the estimate is proven.

Lemma 21. Let $v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$, and $\operatorname{div}(v_h) = 0$. Then v_h is in $\mathcal{BDM}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ and has the local representation

$$v_h|_T = a_T$$
 with $a_T \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. By the definition of the Raviart-Thomas space $\mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ there exist for each v_h and for each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ a function $a_T \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $b_T \in \mathbb{P}^k_{\text{hom}}(T, \mathbb{R})$ such that the restriction on T is given by $v_h|_T = a_T + xb_T$. Now assume $b_T \neq 0$, then we have as $\operatorname{div}(v_h) = 0$ the identity

$$\operatorname{div}(b_T x) = db_T + \nabla b_T x = \operatorname{div}(a_T).$$

As $\operatorname{div}(a_T) \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T, \mathbb{R})$ and $b_T \in \mathbb{P}^k_{\operatorname{hom}}(T, \mathbb{R})$, this leads to a contradiction, and thus $b_T = 0$, and $v_h|_T = a_T$. As we further have $v_h \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$, this yields $v_h \in \mathcal{BDM}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$. \Box

Lemma 22. For all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and $v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(T)$ there holds the equivalence

$$\|\nabla v_h\|_T^2 \sim \|\Pi_T^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)]\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2,$$

and the estimate

$$\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1})\nabla v_h\|_T + \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}}\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^k)(v_h)_t\|_{\partial T} \lesssim \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T.$$

Proof. One side of the equivalence is obvious by the continuity of the Π_T^{k-1} . For the other direction let $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ be arbitrary and define $\hat{v}_h = \mathcal{P}^{-1}(v_h|_T)$. We solve the following problem: Find $\hat{b} \in \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\int_{\hat{T}} \hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{x}\hat{b}) \hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{x}\hat{q}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\hat{T}} \hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{v}_h) \hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{x}\hat{q}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \hat{q} \in \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}).$$

Note that this problem is solvable by the Lax-Milgram theorem 5, as there holds the norm equivalence

$$\|\hat{\nabla}(\hat{q}\hat{x})\| \sim \|\hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{q}\hat{x})\|,$$

see for example in the appendix of the work [79] (also known as Euler identity). Since $\hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{x}\mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T},\mathbb{R})) = \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T},\mathbb{R})$, the solution fulfills the property $\hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{x}\hat{b}) = \hat{\operatorname{div}}(\hat{v}_h)$. Now set $w_h := \mathcal{P}(\hat{x}\hat{b})$. Due to the properties of the Piola mapping, the function w_h is in $\mathcal{RT}^k(T)$ and $\operatorname{div}(w_h) = \operatorname{div}(v_h)$. Further a standard scaling argument shows that

$$\|\nabla w_h\|_T \sim \|\operatorname{div}(w_h)\|_T.$$
 (6.12)

Using lemma 21, the function v_h can now be written as $v_h = a + w_h$, with $a \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ (as div $(w_h - v_h) = 0$). This then yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla v_h\|_T &= \|\nabla (a+w_h)\|_T \le \|\operatorname{dev}(\nabla a)\|_T + \|\operatorname{dev}(\nabla w_h)\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\le \|\operatorname{dev}(\nabla a)\|_T + \|\nabla w_h\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\lesssim \|\operatorname{dev}(\nabla a)\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &= \|\Pi_T^{k-1}\operatorname{dev}(\nabla a)\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T. \end{aligned}$$

As $a = v_h - w_h$ we conclude

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla v_h\|_T &\lesssim \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T + \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla w_h)\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\lesssim \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T + \|\nabla w_h\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\lesssim \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T. \end{aligned}$$

It remains to show the second statement. Using the local representation of v_h the triangle inequality yields

$$\| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1}) \nabla v_h \|_T \le \| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1}) \nabla a \|_T + \| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1}) \nabla w_h \|_T.$$

As $a \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$, the first term vanishes, and thus by the findings above and the continuity of Π_T^{k-1} we have

$$\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1})\nabla v_h\|_T \le \|\nabla w_h\|_T \sim \|\operatorname{div}(w_h)\|_T = \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T.$$

On each facet $F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)$ with the same steps as above we also see that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} \| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^k) (v_h)_t \|_F \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} \| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^k) (w_h)_t \|_F,$$

and similar as in the proof of lemma 20, an inverse inequality for polynomials, see [117], yields

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} \| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^k)(v_h)_t \|_F \lesssim \sqrt{h} \| \nabla_t w_h \|_F \lesssim \| \nabla w_h \|_T \sim \| \operatorname{div}(w_h) \|_T = \| \operatorname{div}(v_h) \|_T.$$

6.2.2 Stability analysis in a discrete *H*¹-norm

To prove discrete inf-sup stability we are aiming to use Brezzi's theorem 6. To this end we prove all the conditions needed in the following.

Lemma 23 (Continuity of a, b_1 and b_{2h}). The bilinear forms a, b_1 and b_{2h} are continuous:

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} ||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} ||\tau_h||_{\Sigma_h} & \text{for all } \sigma_h, \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, \\ b_1(v_h, p_h) \lesssim ||v_h||_{V_h} ||p_h||_{Q_h} & \text{for all } v_h \in V_h, p_h \in Q_h, \\ b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) \lesssim ||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} ||v_h||_{V_h} & \text{for all } \sigma_h \in \Sigma_h, v_h \in V_h. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The continuity for the bilinear forms a and b_1 follows with the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. For b_{2h} we have, using representation (6.5), that

$$b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \sigma_h : \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (\sigma_h)_{nt} \cdot \left[\!\!\left[(v_h)_t\right]\!\!\right] \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Since $(\sigma_h)_{nt} = (\operatorname{dev}(\sigma_h))_{nt}$, we conclude the proof by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality including a scaling with \sqrt{h}/\sqrt{h} for the facet integral and lemma 19.

Lemma 24 (Coercivity of a on the kernel). Let $K_{b_h} := \{(\tau_h, q_h) \in \Sigma_h \times Q_h : b_1(v_h, q_h) + b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) = 0$ for all $v_h \in V_h\}$. For all $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h}$ there holds the estimate

$$\frac{1}{\nu} \big(||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p_h||_{Q_h} \big)^2 \lesssim a(\sigma_h, \sigma_h).$$

Proof. Let $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h}$ be arbitrary. As $\nu^{-1} ||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h}^2 = a(\sigma_h, \sigma_h)$, it is sufficient to bound only the norm of p_h by $||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h}$. Using the discrete Stokes-LBB of a velocity-pressure formulation with V_h and Q_h , we find for any $p_h \in Q_h$ a discrete velocity $v_h \in V_h$ such that

$$\operatorname{div}(v_h) = p_h, \quad \text{and} \quad ||v_h||_{V_h} \lesssim ||p_h||_{Q_h}.$$
 (6.13)

In the case of $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$ this can be found e.g. in [11] and [78]. For the other case one uses the infinite dimensional Stokes-LBB, see lemma 4.9 in [41], and the Fortin interpolator constructed in [78]. As $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h}$, this yields

$$2||p_h||_{Q_h}^2 = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T p_h p_h \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(v_h) p_h \, \mathrm{d}x = b_1(v_h, p_h). = -b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h).$$

Using representation (6.5), norm equivalence lemma 19 and a Cauchy-Schwarz argument then further yields

$$2||p_h||_{Q_h}^2 = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \sigma_h : \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (\sigma_h)_{nt} \cdot \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s \le \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma_h} \|v_h\|_{V_h},$$

thus by (6.13) we conclude the proof.

Next, we proceed to verify the discrete LBB-condition (see theorem 17 below). To this end we define the subspace of divergence free velocities $V_h^0 := \{w_h \in V_h : \operatorname{div}(w_h) = 0\}$, and the norm

$$\|v_h\|_{1,\Pi,h} := \left(\sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \left\|\Pi_F^0[\![(v_h)_t]\!]\|_F^2\right)^{1/2}$$

As $\|\nabla v_h\|_T^2 \sim \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2$ on any $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ (see lemma 22), we have together with lemma 20

$$||v_h||_{1,\Pi,h} \sim ||v_h||_{V_h} \quad \text{for all } v_h \in V_h^0.$$
 (6.14)

A first step towards proving the LBB-condition is the construction of a specific stress function τ_h , which only depends on $\Pi_T^{k-1} \text{dev}(\nabla v_h)$ for any $v_h \in V_h^0$. Using this τ_h we prove an LBB-condition for b_{2h} on V_h^0 , which is the content of the next lemma. As $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$ has a zero trace, we cannot in general control the divergence of a general $v_h \in V_h$ solely using such a τ_h . Therefore, to complete the proof of the full inf-sup condition (in the proof of theorem 17 below) we utilize an appropriate pressure test function as well.

Lemma 25. For any nonzero $v_h \in V_h$ there exists a nonzero stress function $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$ satisfying $b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h) \gtrsim \|v_h\|_{1,\Pi,h}^2$ and $\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h} \lesssim \|v_h\|_{1,\Pi,h}$. Equation (6.14) implies discrete inf-sup stability of b_{2h} on V_h^0 ,

$$\|v_h\|_{V_h} \lesssim \sup_{\tau_h \in \Sigma_h} \frac{b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h)}{\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h}} \quad \text{for all } v_h \in V_h^0.$$

Proof. Since the ideas are the same for d = 2 and 3, for ease of exposition, we give the details of the proof only in the two-dimensional case. Because of the decomposition of the degrees of freedom into face and interior degrees of freedom given by equation (5.23) and (5.24) (note that the set (5.25) is not used as $\Sigma_h = \Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$), we can decompose the stress space as

$$\Sigma_h = \Sigma_h^0 \oplus \Sigma_h^1,$$

where $\Sigma_h^0 = \bigoplus_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \mathbb{B}_{nt}^k(T)$ and Σ_h^1 is the span of facet shape functions. In particular, Σ_h^1 contains the lowest order shape functions S^F with the property that $S_{nt}^F \in n^{\perp}$ (thus in the tangent plane of F) and $||S_{nt}^F||_{l^2} = 1$ on the facet F and equals (0,0) on all other facets in \mathcal{F}_h . S^F can be explicitly written down by mapping (5.33) or by appropriately scaling (5.16). Given any $v_h \in V_h$, define

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_h^0 &:= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)} -(S^F : \Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)) \lambda_T^F S^F, \\ \tau_h^1 &:= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} (\Pi_F^0 \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket) S^F, \end{aligned}$$
(6.15)

where λ_T^F is the barycentric coordinate of T that vanishes on F. Note that τ_h^0 and τ_h^1 can also be defined using a projection that is based on the degrees of freedoms (5.24) and (5.23), respectively. By lemma 18 and (6.10), a scaling argument (like in lemma 19) shows that there is a mesh-independent C_1 such that

$$\|\tau_{h}^{1}\|_{\Sigma_{h}}^{2} \leq C_{1} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi_{F}^{0}[(v_{h})_{t}]\|_{F}^{2}.$$
(6.16)

A similar scaling argument also shows that

$$\|\tau_h^0\|_{\Sigma_h}^2 \lesssim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2.$$
(6.17)

By construction we have $(\tau_h^0)_{nt} = (0,0)$, which yields

$$\begin{split} b_{2h}(\tau_h^0, v_h) &= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} - \int_T \tau_h^0 : \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)} (S^F : \Pi_T^{k-1} \mathrm{dev}(\nabla v_h)) \lambda_T^F S^F : \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)} (S^F : \Pi_T^{k-1} \mathrm{dev}(\nabla v_h))^2 \lambda_T^F \, \mathrm{d}x \, . \end{split}$$

Since the functions S^F form a basis for \mathbb{D} , see lemma 14, and as the barycentric coordinate functions are greater than or equal to, $\lambda_T^F \ge 0$ on T, a scaling argument shows that

$$b_{2h}(\tau_h^0, v_h) \gtrsim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2.$$
(6.18)

We continue to define a linear combination to prove the results. To this end set $\tau_h = \gamma_0 \tau_h^0 + \gamma_1 \tau_h^1$, where $\gamma_0 > 0$ and $\gamma_1 > 0$ are constants to be chosen. Stability (6.18) yields

$$b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h) \gtrsim \gamma_0 \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 + \gamma_1 b_2(\tau_h^1, v_h)$$

By definition (6.15) we then further have

`

$$\begin{split} b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h) \\ \gtrsim \gamma_0 &\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 + \gamma_1 \left(\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} -\int_T \tau_h^1 : \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (\tau_h^1)_{nt} \cdot \llbracket(v_h)_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s \right) \\ = \gamma_0 &\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 - \gamma_1 &\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h^1 : \Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h) \, \mathrm{d}x + \gamma_1 &\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi_F^0 \llbracket(v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2. \end{split}$$

Applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for the second sum and using (6.16), we obtain

$$\begin{split} -\gamma_1 \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h^1 &: \Pi_T^{k-1} \mathrm{dev}(\nabla v_h) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\geq -\gamma_1 \|\tau_h^1\|_{\Sigma_h} \sqrt{\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \mathrm{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2} \\ &\gtrsim -\gamma_1 \sqrt{C_1 \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi_F^0 \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2} \sqrt{\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \mathrm{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2}, \end{split}$$

and thus by Young's inequality with $\delta > 0$ we get

$$b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h) \gtrsim \left(\gamma_0 - \frac{\gamma_1 \delta}{2}\right) \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 + \left(1 - \frac{C_1}{2\delta}\right) \frac{\gamma_1}{h} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \left\|\Pi_F^0[\![(v_h)_t]\!]\|_F^2.$$

Choosing $\delta = C_1$, $\gamma_1 = 1/\delta = 1/C_1$, and $\gamma_0 = 1$ yields

$$b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h) \gtrsim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h)\|_T^2 + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi_F^0[\![(v_h)_t]\!]\|_F^2.$$
(6.19a)

By (6.16) and (6.17) we further obtain

$$\|\tau_{h}\|_{\Sigma_{h}} \lesssim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} \|\Pi_{T}^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi_{F}^{0} [\![(v_{h})_{t}]\!]\|_{F}^{2}.$$
(6.19b)

The estimates (6.19) and the norm equivalences of (6.14) complete the proof.

Theorem 17 (Discrete LBB-condition). For all $v_h \in V_h$ there holds

$$\sup_{(\tau_h,q_h)\in\Sigma_h\times Q_h} \frac{b_1(v_h,q_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h,v_h)}{||\tau_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||q_h||_{Q_h}} \gtrsim ||v_h||_{V_h}.$$
(6.20)

Proof. By lemma 25 for any $v_h \in V_h$ there exists a $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$ satisfying $b_1(\tau_h, v_h) \gtrsim ||v_h||^2_{1,\Pi,h}$ and $\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h} \lesssim \|v_h\|_{1,\Pi,h}$. Next, we choose the pressure variable $q_h = \operatorname{div}(v_h)$, which is an admissible choice as $\operatorname{div}(V_h) = Q_h$, yielding $b_1(v_h, q_h) = \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_{Q_h}^2$. With these choices of τ_h and q_h we have

$$\frac{b_1(v_h, q_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h, v_h)}{||\tau_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||q_h||_{Q_h}} \ge \frac{\|v_h\|_{1,\Pi,h}^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_{Q_h}^2}{||\tau_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||q_h||_{Q_h}} \gtrsim \|v_h\|_{V_h}.$$

For the ease of notation we now define the norm on the product space $V_h \times \Sigma_h \times Q_h$,

$$||(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h)||_* := \sqrt{\nu} ||u_h||_{V_h} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} (||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p_h||_{Q_h}),$$

and the bilinear form

$$B(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h; v_h, \tau_h, q_h) := a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) + b_1(u_h, q_h) + b_1(v_h, p_h) + b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h, u_h).$$

Corollary 4. The bilinearform B is inf-sup stable with respect to $\|\cdot\|_*$, thus there exists a constant $\beta > 0$ such that for all nonzero functions $(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h) \in V_h \times \Sigma_h \times Q_h$ it holds

$$\sup_{(v_h,\tau_h,q_h)\in V_h\times\Sigma_h\times Q_h}\frac{B(u_h,\sigma_h,p_h;v_h,\tau_h,q_h)}{||(v_h,\tau_h,q_h)||_*}\geq \beta||(u_h,\sigma_h,p_h)||_*.$$

Let $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and assume homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8). There exists a unique solution $(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h) \in V_h \times \Sigma_h \times Q_h$ of the MCS method (6.6) with the stability estimate

$$\|u_h, \sigma_h, p_h\|_* \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|f\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Proof. This is a direct consequence from lemma 23, lemma 24, theorem 17 and Brezzi's theorem 6. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 4. To avoid technical details the stability analysis was based on the assumption of homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8). With the usual techniques one can extend the results also to the case where we have the regularity properties

$$g_{D,n} \in [H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{D,n}, \mathbb{R}^d)]_n, \qquad g_{D,t} \in [H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{D,t}, \mathbb{R}^d)]_t, g_{N,n} \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{D,n}, \mathbb{R}), \qquad g_{N,t} \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{D,t}, \mathbb{R}^{d-1}).$$

We conclude this section with two consistency results that shall be needed in the next section.

Theorem 18 (Consistency). The MCS method (6.6) is consistent in the following sense. If the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6) fulfills the regularity property $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ and $p \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, then

$$B(u, \sigma, p; v_h, \tau_h, q_h) = (-f, v_h)_{\Omega} + (g_{D,t}, (\tau_h)_{nt})_{\Gamma_{D,t}} + (g_{N,n}, v_n)_{\Gamma_{N,n}},$$

for all $v_h \in V_h, q_h \in Q_h$, and $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$.

Proof. As the exact solutions σ and u are continuous, we have $[\![\sigma_{nn}]\!] = 0$ and $[\![u_t]\!] = 0$ on all faces $F \in \mathcal{F}_h^{\text{int}}$, and thus using representations (6.4) and (6.5) we have

$$b_{2h}(\sigma, v_h) = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v_h \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F \llbracket \sigma_{nn} \rrbracket(v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v_h \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} \sigma_{nn}(v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

and

$$b_{2h}(\tau_h, u) = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h : \nabla u \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (\tau_h)_{nt} \cdot \llbracket u_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h : \nabla u \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} (\tau_n)_{nt} u_t \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Using $\operatorname{div}(u) = 0$ we further get that $b_1(u, q_h) = 0$, so all together this yields

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma,\tau_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h,u) + b_{2h}(\sigma,v_h) + b_1(v_h,p) + b_1(u,q_h) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \operatorname{dev}(\sigma) : \operatorname{dev}(\tau_h) \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h : \nabla u \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v_h \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v_h) p \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} (\tau_n)_{nt} u_t \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} \sigma_{nn}(v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$

For the exact solution we have $\operatorname{dev}(\sigma) = \nu \nabla u$. Further, as $\operatorname{div}(u) = 0$, a simple calculation shows that $\tau_h : \nabla u = \tau_h : \operatorname{dev}(\nabla u) = \operatorname{dev}(\tau_h) : \nabla u$, thus the first two volume integrals vanish. Using integration by parts for the last volume integral we observe

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(v_h) p \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega} v_h \nabla p \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} (v_h)_n p \, \mathrm{d}s$$

For the exact solutions we have $u_t = g_{D,t}$ on $\Gamma_{D,t}$, $-\sigma_{nn} + p = g_{N,n}$ on $\Gamma_{N,n}$. Adding up all results from above yields

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma,\tau_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h,u) + b_{2h}(\sigma,v_h) + b_1(v_h,p) + b_1(u,q_h) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \left[\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \nabla p \right] \cdot v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} (\tau_n)_{nt} u_t \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} \sigma_{nn}(v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} (v_h)_n p \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\Omega} -f v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} (\tau_n)_{nt} \cdot g_{D,t} \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} g_{N,n}(v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s \, . \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 19 (Consistency on V_h^0). The MCS method (6.6) is consistent on the subspace of divergence free velocity fields, thus if the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6) is such that $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ and $p \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, then there holds

$$B(u,\sigma,0;v_h,\tau_h,0) = (-f,v_h)_{\Omega} + (g_{D,t},(\tau_h)_{nt})_{\Gamma_{D,t}} + (g_{N,n},v_n)_{\Gamma_{N,n}},$$

for all $v_h \in V_h^0$ and $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$.

Proof. With the same steps as above we end up with the equation

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma,\tau_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h, u) + b_{2h}(\sigma, v_h) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \cdot v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} (\tau_n)_{nt} u_t \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma, nN} \sigma_{nn}(v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \left[-f + \nabla p \right] v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} (\tau_n)_{nt} \cdot g_{D,t} \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} \left[g_{N,n} - p \right] (v_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s \, . \end{aligned}$$

As $v_h \in V_h^0$, we conclude the proof by

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot v_h \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}(v_h) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} p(v_h)_n.$$

6.2.3 Stability analysis in natural norms

This section is dedicated to prove discrete inf-sup stability using norms that fit to the continuous formulation given by (4.26). As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, the velocity space and the pressure space are chosen conformingly with respect to V and Q, thus natural norms are simply given by $\|\cdot\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$, respectively. The stress space, however, is slightly non-conforming. To this end we define the discrete stress $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ -norm by

$$\|\sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h}^2 := \|\sigma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \Big(\sup_{v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)} \frac{b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h)}{\|v_h\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)}}\Big)^2.$$
 (6.21)

This definition is again motivated by the identity (5.12) of theorem 13, thus the above definition can be seen as a discrete version of the stress norm $\|\cdot\|_{cd}$. Note, however, that in contrast to $\|\cdot\|_{cd}$ the supremum in (6.21) is taken with respect to the smaller set $V_h \subset V$, hence even in the case of enough regularity of a given τ we do not have norm equivalence

$$\|\tau_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} \not\sim \|\tau_h\|_{\mathrm{cd}}.$$

We follow the same steps as in the last chapter proving the results needed to apply Brezzi's theorem 6.

Lemma 26. The bilinear forms a, b_1 and b_{2h} are continuous:

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|\sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|\tau_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} & \text{for all } \sigma_h, \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, \\ b_1(v_h, p_h) \lesssim \|v_h\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)} \|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} & \text{for all } v_h \in V_h, p_h \in Q_h, \\ b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) \lesssim \|\sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} \|v_h\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)} & \text{for all } \sigma_h \in \Sigma_h, v_h \in V_h. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The continuity of a and b_1 follow using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. The continuity of b_{2h} follows by

$$b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) = \frac{b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h)}{\|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}} \|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} \le \|\sigma_h\|_{\operatorname{cd},h} \|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}.$$

Lemma 27 (Coercivity of a on the kernel). For all $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h}$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu} \big(\|\sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \big)^2 \lesssim a(\sigma_h, \sigma_h).$$

Proof. Let $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h}$ be arbitrary. With the same steps as in the in the proof of the discrete coercivity with non-natural norms, see lemma 24, we find a velocity field $u_h \in V_h$ such that

$$\operatorname{div}(u_h) = q_h$$
 and $||u_h||_{V_h} \le ||p_h||_{L^2(\Omega)},$

and there holds the estimate $\|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq \|\sigma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$. Next we observe

$$\sup_{v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)} \frac{b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h)}{\|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}} = \sup_{v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)} \frac{(\operatorname{div}(v_h), p_h)_{\Omega}}{\|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}} \le \|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

This yields for all $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h}$ the estimate $(\|\sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)})^2 \lesssim \nu a(\sigma_h, \sigma_h)$. We conclude the proof with a division by ν .

Theorem 20 (LBB). For all $v_h \in V_h$ there holds

$$\sup_{(\tau_h,q_h)\in\Sigma_h\times Q_h} \frac{b_1(v_h,q_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h,v_h)}{\|\tau_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|q_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}} \gtrsim \|v_h\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)}.$$
(6.22)

Proof. Let $w_h \in V_h$ be arbitrary. Due to the solvability of the discrete system in nonnatural norms, see corollary 4, there exists a unique solution (u_h, σ_h, p_h) of the following problem

$$a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h, u_h) = 0 \qquad \text{for all } \tau_h \in \Sigma_h,$$

$$b_{2h}(\sigma_h, v_h) + b_1(v_h, p_h) = (w_h, v_h)_{L^2(\Omega)} + (\operatorname{div}(w_h), \operatorname{div}(v_h))_{L^2(\Omega)} \qquad \text{for all } v_h \in V_h,$$

$$b_1(u_h, q_h) = 0 \qquad \text{for all } q_h \in Q_h,$$

(6.23)

and the solution fulfills

$$\sqrt{\nu}||u_h||_{V_h} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}}(||\sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p_h||_{Q_h}) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} ||w_h||_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}.$$
(6.24)

By the second equation of the system (6.23), the equation $\|\sigma_h\|_{\Sigma_h} = \|\sigma_h\|_{L^2}$ and estimate (6.24), we get

$$\begin{split} \|\sigma_{h}\|_{\mathrm{cd},h}^{2} + \|p_{h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} &= \|\sigma_{h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|p_{h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \left(\sup_{v_{h}\in V_{h}} \frac{b_{2h}(\sigma_{h}, v_{h})}{\|v_{h}\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}\right)^{2} \\ &\lesssim \|w_{h}\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}^{2} + \left(\sup_{v_{h}\in V_{h}} \frac{b_{2h}(\sigma_{h}, v_{h}) + b_{1}(v_{h}, p_{h})}{\|v_{h}\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}\right)^{2} \\ &= \|w_{h}\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}^{2} + \left(\sup_{v_{h}\in V_{h}} \frac{(w_{h}, v_{h})_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + (\operatorname{div}(w_{h}), \operatorname{div}(v_{h}))_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|v_{h}\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}\right)^{2} \\ &\leq \|w_{h}\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

and thus

$$\sup_{\substack{(\tau_h,q_h)\in\Sigma_h\times Q_h}} \frac{b_1(w_h,q_h) + b_{2h}(\tau_h,w_h)}{\|\tau_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|q_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}} \geq \frac{b_1(w_h,p_h) + b_{2h}(\sigma_h,w_h)}{\|\sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}}$$
$$\gtrsim \frac{(w_h,w_h)_{L^2(\Omega)} + (\operatorname{div}(w_h),\operatorname{div}(w_h))_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\|w_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}}$$
$$= \|w_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}.$$

Similarly as before we define the norm on the product space $V_h \times \Sigma_h \times Q_h$,

$$\|(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h)\|_{**} := \sqrt{\nu} \|u_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} (\|\sigma_h\|_{\operatorname{cd},h} + \|p_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}),$$

and have the following result:

Corollary 5. The bilinear form B is inf-sup stable with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{**}$, thus there exists a constant $\beta > 0$ such that for all nonzero functions $(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h) \in V_h \times \Sigma_h \times Q_h$ there holds

$$\sup_{(v_h,\tau_h,q_h)\in V_h\times\Sigma_h\times Q_h}\frac{B(u_h,\sigma_h,p_h;v_h,\tau_h,q_h)}{||(v_h,\tau_h,q_h)||_{**}} \ge \beta||(u_h,\sigma_h,p_h)||_{**}$$

Let $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and assume homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8). There exists a unique solution $(u_h, \sigma_h, p_h) \in V_{h,D} \times \Sigma_{h,N} \times Q_h$ of the MCS method (6.6) with the stability estimate

$$\sqrt{\nu} \|u_h\|_{\operatorname{div}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} (\|\sigma_h\|_{\operatorname{cd},h} + \|p_h\|_{\Omega}) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|f\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

Proof. This follows with lemma 26, lemma 27, theorem 20 and Brezzi's theorem 6. \Box

6.3 Error estimates

In this section we discuss several error estimates of the MCS method. First, we define proper interpolation operators for the discrete velocity, stress and pressure spaces and provide approximation results in different norms. Using these interpolation operators we are then going to discuss the following error estimates: First we focus on a standard error estimate in section 6.3.2. We start with the analysis using the norms defined in section 6.2.2, and prove that the errors of the stress and the pressure converge with optimal order. Note, however, that we could only expect a lower convergence order of the velocity error measured in a discrete H^1 -norm. This is mainly due to the bad approximation properties of the Raviart-Thomas interpolator, see lemma 28 below. It will be crucial in the analysis that this degenerated convergence order of the velocity error does not effect the results of the stress and the pressure variable. This is achieved by showing that the velocity error measured in a discrete sense is still of optimal order. After this we provide also an error estimate in the case of natural norms, i.e. with the norms defined in section 6.2.3. In this case we can also provide optimal convergence of the velocity error as the Raviart-Thomas interpolator has good approximation poperties with respect to the natural velocity H(div)-norm.

Section 6.3.3 deals with an error estimate that is known in the literature as *pressure* robustness: In the original work [83], the author showed that the proper scaling of irrotational and rotational forces with respect to the viscosity ν – as it appears in the continuous setting – might be disturbed in the discrete case. As a consequence, the velocity error scales with the factor $1/\nu$, which gets big in the case of vanishing viscosity. We show that the MCS method does not only provide optimal convergence errors, but is also pressure robust, hence we provide error estimates that are independent of ν and the pressure approximation.

We conclude with section 6.3.4, where we provide a local post processing procedure. Thereby, we retrieve optimal convergence of the error of a lifted velocity approximation (measured in a discrete H^1 -norm). Using the results of [76, 77] it is possible that this post processing can be defined in such a way that the lifted velocity is still exactly divergence free.

6.3.1 Interpolation operators

We start with the definition of interpolation operators for the velocity and the pressure space. To this end we denote by $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}$ the Raviart-Thomas interpolator of order k that is locally based on the degrees of freedoms given by lemma 13. There holds the following approximation results:

Lemma 28. For any $m \ge 1$ and any smooth $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ the interpolation operator $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}$ is well defined and there holds the interpolation result

$$\|u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u\|_{1,h} \lesssim h^{s-1} \|u\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)},$$

for all $s \leq \min(k+1,m)$. Similarly, if $u \in H^m(\operatorname{div},\Omega)$, we have the approximation result

$$\|u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} \lesssim h^s \|u\|_{H^s(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$$

for all $s \leq \min(k+1, m)$.

Proof. We first show the continuity of $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}$ in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{1,h}$. By definition, we have

$$\|\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}u\|_{1,h}^2 = \sum_{T\in\mathcal{T}_h} \|\nabla\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}u\|_T^2 + \sum_{F\in\mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|[(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}u)_t]\|_F^2.$$

First, we bound the element terms by a triangle inequality,

$$\|\nabla \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u\|_T = \|\nabla \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u + \nabla u - \nabla u\|_T \le \|\nabla (u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u)\|_T + \|u\|_{H^1(T)}.$$

As proposition 2.5.3 from [11] gives the estimates

$$\|(u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u)\|_T \le h \|u\|_{H^1(T)}$$
 and $\|\nabla (u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u)\|_T \le \|u\|_{H^1(T)},$ (6.25)

the stability of the element terms is proven. Similarly, we add and subtract the function u on the facets to split the jump into two terms, thus

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \| \llbracket (\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2 \le \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \frac{1}{h} \| (u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u)_t \|_{\partial T}^2.$$

Next, using standard scaling arguments and a multiplicative trace inequality, see theroem 1.6.6 in [17], we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|(u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u)_{t}\|_{\partial T}^{2} &\lesssim h^{d-1} \|(u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u)_{t}\|_{\partial \widehat{T}}^{2} \\ &\lesssim (h^{d/2} \|u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u\|_{\widehat{T}})(h^{(d-2)/2} \|u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u\|_{H^{1}(\widehat{T})}) \\ &\lesssim \|(u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u)\|_{T} \left(\frac{1}{h} \|(u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u)\|_{T} + \|\nabla(u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{R}\mathcal{T}^{k}}u)\|_{T}\right) \end{aligned}$$

Again using (6.25) we get $1/h || (u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k} u)_t ||_{\partial T}^2 \leq ||u||_{H^1(T)}$ implying continuity,

$$\|\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}u\|_{1,h}^2 \lesssim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|u\|_{H^1(T)}^2 \le \|u\|_{H^1(\Omega)}^2.$$

The rest follows with a standard Bramble-Hilbert argument (see lemma 4.3.8 in [17] or in the original work [14]) using that $(\mathrm{Id} - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k})q = 0$ for $q \in \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$. The proof for the second statement follows from proposition 2.5.3 and 2.5.1 in [11].

Similarly, we define the standard \mathcal{BDM}^k -interpolator by $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{BDM}^k}$ and there holds the following approximation result.

Lemma 29. For any $m \ge 1$ and any smooth $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ the interpolation operator $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{BDM}^k}$ is well defined and there holds the interpolation result

$$\|u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{BDM}^k} u\|_{1,h} \lesssim h^{s-1} \|u\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)},$$

for all $s \leq \min(k+1,m)$. Similarly, if $u \in H^m(\operatorname{div},\Omega)$ we have

$$\|u - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{BDM}^k} u\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} \lesssim h^s \|u\|_{H^s(\operatorname{div},\Omega)},$$

for all $s \leq \min(k, m)$.

Proof. Follows with the same steps as the proof of lemma 28.

For the pressure space we use the standard element-wise L^2 -projection given by $\Pi_{\mathcal{T}_h}^k$.

Lemma 30. For any $m \geq 1$ and any smooth $u \in H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ the operator $\Pi_{\mathcal{T}_h}^k$ is well defined, and there holds the interpolation result

$$\|u - \Pi_{\mathcal{T}_h}^k u\|_{\Omega} \lesssim h^s \|u\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)},$$

for all $s \leq \min(k+1, m)$.

Proof. See for example in [17], [11] or [43].

We conclude this section with the definition of an interpolation operator for the discrete stress space. Using the global degrees of freedom of $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$, a canonical interpolation operator \mathcal{I}_{Ξ^k} can be defined as usual. On each $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$, the interpolant $(\mathcal{I}_{\Xi^k}\sigma)|_T$ coincides with the canonical local interpolant $I_{\Xi^k(T)}(\sigma|_T)$ defined using the local degrees of freedom given by the set $\tilde{\Phi}(T)$, see equation (5.29). Note that these degrees of freedoms are unisolvent, see theorem 15, thus are appropriate for the definition of an interpolation operator. Then we have

$$\phi(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k(T)}\sigma) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \phi \in \Phi(T).$$
(6.26)

Recalling the map \mathcal{M} from (5.22), note that $\mathcal{M}^{-1}(\sigma) = \det(F_T^F)F_F^T \sigma F_T^{-T}$. In a first step we show that interpolation and mapping with respect to \mathcal{M} commutes.

Lemma 31. For any $\sigma \in H^1(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ there holds

$$\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_T\sigma) = I_{\hat{T}}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}(\sigma))$$

Proof. Since both the left and right hand sides are in the local space $\Xi^k(\hat{T})$, it suffices to prove that

$$\hat{\phi}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_T\sigma) - I_{\hat{T}}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma)) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \hat{\phi} \in \tilde{\Phi}(\hat{T}).$$
(6.27)

For the first type of interior degrees of freedom on \hat{T} , given by definition (5.28), we have for all $\hat{\eta} \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(\hat{T}, \mathbb{D})$ (due to definition (6.26)) the identity

$$\int_{\hat{T}} I_{\Xi^k(\hat{T})}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma) : F_{\hat{T}}\hat{\eta}F_{\hat{T}}^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\hat{x} = \int_{\hat{T}} \mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma : F_{\hat{T}}\hat{\eta}F_{\hat{T}}^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\hat{x} \,.$$

As $F_{\hat{T}} = \text{Id}$, this yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{\hat{T}} \left[\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma) - I_{\Xi^{k}(\hat{T})}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma) \right] &: F_{\hat{T}}\hat{\eta}F_{\hat{T}}^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\hat{x} = \int_{\hat{T}} \left[\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma) - \mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma \right] : \hat{\eta} \,\mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{T} (I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma - \sigma) : F_{T}\hat{\eta}F_{T}^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}x = 0, \end{split}$$

where we used the equality of interior degrees of freedom on T in (6.26). With the same argument we see for all polynomials $\hat{\mu} \in \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R})$ that the second type of interior degrees of freedom, see definition (5.25), vanishes, as

$$\begin{split} \int_{\hat{T}} \operatorname{tr}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma) - I_{\Xi^{k}(\hat{T})}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma)) &: \hat{\mu} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} = \int_{\hat{T}} \operatorname{tr}(\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma) - \mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma) : \hat{\mu} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{x} \\ &= \int_{T} \operatorname{tr}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma - \sigma) : \mu \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, \end{split}$$

where we used a standard pullback $\mu \circ \phi_T = \hat{\mu}$ and the properties of the mapping \mathcal{M} , see lemma 16 and (6.26).

We continue with the facet degrees of freedom. We only consider the three-dimensional case as the two-dimensional case is simpler and follows then with very similar steps. On any

arbitrary facet $\hat{F} \in \mathcal{F}_h(\hat{T})$ choose two arbitrary edges \hat{E}_1, \hat{E}_2 with unit tangential vectors \hat{t}_1 and \hat{t}_2 . Using a dual tangential basis \hat{s}_1 and \hat{s}_2 such that $\hat{s}_i \cdot \hat{t}_i = \delta_{ij}$, we expand

$$[\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}(T)\sigma - \sigma)]_{nt} = [\hat{t}_{1}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma - \sigma)\hat{n}]\hat{s}_{1} + [\hat{t}_{2}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma - \sigma)\hat{n}]\hat{s}_{2}.$$

Next, we choose arbitrary $\hat{r}_1, \hat{r}_2 \in \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{F}, \mathbb{R})$ and define

$$\hat{r} := \frac{\hat{r}_1}{\det(F_{E_1})}\hat{t}_1 + \frac{\hat{r}_2}{\det(F_{E_2})}\hat{t}_2.$$

Let $r_i = \hat{r}_i \circ \phi_T$. Using again a biorthogonal basis s_1, s_2 with respect to unit tangents t_1 and t_2 of the mapped edges E_1 and E_2 , we have $r := r_1t_1 + r_2t_2$. Thus, the proper mapping of the normal-tangential trace, see lemma 16, yields

$$[\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma-\sigma)]_{nt} = \det(F_{T}^{F})\det(F_{E_{1}})[t_{1}^{\mathrm{T}}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma-\sigma)n]\hat{s}_{1}$$
$$+ \det(F_{T}^{F})\det(F_{E_{2}})[t_{2}^{\mathrm{T}}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma-\sigma)n]\hat{s}_{2}.$$

Then, this identity shows with similar steps as above

$$\begin{split} \int_{\hat{F}} [\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma) - I_{\Xi^{k}(\hat{T})}\mathcal{M}^{-1}\sigma)]_{nt} \cdot \hat{r} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{s} \\ &= \int_{\hat{F}} [\mathcal{M}^{-1}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma - \sigma)]_{nt} \cdot \hat{r} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{s} \\ &= \int_{F} [t_{1}^{\mathrm{T}}(I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma - \sigma)n]r_{1}s_{1} \cdot t_{1} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{F} [t_{2}^{\mathrm{T}}(I_{T}\sigma - \sigma)n]r_{2}s_{2} \cdot t_{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{F} [(t_{1}^{\mathrm{T}}(I_{T}\sigma - \sigma)n)s_{1} + (t_{2}^{\mathrm{T}}(I_{T}\sigma - \sigma)n)s_{2}] \cdot [r_{1}t_{1} + r_{2}t_{2}] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{F} (I_{T}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt} \cdot r \, \mathrm{d}s = 0, \end{split}$$

where the last step is due to the equality of the facet degrees of freedom in (6.26).

Next, we show that the interpolation operator on the reference element is continuous. Lemma 32. For any $\sigma \in H^s(\widehat{T}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ with $s \ge 1$ there holds

$$\|I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})}\sigma\||_{\widehat{T}} + \sqrt{\sum_{\widehat{F}\in\mathcal{F}_h(\widehat{T})} ||(I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})}\sigma)_{nt}||_{\widehat{F}}^2} \lesssim \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\widehat{T})}.$$

Proof. As $I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})}\sigma$ is an element of $\Xi^k(\widehat{T})$, lemma 19 shows that it is sufficient to estimate only the volume term. The estimate then follows directly using a nodal basis with respect to the degrees of freedom given by $\tilde{\Phi}_{\mathbb{D}}^T, \Phi_{\mathrm{Id}}^T$ and $\{\Phi^F : F \in \mathcal{F}_h(T)\}$ and that the L^2 -norms on elements and facets of those polynomial basis functions are uniformly bounded. One then derives an estimate

$$\|I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})}\sigma\|_{\widehat{T}} \lesssim \|\sigma\|_{\widehat{T}} + \sum_{\widehat{F} \in \mathcal{F}_h(\widehat{T})} \|\sigma_{nt}\|_{\widehat{F}}.$$

By the continuity of the trace we conclude the proof.

We can now finally show the following approximation result.

Theorem 21. For any $m \ge 1$ and any $\sigma \in \{\tau \in H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : [\![\tau_{nt}]\!] = 0\}$ the interpolant $I_{\Xi^k}\sigma$ is well defined and there holds the approximation result

$$||\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma||_{L^2(\Omega)} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h||(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma)_{nt}||_F^2} \lesssim h^s ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}, \tag{6.28}$$

for all $s \leq \min(k, m)$.

Proof. Let $\hat{\sigma} = \mathcal{M}^{-1}(\sigma|_T)$. By lemma 31, $\mathcal{M}^{-1}(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k(T)}\sigma) = \hat{\sigma} - I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})}\hat{\sigma}$. Thus, for each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ we have, using lemma 16, that

$$\|\sigma - I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma\|_{T}^{2} + h\|(\sigma - I_{\Xi^{k}(T)}\sigma)_{nt}\|_{\partial T}^{2} \sim \frac{1}{h^{d}} \Big(\|\hat{\sigma} - I_{\Xi^{k}(\widehat{T})}\hat{\sigma}\|_{\widehat{T}}^{2} + \|(\hat{\sigma} - I_{\Xi^{k}(\widehat{T})}\hat{\sigma})_{nt}\|_{\partial \widehat{T}}^{2}\Big).$$

Next, note that the unisolvency of the reference element degrees of freedom, see theorem 15, shows that

$$\hat{\sigma} - I_{\Xi^k(\hat{T})}\hat{\sigma} = 0$$
 for all $\hat{\sigma} \in \mathbb{P}^k(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$

Lemma 32 further shows continuity of the operator $\operatorname{Id} - I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})}$, thus we apply the Bramble-Hilbert lemma (lemma 4.3.8 in [17]), and we get

$$\frac{1}{h^d} \Big(\|\hat{\sigma} - I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})} \hat{\sigma}\|_{\widehat{T}}^2 + \|(\hat{\sigma} - I_{\Xi^k(\widehat{T})} \hat{\sigma})_{nt}\|_{\partial \widehat{T}}^2 \Big) \le \frac{1}{h^d} |\hat{\sigma}|_{H^s(\widehat{T})}^2$$

A standard scaling argument shows that

$$|\hat{\sigma}|^2_{H^s(\widehat{T})} \sim h^{2s+d} |\sigma|^2_{H^s(T)}.$$

We conclude this section with an approximation result of the stress interpolator I_{Ξ^k} in natural norms.

Theorem 22. For any $m \ge 1$ and any $\sigma \in \{\tau \in H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : [\![\tau_{nt}]\!] = 0\}$, the interpolant $I_{\Xi^k}\sigma$ is well defined and there holds the approximation result

$$||\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma||_{\mathrm{cd},h} \lesssim h^s ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)},\tag{6.29}$$

for all $s \leq \min(k, m)$.

Proof. Theorem 21 yields that the term including the L^2 -norm of $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{cd},h}$ converges with optimal order. It remains to estimate the term including the bilinear form b_{2h} . To this end let $v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ be arbitrary. Adding and subtracting $\Pi_T^{k-1} \nabla v_h$ and $\Pi^k[(v_h)_t]$ on the element and facet terms, respectively, we have

$$\begin{split} b_{2h}(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma, v_h) &= \\ &- \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T (\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma) : (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1}) \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T (\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma) : \Pi_T^{k-1} \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma)_{nt} \cdot (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^k) \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma)_{nt} \cdot \Pi_F^k \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s \, . \end{split}$$

By the local definition of the interpolator I_{Ξ^k} , see equation 6.26, the second and the fourth sum vanish. By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and rewriting the jump with its contribution from both element sides we then get

$$b_{2h}(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma, v_h) \lesssim \left(||\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma||_{L^2(\Omega)} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h||(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma)_{nt}||_F^2} \right) \\ \left(\sqrt{\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} ||(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1})\nabla v_h||_T^2} + \sqrt{\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \frac{1}{h} ||(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^k)(v_h)_t||_{\partial T}^2} \right).$$

Using lemma 22, we obtain

$$b_{2h}(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma, v_h) \lesssim \left(||\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma||_{L^2(\Omega)} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h||(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma)_{nt}||_F^2} \right) \|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$$

and thus, again by theorem 21,

$$\sup_{v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)} \frac{b_{2h}(\sigma - I_{\Xi^k}\sigma, v_h)}{\|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}} \lesssim h^s ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}.$$

_	_	_
Г		
L		
L		_

6.3.2 A standard error estimate

With the interpolation operators defined in the last section we can now show optimal convergence of the finite element errors. For the ease of notation we define

$$I_{V_h} := \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{RT}^k}, \quad I_{\Sigma_h} := I_{\Xi^k}, \quad I_{Q_h} := \Pi^k_{\mathcal{T}_h}.$$

$$(6.30)$$

Theorem 23 below shows that the solutions of the system (6.6) provide optimal convergence of the stress and the pressure errors. Further, as mentioned at the beginning of this section, we have optimal convergence of a discrete velocity error given by the difference of the solution and the corresponding velocity interpolation of the exact solution. Note that the standard velocity error $||u - u_u||$ is only of order $\mathcal{O}(h^k)$ (assuming a smooth exact solution). This can be easily seen, as the according velocity interpolation operator I_{V_h} only provides approximation results in a discrete H^1 -norm of order k, see lemma 28.

Theorem 23 (Optimal convergence). Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ and $p \in Q \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ be the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6). Further let u_h , σ_h and p_h be the solutions of the MCS method (6.6). For $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu}(||\sigma - \sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p - p_h||_{Q_h}) + ||u_h - I_{V_h}u||_{V_h} \lesssim h^s(\frac{1}{\nu}||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu}||p||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}).$$

Proof. In a first step we use the triangle inequality to divide the error into an interpolation error and a discrete measure of error

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\nu}(||\sigma - \sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p - p_h||_{Q_h}) + ||u_h - I_{V_h}u||_{V_h} \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{\nu}(||\sigma - I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma||_{\Sigma_h}||p - I_{Q_h}p||_{Q_h}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\nu}(||I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||I_{Q_h}p - p_h||_{Q_h}) + ||u_h - I_{V_h}u||_{V_h}. \end{aligned}$$

By the approximation properties of the L^2 -projection, see lemma 30, and the interpolation operator I_{Σ_h} , see theorem 21, we already have for $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$,

$$\frac{1}{\nu}(||\sigma - I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p - I_{Q_h}p||_{Q_h}) \lesssim h^s \left(\frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu} ||p||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}\right).$$

Next, corollary 4 and theorem 18 yield

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \| (I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, I_{Q_h}p - p_h) \|_* \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h \in V_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B(I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, I_{Q_h}p - p_h; v_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \tau_h, q_h) \|_*} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h \in V_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B(I_{V_h}u - u, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, I_{Q_h}p - p; v_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \tau_h, q_h) \|_*}. \end{split}$$

We continue estimating each term of B separately. First note that due to the polynomial order of the space Σ_h we have that locally div $(\tau_h) \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\tau_{nn} \in \mathbb{P}^k(F, \mathbb{R})$ for all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h, F \in \mathcal{F}_h$. By the definition of the Raviart-Thomas interpolator, based on the degrees of freedom given in lemma 13, and the element wise L^2 -projection we then have

$$b_{2h}(\tau_h, I_{V_h}u - u) = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\tau_h) \cdot (I_{V_h}u - u) - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F [\![(\tau_h)_{nn}]\!] (I_{V_h}u - u)_n \, \mathrm{d}s = 0.$$

Similarly, we have

$$b_{2h}(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, v_h) = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T (I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma) : \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt} \cdot \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality then yields

$$b_{2h}(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, v_h) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma\|_{\Sigma_h} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \|(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt}\|_F^2} \right) \sqrt{\nu} \|v_h\|_{V_h}.$$

For the terms including the bilinear form b_1 we observe with the same arguments as above

$$b_1(I_{V_h}u - u, q_h) = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(I_{V_h}u - u)q_h = 0,$$

$$b_1(v_h, I_{Q_h}p - p) \lesssim \sqrt{\nu} \|v_h\|_{V_h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|I_{Q_h}p - p\|_{Q_h}.$$

Together with the continuity of a these findings yield

$$B(I_{V_h}u - u, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, I_{Q_h}p - p; v_h, \tau_h, q_h)$$

$$\lesssim \left(\|(0, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, I_{Q_h}p - p)\|_* + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \|(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt}\|_F^2} \right) \|(v_h, \tau_h, 0)\|_*.$$

Thereby, theorem 21 and the approximation properties of the L^2 -projection (30), conclude

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \| (I_{V_h} u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma - \sigma_h, I_{Q_h} p - p_h) \|_* \lesssim h^s \Big(\frac{1}{\nu} \| \sigma \|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu} \| p \|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} \Big).$$

We also aim for a similar result in natural norms. The proof follows very similar steps including some slightly different estimates. As the natural norm on the velocity space is given by the H(div)-norm, lemma 28 shows that we now have optimal rates also for the velocity error.

Theorem 24 (Optimal convergence in natural norms). Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ and $p \in Q \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ be the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6). Further let u_h , σ_h and p_h be the solution of the MCS method (6.6). For $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu}(\|\sigma - \sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|p - p_h\|_{Q_h}) + \|u - u_h\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)} \lesssim h^s(\frac{1}{\nu}\|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu}\|p\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}).$$

Proof. We use the triangle inequality to divide the error into an interpolation error and a discrete measure of the error. By lemma 30, lemma 28 and theorem 22, the interpolation error already converges with optimal order

$$\frac{1}{\nu} (\|\sigma - I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|p - I_{Q_h} p\|_{L^2(\Omega)}) + \|u - I_{V_h}\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)} \\
\lesssim h^s \left(\frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu} \|p\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}\right).$$

Next, we use discrete inf-sup stability, see corollary 5, to get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \| (I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, I_{Q_h}p - p_h) \|_{**} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h \in V_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B(I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, I_{Q_h}p - p_h; v_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \tau_h, q_h) \|_{**}} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h \in V_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B(I_{V_h}u - u, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, I_{Q_h}p - p; v_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \tau_h, q_h) \|_{**}}. \end{aligned}$$

We estimate each term separately. In contrast to the proof of theorem 23, the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the same steps as in the proof of theorem 22 now yields

$$b_{2h}(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, v_h) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma\|_{\Sigma_h} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \|(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt}\|_F^2} \right) \sqrt{\nu} \|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)},$$

$$b_1(v_h, I_{Q_h}p - p) \lesssim \sqrt{\nu} \|v_h\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|I_{Q_h}p - p\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Adding up all terms we conclude with the same steps as in the proof of the previous theorem. $\hfill \Box$

We conclude this section by proving that the L^2 -norm error of the velocity u_h , again measured in a proper sense, has an improved convergence rate. This results is in particular needed in section 6.3.4. The proof of the enhanced convergence rate is based on the standard Aubin-Nitsche technique. To this end let $z \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\mu \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ be the solution of a standard variational formulation in a velocity-pressure setting (4.4). Then we need the following regularity assumption (shift theorem)

$$\nu \| z \|_{H^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)} + \| p \|_{H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})} \lesssim \| f \|_{L^2}.$$
(6.31)

Theorem 25 (Optimal order of the L^2 -norm error). Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ and $p \in Q \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ be the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6). Further let u_h , σ_h and p_h be the solution of the MCS method (6.6). Further assume that the solutions zand μ of the problem (4.4) fulfill the regularity estimate (6.31). For $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$\|I_{V_h}u - u_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim h^{s+1} \frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}$$

Proof. The proof follows along the same lines as for example in [111] and is based on a standard Aubin-Nitsche technique. To this end let z and μ be the solutions of problem (4.4) with the right hand side $f = -(I_{V_h}u - u_h)$, and define $\pi := \nu \nabla z$. With standard techniques (testing with smooth functions with compact support), the solution fulfills the equivalence

$$-\operatorname{div}(\nu\pi) + \nabla\mu = -(I_{V_h}u - u_h) \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d).$$

Testing this equation with $-(I_{V_h}u - u_h)$ and integrating by parts in the pressure term (note that $u_h \in H(\text{div})$) we have

$$\|I_{V_h}u - u_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\pi) \cdot (I_{V_h}u - u_h) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(I_{V_h}u - u_h)\mu \,\mathrm{d}x \,.$$

As the Raviart-Thomas interpolator I_{V_h} preserves the divergence, and the discrete solution u_h is exactly divergence free, the second term vanishes. Next, due to assumption (6.31),

the viscous stress function π is continuous across element interfaces, thus there holds on all facets $F \in \mathcal{F}_h$ that $[\![(\pi)_{nn}]\!] = 0$, and above equation can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} |I_{V_h}u - u_h||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 &= \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\pi) \cdot (I_{V_h}u - u_h) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\pi) \cdot (I_{V_h}u - u_h) \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F [\![(\pi)_{nn}]\!] (I_{V_h}u - u_h)_n \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= b_{2h}(\pi, I_{V_h}u - u_h). \end{aligned}$$
(6.32)

Similarly, as $\pi = \nu \nabla z$ in $L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, we can test this equation with $\sigma - \sigma_h$, and get

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \pi : (\sigma - \sigma_h) \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} (\sigma - \sigma_h) : \nabla z = 0$$

As z is continuous, we have that $[\![z_t]\!] = 0$ on all facets $F \in \mathcal{F}_h$, yielding

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \pi : (\sigma - \sigma_h) \,\mathrm{d}x + b_{2h}(\sigma - \sigma_h, z) = 0.$$
(6.33)

Now, let $\tilde{\pi} := I_{\Sigma_h} \pi$ and $\tilde{z} = I_{V_h} z$. The regularity assumption of the solutions σ and u and the consistency theorem 18 shows that we have the Galerkin like orthogonality

$$a(\sigma - \sigma_h, \tilde{\pi}) + b_{2h}(\tilde{\pi}, u - u_h) + b_{2h}(\sigma - \sigma_h, \tilde{z}) + b_1(\tilde{z}, p - p_h) + b_1(u - u_h, q_h) = 0, \quad (6.34)$$

where q_h can be chosen arbitrarily. Next, note that by the definition of the interpolator I_{V_h} we have that

$$b_{2h}(\tilde{\pi}, I_{V_h}u - u) = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\tilde{\pi}) \cdot (I_{V_h}u - u) \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F \llbracket(\tilde{\pi})_{nn} \rrbracket(I_{V_h}u - u)_n \, \mathrm{d}s = 0,$$

and thus

$$b_{2h}(\tilde{\pi}, u - u_h) = b_{2h}(\tilde{\pi}, u - I_{V_h}u + I_{V_h}u - u_h) = b_{2h}(\tilde{\pi}, I_{V_h}u - u_h).$$
(6.35)

As $\operatorname{div}(z) = \operatorname{div}(\tilde{z}) = \operatorname{div}(u) = \operatorname{div}(u_h) = 0$, summing up equations (6.32), (6.33), (6.34) and (6.35), a Cauchy-Schwarz estimate including a scaling for the facet terms similarly as in the proof of theorem (23), yields

$$\begin{split} \|I_{V_{h}}u - u_{h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ \lesssim \left(\|\pi - \tilde{\pi}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} h\|(\pi - \tilde{\pi})_{nt}\|_{F}^{2}} + \nu\|z - \tilde{z}\|_{V_{h}}\right) \\ \left(\frac{1}{\nu}\|\sigma - \sigma_{h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} h\|(\sigma - \sigma_{h})_{nt}\|_{F}^{2}} + \|I_{V_{h}}u - u_{h}\|_{V_{h}}\right). \end{split}$$

Thereby, equation (6.31) and the properties of the interpolation operators show that

$$\|\pi - \tilde{\pi}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} h \|(\pi - \tilde{\pi})_{nt}\|_{F}^{2}} \lesssim h \|\pi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \lesssim h \|I_{V_{h}} u - u_{h}\|,$$

and similarly also $\nu \|z - \tilde{z}\|_{V_h} \lesssim h\nu \|z\|_{H^2(\Omega)} \lesssim h \|I_{V_h}u - u_h\|$. Lemma 19 then yields

$$\sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \| (\sigma - \sigma_h)_{nt} \|_F^2} \lesssim \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \| (\sigma - I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma)_{nt} \|_F^2} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \| (I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma - \sigma_h)_{nt} \|_F^2} \\
\lesssim h^{k+1} \| \sigma \|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \| I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma - \sigma \|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \| \sigma - \sigma_h \|_{L^2(\Omega)},$$

thus, we conclude the proof by theorem 24 and theorem 23.

6.3.3 A pressure robust error estimate

We define the continuous Helmholtz projector \mathbb{H} as the rotational part of a Helmholtz decomposition (see [53]) of a given load $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$

$$f = \nabla \theta + \xi =: \nabla \theta + \mathbb{H}(f).$$

with $\theta \in H^1(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ and $\xi =: \mathbb{H}(f) \in \{v \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : \operatorname{div}(v) = 0\}$. For the following abstract we assume that $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$. Testing the second line of (4.26) with an arbitrary divergence free test function $v \in \{v \in H_0(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) : \operatorname{div}(v) = 0\}$, we see that

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\sigma), v \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)} = -\langle \mathbb{H}(f), v \rangle_{H_0(\operatorname{div},\Omega)}$$

hence $\sigma = \nu \nabla u$ is steered only by a part of f, namely $\mathbb{H}(f)$. If the right hand side is perturbed by a gradient field $\nabla \alpha$, then σ and u should not change because $\mathbb{H}(f + \nabla \alpha) =$ $\mathbb{H}(f)$. In the work [83] this relation was discussed in a discrete setting. If a discrete method fulfills this property, it is called pressure robust because one can then deduce an H^1 -velocity error that is independent of the pressure. In particular, standard inf-sup stable methods of a velocity-pressure formulation – as for example the Taylor-Hood method, see [11, 85] – show error estimates that read as

$$\|\nabla(u-u_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim \inf_{v_h \in V_h} \|\nabla(u-v_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \frac{1}{\nu} \inf_{q_h \in Q_h} \|p-q_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$
 (6.36)

Here we see that the velocity error might get big if the viscosity tends to get very small $\nu \to 0$, as the scaled term including the best approximation of the pressure might blow up.

In recent works, as for example in [16, 82, 79, 70], it was shown that a modification of the right hand side allows to obtain pressure robust error estimates, which read as

$$\|\nabla(u-u_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim \inf_{v_h \in V_h} \|\nabla(u-v_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + h^{k+1} |u|_{H^{k+1}(\Omega)}$$

The second term on the right hand side is induced by a consistency error due to the modified right hand side. As we can see, the velocity error does not depend on the pressure discretization and the viscosity ν anymore.

The convergence results of theorem 23 and theorem 24 also include the scaled term $1/\nu||p||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}$. However, in recent works it was proven that H(div)-conforming methods are pressure robust, see for example [30, 81], and a similar result also holds true for the MCS method (6.6). To this end we provide optimal error estimates of the stress and the velocity error that are independent of the pressure, thus we show pressure robustness.

Theorem 26 (Pressure robustness). Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ and $p \in Q \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ be the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6). Further let u_h , σ_h and p_h be the solution of MCS method (6.6). For $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma - \sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||u_h - I_{V_h} u||_{V_h} \lesssim h^s \frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma - \sigma_h\|_{\mathrm{cd},h} + \|u - u\|_{H(\mathrm{div},\Omega)} \lesssim h^s \frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}$$

Proof. The proof follows the same steps as the proof of theorem 23 and theorem 24. Again, one first splits the error using a triangle inequality into an interpolation error and a discrete measure of the error. The first part can be bounded with the corresponding interpolation operators. Next, note that due to lemma 25 we can similarly as in corollary 5 derive inf-sup stability of $B(u_h, \sigma_h, 0; v_h, \tau_h, 0)$ with respect to the norm $\|(\cdot, \cdot, 0)\|_*$ on the product space $V_h^0 \times \Sigma_H \times \{0\}$. Together with the consistency theorem 19, this yields

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \| (I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, 0) \|_* &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h \in V_h^0 \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h}} \frac{B(I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, 0; v_h, \tau_h, 0)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \tau_h, 0) \|_*} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h \in V_h^0 \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h}} \frac{B(I_{V_h}u - u, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, 0; v_h, \tau_h, 0)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \tau_h, 0) \|_*}. \end{aligned}$$

The rest follows with the same arguments as before. For the estimate in natural norms one also show inf-sup stability of $B(u_h, \sigma_h, 0; v_h, \tau_h, 0)$ with respect to the norm $\|(\cdot, \cdot, 0)\|_{**}$ using similar steps as in theorem 20.

6.3.4 An exactly divergence free post processing

We conclude this section with the definition of a local post processing. As we have discussed in section 6.3.2, the velocity error $||u - u_h||_{V_h}$ does not converge with optimal order. However, in the following we show that it is possible to define a new velocity field u_h^* with an enhanced accuracy. Note that u_h^* is given by solving local element-wise minimization problems, thus no global problem has to be solved. The goal is to obtain an improved convergence order $\mathcal{O}(h^{k+1})$ of the velocity error measured in a discrete H^1 -norm. Our post processing is motivated by the ideas of the work [111, 112], thus we use the accurate solution σ_h and the optimal order of $||u_h - I_{V_h}u||$ for the definition of a velocity lifting. Note that such post processing schemes are particularly known for hybridized DG methods, see for example [9, 33, 26, 90, 28, 34, 98]. In this thesis a crucial ingredient is that the solution of the post processing scheme satisfies the property $\operatorname{div}(u_h^*) = 0$ exactly. To this end we use a reconstruction operator that was introduced in the works [76, 77]. Let $V_h^* := \mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_h)$ be the standard \mathcal{BDM} space as defined by equation (5.9). Then we define the *relaxed* Brezzi-Douglas-Marini space of order k + 1 as

$$V_h^{*,-} := \{ u \in \mathbb{P}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d) : \Pi_F^k \llbracket u_n \rrbracket = 0 \text{ on all } F \in \mathcal{F}_h \}.$$
(6.37)

Functions in the space $V_h^{*,-}$ are "almost normal continuous". Only the highest order modes can be discontinuous. The \mathcal{BDM} -space and its relaxed counterpart are connected by a reconstruction operator with the following properties.

Lemma 33. There exists an operator $\mathcal{R}: V_h^{*,-} \to V_h^*$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{R}v_h\|_{1,h} \lesssim \|v_h\|_{1,h},$$

and $\mathcal{R}v_h^* = v_h^*$ for all $v_h^* \in V_h^*$. Further, if the element wise property $\operatorname{div}(v_h|_T) = 0$ is fulfilled for all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$, then $\operatorname{div}(\mathcal{R}v_h) = 0$ globally.

Proof. Follows by lemma 3.3 and lemma 4.8 in [76]. Further, one simply sets the hybrid variable on the skeleton as the mean value of the two neighbouring elements to replace the corresponding HDG-norm with the DG-norm. The projection property follows from the definition of \mathcal{R} in [76].

Remark 5. A simple choice of \mathcal{R} is given by a (DG) generalization of the classical \mathcal{BDM}^{k} interpolator as it has been used in [61]. As this interpolation operator might produce a big computational overhead, a different version of \mathcal{R} was introduced in [76] that is based on an averaging of coefficients. This is possible due to a special basis for $\mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_h)$, whose normal components form a hierarchical L^2 -orthogonal basis on faces.

On $V_h^{*,-}$ we now define the following minimization problem:

$$u_{h}^{*,-} := \operatorname{argmin}_{\substack{v_{h}^{*,-} \in V_{h}^{*,-} \\ I_{V_{h}}(v_{h}^{*,-}-u_{h}) = 0}} \|\nu \nabla(v_{h}^{*,-}) - \sigma_{h}\|_{T}^{2}.$$
(6.38)

Note that there exists a solution of this minimization problem as for example u_h fulfills the constraints (thus the admissible set is not empty) and the functional is convex. The final solution of the post processing step is now given by $u_h^* := \mathcal{R}(u_h^{*,-})$, and there holds the following pressure robust error estimate.

Theorem 27. Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ be the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (4.6). Further let u_h be the solution of the MCS method (6.6) and let u_h^* be the post processed solution defined as above. There holds $u_h^* \in V_h^*$ and $\operatorname{div}(u_h^*) = 0$. Further, for $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$||u - u_h^*||_{1,h} \lesssim h^s \frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}.$$

If we further assume that the solution of the dual problem (6.6) fulfills the regularity assumption 6.31, we have

$$||u - u_h^*||_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim h^{s+1} \frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}.$$

Proof. As $I_{V_h}(u_h^{*,-}-u_h)=0$, we have by the definition of I_{V_h} (based on the degrees of freedom given in lemma 13), that for all $q_h \in \mathbb{P}^k(T,\mathbb{R})$ and $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$

$$\int_T \operatorname{div}(u_h^{*,-})q_h \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_T u_h^{*,-} \cdot \nabla q_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial T} u_h^{*,-} \cdot nq_h \, \mathrm{d}s =$$
$$= -\int_T u_h \cdot \nabla q_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial T} u_h \cdot nq_h \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_T \operatorname{div}(u_h)q_h \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Here we used that $\operatorname{div}(u_h) = 0$. Thus, the first two statements follow from lemma 33. Now let $I_{V_h^*}$ be the standard \mathcal{BDM}^{k+1} -interpolator, then we have by the continuity of \mathcal{R} and the identity $\mathcal{R}I_{V_h^*}u = I_{V_h^*}u$ that

$$\|u - u_h^*\|_{1,h} \le \|u - I_{V_h^*}u\|_{1,h} + \|\mathcal{R}(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_{1,h} \le \|u - I_{V_h^*}u\|_{1,h} + \|u - u_h^{*,-}\|_{1,h}.$$

Thereby, the approximation properties of the interpolation operator $I_{V_h^*}$, see lemma 29, show that the first term already converges with the proper order. A triangle inequality (where we add and subtract different functions in the element and facet terms) yields

$$\|u - u_{h}^{*,-}\|_{1,h}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\nu^{2}} \left(\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} \|\nu \nabla u - \sigma_{h}\|_{T}^{2} + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} \|\sigma_{h} - \nu \nabla u_{h}^{*,-}\|_{T}^{2} \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| [(u - I_{V_{h}^{*}}u)_{t}] \|_{F}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| [(I_{V_{h}^{*}}u - u_{h}^{*,-})_{t}] \|_{F}^{2}.$$

$$(6.39)$$

In the following we bound each element term and facet term separately. We start with the element terms and define $w_h := I_{V_h^*} u + u_h - I_{V_h} u \in V_h^*$. Due to the properties of the interpolation operators, we have on each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ that $\operatorname{div}(w_h|_T) = 0$, and

$$\Pi_F^k(w_h - u_h) \cdot n = \left(\Pi_F^k I_{V_h^*} u + \Pi_F^k u_h - \Pi_F^k I_{V_h} u - \Pi_F^k u_h\right) \cdot n$$
$$= \left(\Pi_F^k I_{V_h^*} u - \Pi_F^k I_{V_h} u\right) \cdot n = \left(\Pi_F^k u - \Pi_F^k u\right) \cdot n = 0.$$

This shows that w_h is an admissible function for the minimization problem (6.38), and so we have for the solution $u_h^{*,-}$ by a triangle inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sigma_{h} - \nu \nabla u_{h}^{*,-}\|_{T} &\leq \|\sigma_{h} - \nu \nabla w_{h}\|_{T}^{2} \leq \|\sigma_{h} - \nu \nabla I_{V_{h}^{*}} u\|_{T}^{2} + \|\nu \nabla u_{h} - \nu \nabla I_{V_{h}} u\|_{T}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\sigma_{h} - \sigma\|_{T}^{2} + \|\sigma - \nu \nabla I_{V_{h}^{*}} u\|_{T}^{2} + \|\nu \nabla u_{h} - \nu \nabla I_{V_{h}} u\|_{T}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

As $\sigma = \nu \nabla u$, this yields for the element terms of (6.39) the estimate

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\nu^2} \Big(\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \| \nu \nabla u - \sigma_h \|_T^2 + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \| \sigma_h - \nu \nabla u_h^{*,-} \|_T^2 \Big) \\ & \leq \frac{1}{\nu^2} \left(\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \| \sigma - \sigma_h \|_T^2 + \| \nu \nabla u - \nu \nabla I_{V_h^*} u \|_T^2 + \| \nu \nabla u_h - \nu \nabla I_{V_h} u \|_T^2 \right) \\ & \leq \frac{1}{\nu^2} \| \sigma - \sigma_h \|_{\Sigma_h}^2 + \| u - I_{V_h^*} u \|_{1,h}^2 + \| u_h - I_{V_h} u \|_{1,h}^2. \end{split}$$

We continue with the facet terms of (6.39). The first sum can be bounded by $||u - I_{V_h^*}u||_{1,h}$ and converges with the proper order. For the second sum we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| \| (I_{V_{h}^{*}}u - u_{h}^{*,-})_{t} \| \|_{F}^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| \| (I_{V_{h}}(I_{V_{h}^{*}}u - u_{h}^{*,-}))_{t} \| \|_{F}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| \| ((\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_{h}})(I_{V_{h}^{*}}u - u_{h}^{*,-}))_{t} \| \|_{F}^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} (\| \| (I_{V_{h}}u - u_{h})_{t} \| \|_{F}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h} \| \| ((\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_{h}})(I_{V_{h}^{*}}u - u_{h}^{*,-}))_{t} \| \|_{F}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Here we used that $I_{V_h}I_{V_h^*}u = I_{V_h}u$ (as $V_h \subset V_h^*$) and $I_{V_h}u_h^{*,-} = I_{V_h}u_h = u_h$ (as $u_h^{*,-}$ is the solution of (6.38)) in the last step. Thereby, theorem 26 shows that the first sum again has the proper convergence rate. Next, as I_{V_h} preserves element wise constant functions, we have for each $F \in \mathcal{F}_h$

$$\frac{1}{h} \| \left[((\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h})(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-}))_t \right] \|_F^2 = \frac{1}{h} \| \left[((\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h})(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^0)(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-}))_t \right] \|_F^2.$$

The jump can be estimated by the contributions from each side, thus a trace inequality (with a scaling argument) yields for $a := (\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h})(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^0)(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})$ the estimate

$$\frac{1}{h} \| \llbracket (a)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2 \le \sum_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{T}_h \\ F \cap \partial T \neq \emptyset}} \frac{1}{h} \| (a)_t \|_{\partial T}^2 \le \sum_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{T}_h \\ F \cap \partial T \neq \emptyset}} \| \nabla a \|_T^2 + \frac{1}{h^2} \| a \|_T^2$$

As I_{V_h} is continuous, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla a\|_T^2 + \frac{1}{h^2} \|a\|_T^2 &\leq \|\nabla (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^0) (I_{V_h^*} u - u_h^{*,-})\|_T^2 + \frac{1}{h^2} \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^0) (I_{V_h^*} u - u_h^{*,-})\|_T^2 \\ &\leq \|\nabla (I_{V_h^*} u - u_h^{*,-})\|_T^2, \end{aligned}$$

where we used a Poincaré inequality for the L^2 -norm on T. As

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla (I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_T^2 &\leq \|\nabla I_{V_h^*}u - \sigma_h\|_T^2 + \|\sigma_h - u_h^{*,-}\|_T^2 \\ &\leq \|\nabla I_{V_h^*}u - \sigma\|_T^2 + \|\sigma - \sigma_h\|_T^2 + \|\sigma_h - u_h^{*,-}\|_T^2, \end{aligned}$$

we can bound the facet terms with the same estimates as for the element contributions. Finally, we conclude the proof by the approximation properties of $I_{V_h^*}$ and theorem 26.

For the estimate of the L^2 -norm error first note that we have, similarly as before,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u - u_h^*\|_{L^2(\Omega)} &\leq \|u - I_{V_h^*}u\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\mathcal{R}(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \|u - I_{V_h^*}u\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$$

The first term already has the proper convergence order. Next, we have

$$\begin{split} \|I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} &\lesssim \|I_{V_h}(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|(\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h})(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \\ &= \|I_{V_h}u - u_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|(\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h})(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_{L^2(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

For the second term we get by the properties of I_{V_h} the local estimate

$$\begin{split} \| (\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h}) (I_{V_h^*} u - u_h^{*,-}) \|_{L^2(\Omega)} \\ \lesssim \sum_T h \| \nabla I_{V_h^*} u - \nabla u_h^{*,-} \|_T \\ \lesssim \sum_T h \Big(\| \nabla I_{V_h^*} u - \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma \|_T + \frac{1}{\nu} \| \sigma - \sigma_h \|_T + \| \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma_h - \nabla u_h^{*,-} \|_T \Big). \end{split}$$

Now, using the same steps as above to bound $\|\sigma_h - \nabla u_h^{*,-}\|_T$, we get

$$\|(\mathrm{Id} - I_{V_h})(I_{V_h^*}u - u_h^{*,-})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim h^{s+1}(\frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \|u\|_{H^{s+1}(\mathcal{T}_h)}).$$

We conclude the proof by using theorem 25 for the term $||I_{V_h}u - u_h||_{L^2(\Omega)}$.

We want to make a short comment on the implementation: In order to solve the minimization problem (6.38) we solve local problems defined as follows. Let

$$V_h^*(T) = \mathbb{P}^{k+1}(T, \mathbb{R}^d), \quad M_h^*(T) := \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T, \mathbb{R}^2), \quad \Lambda_h^*(T) := \mathbb{P}^k(\mathcal{F}_h(T), \mathbb{R}),$$

then we solve on each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ the problem: Find $u_T^*, p_h^*, \lambda_h^* \in V_h^*(T) \times M_h^*(T) \times \Lambda_h^*$ such that

$$\begin{split} \int_{T} \nu \nabla(u_{T}^{*}) : \nabla(v_{h}^{*}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{T} p_{h}^{*} \cdot v_{h}^{*} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial T} \lambda_{h}^{*}(v_{h}^{*})_{n} \, \mathrm{d}s &= \int_{T} \sigma_{h} : \nabla(v_{h}^{*}) \, \mathrm{d}x, \\ \int_{T} u_{T}^{*} \cdot q_{h}^{*} \, \mathrm{d}x &= \int_{T} u_{h} \cdot q_{h}^{*} \, \mathrm{d}x, \\ \int_{\partial T} (u_{T}^{*})_{n} \mu_{h}^{*} \, \mathrm{d}s &= \int_{\partial T} (u_{h})_{n} \mu_{h}^{*} \, \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

holds true for all $v_h^* \in V_h^*(T)$, $q_h^* \in M_h^*(T)$ and $\mu_h^* \in \Lambda_h^*(T)$. Then, we define the global function $u_h^{*,-}$ such that its restriction is given by the local solutions u_T^* , thus $u_h^{*,-}|_T := u_T^*$ for all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$. Note that the constraints are given by the functionals of the Raviart-Thomas interpolator I_{V_h} . By the definition of the jump it is then easy to see that $\Pi^k[(u_h^{*,-})_n]] = 0$, hence $u_h^{*,-} \in V_h^{*,-}$. A simple integration by parts argument and the local element-wise orthogonality on $\mathbb{P}^{k-1}(T, \mathbb{R}^2)$ further shows $\operatorname{div}(u_h^{*,-}|_T) = 0$, leading to a point-wise divergence free function $\mathcal{R}(u_h^{*,-})$.

7 The MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry

This chapter is dedicated to defining a discrete formulation for the symmetric Stokes formulation given by equation (4.41). As we have seen in section 4.4, there exists a weak formulation of this set of equations that is based on the new function space $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)$. In particular, we used the subspace of trace free, symmetric and matrix-valued functions denoted by Σ^{sym} , and showed stability with respect to the corresponding norms.

The discrete method that we present in this chapter is based on similar findings as in the previous chapter, thus our goal is to use again an H(div)-conforming discrete velocity space and the new developed stress space $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$. The definition of the stress space (see section 5.3) is based on the construction of low order constant basis functions, designed to study normal-tangential traces, and the definition of the covariant Piola mapping, given by equation (5.22). Although the mapping \mathcal{M} is designed to preserve normal-tangential continuity, it does not retain symmetry. Thus, assuming a given matrix $\hat{\sigma}$ is symmetric, the mapped function $\mathcal{M}(\hat{\sigma})$ might not be symmetric. By these observations we realize that the finite element space $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ is not well suited to discretize the symmetric stress space Σ^{sym} . This motivates us to incorporate symmetry of a discrete stress variable $\sigma_h \in \Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ only in a weak sense.

Imposing symmetry in a weak sense is a well known technique and is especially known for the discretization of the elasticity problem, see for example [5, 6, 12, 48]. In particular, we want to mention the work of Stenberg [111], as the analysis is based on similar norms that we aim to use in this thesis. To provide solvability, Stenberg enriched the stress space by curls of local element bubbles. By construction, these enrichment functions lie in the kernel of the divergence operator and are only "seen" by the weak-symmetry constraint allowing to prove discrete inf-sup stability. For the definition of the MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry we also use a local element-wise enrichment of the stress space as it is discussed in the next section.

Before we introduce the method we define a new formulation of the equations (4.41). To this end we introduce the vorticity function by

$$\begin{split} \omega(u) &:= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\operatorname{curl}(u) \\ \operatorname{curl}(u) & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } d = 2, \quad \text{and} \\ \omega(u) &:= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -(\operatorname{curl}(u))_3 & (\operatorname{curl}(u))_2 \\ (\operatorname{curl}(u))_3 & 0 & -(\operatorname{curl}(u))_1 \\ -(\operatorname{curl}(u))_2 & (\operatorname{curl}(u))_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } d = 3 \end{split}$$

and derive the following identity

$$\nabla u = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla u + (\nabla u)^{\mathrm{T}}) + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla u - (\nabla u)^{\mathrm{T}}) = \varepsilon(u) + \omega(u).$$
As $\operatorname{tr}(\omega(u)) = 0$ and $\operatorname{tr}(\nabla u) = 0$, this leads to the relation $\operatorname{dev}(\sigma) := \nu \nabla u - \nu \omega(u)$. Note that in the continuous setting this relation is equivalent to (4.41a). Finally, due to $\operatorname{skw}(\sigma) = \operatorname{skw}(\varepsilon(u)) = 0$, we get the following set of equations

$$\frac{1}{\nu}\operatorname{dev}(\sigma) - \nabla u + \omega(u) = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega,$$
(7.1a)

$$\operatorname{div}(\sigma) - \nabla p = -f \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{7.1b}$$

$$\operatorname{div}(u) = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \tag{7.1c}$$

skw(
$$\sigma$$
) = 0 in Ω , (7.1d)
 $u_{r} = a_{D,r}$ on $\Gamma_{D,r}$. (7.1e)

$$u_n = g_{D,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,n}, \tag{7.16}$$
$$u_t = g_{D,t} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{D,t}, \tag{7.17}$$

$$-\sigma_{nn} + p = g_{N,n} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{N,n}, \tag{7.1g}$$

$$-\sigma_{nt} = q_{Nt} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_{Nt}. \tag{7.1h}$$

7.1 An enrichment for the stress space - the symmetric bubble matrix

As a motivation of the local enrichment, we first discuss the techniques Stenberg introduced in [111]. To this end we define the local bubble function

$$b_T := \prod_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}_h(T)}} \lambda_i \quad \text{for all } T \in \mathcal{T}_h.$$
(7.2)

Then, the matrix-valued enrichment space of Stenberg was given by

$$\{\sigma \in \mathbb{P}^{k+(d-1)}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : (\sigma_{i1}, \dots, \sigma_{id}) = \operatorname{curl}(b_T q) \text{ for } i = 0, \dots, d\},\$$

with $q \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d(d-1)/2})$. As div $(\operatorname{curl}(b_T q)) = 0$, the additional basis functions lie in the kernel of the momentum equation, thus are only seen by the constraint imposing weak symmetry. Note, however, that the polynomial orders of the resulting enrichment functions are k + 1 and k + 2 in two and three space dimensions, respectively, thus with respect to computational costs, the three-dimensional case is less efficient.

The enrichment we use is motivated by the additional functions that were first introduced by Cockburn, Gopalakrishnan and Guzmán in [27]. Therein, the authors tackled the question if it is possible to retain the good convergence properties of Stenbergs method in [111], but to reduce the number of additional basis functions and the polynomial order in three dimensions. Introducing the so called *symmetric bubble matrix* the authors of [27] were able to define certain curl-bubbles and achieved the desired properties.

It turns out that a slight modification of the bubbles defined in [27] can also be used to enrich the discrete stress space $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$. This is astonishing as these additional functions need to fulfill the following properties: First, they need to lie in the kernel of the *distributional divergence* given by equation (5.12) of theorem 13, and second, we use a different mapping for the discrete stress space as in the original work [27]. Using these bubbles it is possible to prove discrete inf-sup stability with the classical approach based on scaling arguments with respect to a given reference element. This is done with the same norms used in Stenbergs work [111] and is the key result of section 7.3. Following the lines of [27] we define for d = 3 the symmetric bubble matrix by

$$B := \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}_h(T)}} (\lambda_{i-3}\lambda_{i-2}\lambda_{i-1}) \nabla \lambda_i \otimes \nabla \lambda_i \in \mathbb{P}^3(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}),$$
(7.3)

where the indices on the barycentric coordinate functions are always calculated modulo 4. In two dimensions the bubble function is simply given by $B := b_T$, see equation (7.2). Next, we denote by $\mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{skw},\perp}(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ the L^2 -orthogonal complement of the set $\mathbb{P}^{k-1}_{\mathrm{skw}}(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ in $\mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{skw}}(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, thus

$$\mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{skw},\perp}(T,\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}) := \{ r_h \in \mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{skw}}(T,\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}) : (r_h,s_h)_T = 0 \text{ for all } s_h \in \mathbb{P}^{k-1}_{\mathrm{skw}}(T,\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}) \}.$$

This leads to the enrichment space

$$\delta \Sigma_h := \{ \operatorname{dev}(\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(r_h)B)) : r_h \in \prod_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \mathbb{P}^k_{\operatorname{skw}, \perp}(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) \}.$$

In contrast to the original work [27], we defined our enrichment bubbles including the deviator, which is motivated by the equivalence (7.1a). Further, note that in two dimensions the inner curl is applied on each row of r_h , and the outer curl is applied on each scalar component of the vector curl $(r_h)B$. Thus, if we have for example

$$r_h = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\alpha \\ \alpha & 0, \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{this gives} \quad \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(r_h)B) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}\alpha B) & & \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}\alpha B) \\ -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}\alpha B) & & \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}\alpha B) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The definition of the symmetric bubble matrix motivates to define a transformation by

$$\mathcal{CC}(\hat{B}) := F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{B} \circ \phi_T^{-1} F_T^{-1}, \qquad (7.4)$$

which reads as a covariant transformation (see section 5.3.2) from the left and from the right. The definition is motivated by the following findings. First, note that the barycentric coordinate functions λ_i are mapped by the standard pullback, thus the gradient can be written in terms of the gradient of a barycentric coordinate function on the reference element:

$$\nabla \lambda_l = \hat{\nabla} \hat{\lambda}_l F_T^{-1}$$

Hence, by the definition of the symmetric bubble matrix (7.3) we have

$$B = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}_h(T)}} (\lambda_{i-3}\lambda_{i-2}\lambda_{i-1}) \nabla \lambda_i \otimes \nabla \lambda_i = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathcal{V}_h(T)}} (\hat{\lambda}_{i-3}\hat{\lambda}_{i-2}\hat{\lambda}_{i-1}) F_T^{-T} \hat{\nabla} \hat{\lambda}_i \otimes \hat{\nabla} \hat{\lambda}_i F_T^{-1} = \mathcal{CC}(\hat{B}).$$

For two dimensions the bubble B is simply mapped by a pullback. Using the above mapping we can preserve the proper trace of the matrix bubble as stated in the following lemma.

Lemma 34. Let \hat{B} be the symmetric bubble matrix on the reference element and let q be an arbitrary matrix. The products $q\hat{B}$ and $\hat{B}q$ have vanishing tangential trace on $\partial \hat{T}$. Similarly, for any $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ let $B = CC(\hat{B})$. Then the products qB and Bq have vanishing tangential trace on the boundary ∂T . By these findings we further observe that the function curl(qB) has a vanishing normal trace on ∂T .

Proof. For the result on the reference element we refer to lemma 2.3 in [27]. The proof on ∂T follows the same lines using $\nabla \lambda_l = \nabla \hat{\lambda}_l F_T^{-1}$. Now note that on the surface ∂T we have the identity $\operatorname{curl}(qB) \cdot n = \operatorname{curl}_t((qB)_t)$, where curl_t is the surface curl (see e.g. [11]). By this we conclude that $(\operatorname{curl}(qB))_n = 0$.

Corollary 6. Let $\sigma \in \delta \Sigma_h$, there holds

$$\llbracket (\sigma)_{nt} \rrbracket = 0 \quad on \ all \quad F \in \mathcal{F}_h$$

Proof. This is a direct consequence of lemma 34 and equation (4.2).

7.2 A discrete variational formulation

Using the enrichment space $\delta \Sigma_h$ we can now derive a discrete variational formulation of equation (7.1). To this end let $k \geq 1$, then we define the stress space by

$$\Sigma_h^{\dagger} := \Sigma_h \oplus \delta \Sigma_h,$$

and similarly $\Sigma_{h,N}^{\dagger} := \Sigma_{h,N} \oplus \delta \Sigma_h$. Note that due to corollary 6, all functions in Σ_h^{\dagger} are normal-tangential continuous and are polynomials up to order k + 1, thus we have

$$\Sigma_h^{\dagger} \subset \Xi_{\mathbb{D}}^{k+1}. \tag{7.5}$$

Whereas the pressure in equation (7.1) can be interpreted as a Lagrange multiplier for the incompressibility constraint $\operatorname{div}(u) = 0$, the function $\gamma := \omega(u)$ is responsible for the symmetry constraint (7.1d). In order to discretize γ we introduce the space

$$W_h := \mathbb{P}^k_{\mathrm{skw}}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}).$$
(7.6)

Functions in W_h can be mapped from the reference element such that skew symmetry is retained, thus for a given $\gamma_h \in W_h$ there exists a function $\hat{\gamma}_h \in \mathbb{P}^k_{skw}(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ such that

$$\gamma_h = F_T^{-\mathrm{T}} \hat{\gamma}_h \circ \phi_T^{-1} F_T^{-1}.$$
(7.7)

Again, we use the Raviart-Thomas space of order k as the velocity space, $V_h = \mathcal{RT}^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$, and define the product space $U_h := V_h \times W_h$. Further, we use the same pressure space Q_h as it was chosen for the standard MCS method, see equation (6.3).

We follow the same steps as in section 6.1 to derive a new discrete variational formulation. The discrete velocity and pressure space are chosen conformingly with respect to V and Q, thus we can use the bilinear forms defined in section 4.3, see equations (4.27) and (4.28). Motivated by identity (5.12) of theorem 13 we further realize that we can use the bilinear form b_{2h} defined by equation (6.4) to use it as an approximation of the bilinear form b_2 as it appears in the continuous setting (4.43). It remains to define a bilinear form for the symmetry constraint. As the discrete velocity and the discrete vorticity can both be interpreted as a dual variable, thus they act as a Lagrange multiplier to fulfill certain constraints on the discrete stress, we define the bilinear form

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}: \{\tau \in H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \llbracket \tau_{nt} \rrbracket = 0\} \times \left(\{v \in H^1(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d) : \llbracket v_n \rrbracket = 0\} \times L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})\right) \to \mathbb{R}$$

by

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau,(v,\eta)) := \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\tau) \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau : \eta \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F \llbracket \tau_{nn} \rrbracket v_n \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$
(7.8)

Thus, b_{2h}^{ε} is a combination of b_{2h} and the symmetry constraint. Using these bilinear forms the discrete MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry now finds: $\sigma_h, u_h, \gamma_h, p_h \in \Sigma_{h,N}^{\dagger} \times V_{h,D} \times W_h \times Q_h$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)) = (g_{D,t}, (\tau_h)_{nt})_{\Gamma_{D,t}} & \text{for all } \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, \\ b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\sigma_h, (v_h, \eta_h)) + b_1(v_h, p_h) = -(f, v_h)_{\Omega} + (g_{N,n}, v_n)_{\Gamma_{N,n}} & \text{for all } (v_h, \eta_h) \in V_h \times W_h, \\ b_1(u_h, q_h) = 0 & \text{for all } q_h \in Q_h. \end{cases}$$

$$(7.9)$$

7.3 Discrete inf-sup stability

As in section 6.2 we only consider the case of homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8) for the stability analysis. The analysis we discuss in this section is based on the same norms used in the work [111]. To this end let $v_h \in V_h$ and $\eta_h \in W_h$, then we define

$$\|v_h\|_{1,h,sym}^2 := \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T^2 + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|\llbracket(v_h)_t]\|_F^2,$$

$$\|(v_h,\eta_h)\|_{U_h}^2 := \|v_h\|_{1,h,sym}^2 + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\omega(v_h) - \eta_h\|_T^2.$$

Whereas the first norm reads as a symmetric H^1 -like DG norm, the second norm further measures the differences between the discrete vorticity of a velocity v_h and a given field η_h . In lemma 40 below it is shown how the product-space norm $\|(\cdot, \cdot)\|_{U_h}$ is related to norms defined on the parts V_h and W_h separately. Beside that we choose the norms

$$\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}}^2 := \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h}^2 = \|\tau_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \quad \forall \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, \quad \text{and} \quad ||q_h||_{Q_h}^2 := \|q_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \quad \forall q_h \in Q_h$$

Before we prove discrete inf-sup stability of the system (7.9) we provide some norm equivalences in the next section.

7.3.1 Norm equivalences

The first equivalence is similar to the result of lemma 20. Note that the projection on the facets is of one order higher.

Lemma 35. For all $v_h \in V_h$,

$$\|(v_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h}^2 \sim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \left(\|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T^2 + \|\omega(v_h) - \eta_h\|_T^2 \right) + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \left\| \Pi_F^1 [\![(v_h)_t]\!] \right\|_F^2.$$

Proof. One side of the equivalence is obvious by the continuity of the Π_F^1 . For the other direction first note that

$$\frac{1}{h} \| \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2 \le \frac{2}{h} \| \Pi_F^1 \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2 + \frac{2}{h} \| \llbracket (v_h - \Pi_F^1 v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2.$$

As $\Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v_h \in \mathbb{P}^1(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$, we have again by the continuity of Π^1_F

$$\| \llbracket (v_h - \Pi_F^1 v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2 = \| (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_F^1) \llbracket (v_h - \Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2 \le \| \llbracket (v_h - \Pi^{\mathrm{RM}} v_h)_t \rrbracket \|_F^2.$$

We conclude the proof using the estimate (5.5).

Lemma 36. For all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and $v_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(T)$ there holds the equivalence

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T^2 &\sim \|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(v_h))]\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2 \\ &= \|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \omega(v_h))]\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2, \end{aligned}$$

and the estimate

$$\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\omega(v_h)\|_T^2 \lesssim \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2, \quad and \quad \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\nabla v_h\|_T^2 \lesssim \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2$$

Proof. The proof follows along the same lines as the proof of lemma 22. Let $v_h \in V_h$ be arbitrary. In a first step we solve the same problem (6.12) to find a function $w_h \in \mathcal{RT}^k(T)$ such that $\operatorname{div}(w_h) = \operatorname{div}(v_h)$. Further v_h , can locally be written as $v_h = a + w_h$ with $a \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and the estimate

$$\|\nabla w_h\|_T \sim \|\operatorname{div}(w_h)\|_T.$$

This yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T &= \|\varepsilon(a+w_h)\|_T \leq \|\operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(a))\|_T + \|\operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(w_h))\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\leq \|\operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(a))\|_T + \|\nabla w_h\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\lesssim \|\operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(a))\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &= \|\Pi^{k-1}\operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(a))\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T. \end{aligned}$$

As $a = v_h - w_h$, we conclude

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T &\lesssim \|\Pi^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(v_h))\|_T + \|\Pi^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(w_h))\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\lesssim \|\Pi^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(v_h))\|_T + \|\nabla w_h\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T \\ &\lesssim \|\Pi^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\varepsilon(v_h))\|_T + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T. \end{aligned}$$

It remains to show the second statement. First, note that due to the definition of the function $\omega(\cdot)$ we have $\|\omega(v_h)\|_T \sim \|\operatorname{curl}(v_h)\|_T$. Thus, using the representation from above, we see

$$\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\omega(v_h)\|_T^2 \lesssim \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\operatorname{curl}(a)\|_T^2 + \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\operatorname{curl}(w_h)\|_T^2.$$

As $a \in \mathbb{P}^k(T, \mathbb{R}^d)$, the first term vanishes, thus with the arguments from above

$$\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1}) \operatorname{curl}(w_h)\|_T^2 \le \|\nabla w_h\|_T^2 \le \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T.$$

The estimate for the gradient also follows with the same steps and the local representation of v_h , see also in the proof of lemma 22.

Lemma 37. Let $\mu_h \in \mathbb{P}^k_{skw}(\hat{T}, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ and set and $\tau_h = \operatorname{dev}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h)\hat{B}))$. Then there holds the norm equivalence

$$\|\tau_h\|_{\hat{T}} \sim \|\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h)\|_{\hat{T}}$$

Proof. If $\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h) = 0$, then obviously also the left side is zero. We claim that the converse is also true. Indeed, if $\tau_h = 0$, then putting $s = d^{-1} \operatorname{tr}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h)\hat{B}))$, we have

$$\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h)\hat{B}) = s \operatorname{Id}.$$
 (7.10)

Taking the divergence on both sides, we find that $\nabla s = 0$, so *s* must be a constant on *T*. Then, applying the normal trace operator on both sides of (7.10) and on each facet, we realize that sn = 0, which yields s = 0. Hence, we have the equation $\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h)\hat{B}) = 0$, which in turn implies that $0 = (\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h)\hat{B}, \mu_h)_T = (\operatorname{curl}(\mu_h)\hat{B}, \widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h))_T = 0$. Therefore, lemma 2.2 in [27] proves $\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\mu_h) = 0$.

Lemma 38. For all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and $\eta_h \in W_h$ there holds

$$\|\nabla \eta_h\|_T \sim \|\operatorname{curl}(\eta_h)\|_T.$$

Proof. The proof is based on a scaling argument and norm equivalence on finite dimensional spaces on the reference element. To this end let $\hat{\eta}_h = F_T^T \eta_h F_T$. We start with the three-dimensional case. As F_T^T is constant, a simple calculation shows that $\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\hat{\eta}_h) = \widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^T \eta_h F) = F_T^T \widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\eta_h F)$. Using the well known formula of the curl of a covariant mapped function $(\eta_h F)$ reads as a function where each row is mapped with the covariant transformation) we conclude for d = 3

$$\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\eta_h F) = F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\eta_h^i F) = F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\operatorname{curl}(\eta_h)F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}\det F_T.$$

In two dimensions a simple calculation first shows that

$$\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_h^i F_T) = F_T^{\mathrm{T}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\gamma_h^i F_T))$$

Next, again $\gamma_h^i F_T$ results in a matrix where each row of γ_h^i is mapped with the covariant mapping. In two dimensions this then yields the identity

$$F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\mathrm{curl}(\gamma_h^i F_T) = \det F_T F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\mathrm{curl}(\gamma_h^i).$$

A scaling argument then gives in both dimensions

$$\|\nabla \eta_h\|_T^2 \sim h^{d-6} \|\hat{\nabla} \hat{\eta}_h\|_{\hat{T}}^2$$
 and $\|\operatorname{curl}(\eta_h)\|_T^2 \sim h^{d-6} \|\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\hat{\eta}_h)\|_{\hat{T}}^2$.

In the following we show the norm equivalence $\|\operatorname{curl}(\hat{\eta}_h)\|_{\hat{T}} \sim \|\hat{\nabla}\hat{\eta}_h\|_{\hat{T}}$ by proving that both sides only contain constant functions in the kernel. This obviously holds true for the right side. In three dimensions the curl of a skew symmetric matrix reads as

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\hat{\eta}_h) &= \widehat{\operatorname{curl}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 & (\hat{\eta}_h)_2 \\ (\hat{\eta}_h)_3 & 0 & -(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 \\ -(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 & (\hat{\eta}_h)_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\hat{x}_2}(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 + \partial_{\hat{x}_3}(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 & -\partial_{\hat{x}_1}(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 & -\partial_{\hat{x}_1}(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 \\ -\partial_{\hat{x}_2}(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 & \partial_{\hat{x}_1}(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 + \partial_{\hat{x}_3}(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 & -\partial_{\hat{x}_2}(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 \\ -\partial_{\hat{x}_3}(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 & -\partial_{\hat{x}_3}(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 & \partial_{\hat{x}_1}(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 + \partial_{\hat{x}_2}(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

Thus, if we assume $\|\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\hat{\eta}_h)\|_{\hat{T}} = 0$, the off-diagonal entries above show that

$$\begin{aligned} &(\hat{\eta}_h)_1(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2, \hat{x}_3) = (\hat{\eta}_h)_1(\hat{x}_1), \\ &(\hat{\eta}_h)_2(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2, \hat{x}_3) = (\hat{\eta}_h)_2(\hat{x}_2), \\ &(\hat{\eta}_h)_2(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2, \hat{x}_3) = (\hat{\eta}_h)_3(\hat{x}_3), \end{aligned}$$

and the entries on the diagonal yield

$$\partial_{\hat{x}_2}(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 + \partial_{\hat{x}_3}(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 = 0, \quad \partial_{\hat{x}_1}(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 + \partial_{\hat{x}_3}(\hat{\eta}_h)_3 = 0, \quad \partial_{\hat{x}_1}(\hat{\eta}_h)_1 + \partial_{\hat{x}_2}(\hat{\eta}_h)_2 = 0.$$

From the above equations we see that the entries $(\hat{\eta}_h)_i$, i = 1, 2, 3, have to be constant. In two dimensions the equivalence is obvious as the curl operator is simply given by the rotated gradient.

Lemma 39. For all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and $(v_h, \eta_h) \in U_h$ there holds

$$\begin{aligned} |\varepsilon(v_h)||_T^2 + \|\omega(v_h) - \eta_h\|_T^2 \\ &\sim \|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \eta_h)]\|_T^2 + h^2 \|\operatorname{curl}(\eta_h)\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We start by showing a Pythagoras-Theorem like equivalence. Adding and subtracting $\omega(v_h)$ we have the identity

$$\int_{T} |\Pi^{k-1} [\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_{h} - \eta_{h})]|^{2} dx = \int_{T} |\Pi^{k-1} [\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_{h} - \omega(v_{h}) + \omega(v_{h}) - \eta_{h})]|^{2} dx$$

=
$$\int_{T} |\Pi^{k-1} (\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_{h} - \omega(v_{h})))|^{2}$$

+
$$2(\Pi^{k-1} [\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_{h} - \omega(v_{h}))] : \Pi^{k-1} [\omega(v_{h}) - \eta_{h}]$$

+
$$|\Pi^{k-1} [\omega(v_{h}) - \eta_{h}]|^{2} dx.$$

Due to the orthogonality of symmetric and skew symmetric matrices the mixed term vanishes, yielding

$$\|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \eta_h)]\|_T^2 = \|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \omega(v_h))]\|_T^2 + \|\Pi^{k-1}[\omega(v_h) - \eta_h]\|_T^2.$$
(7.11)

For the proof of the lemma we first show that the left side can be bounded by the right side. Using lemma 36 and equation (7.11) we have

$$\|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T^2 \le \|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \eta_h)]\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2$$

Next, note that

$$\|\omega(v_h) - \eta_h\|_T^2 \le \|\Pi^{k-1}(\omega(v_h) - \eta_h)\|_T^2 + \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})(\omega(v_h) - \eta_h)\|_T^2$$

Using identity (7.11), the first term can trivially be bounded by $\|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \eta_h)]\|_T^2$. For the second term we have with lemma 36 and lemma 38

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})(\omega(v_h) - \eta_h)\|_T^2 &\leq \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\omega(v_h)\|_T^2 + \|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^{k-1})\eta_h\|_T^2 \\ &\leq \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2 + h^2 \|\nabla\eta_h\|_T^2 \\ &\leq \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2 + h^2 \|\operatorname{curl}(\eta_h)\|_T^2. \end{aligned}$$

To bound the right side we use (7.11), lemma 36 and the continuity of the projection,

$$\|\Pi^{k-1}[\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \eta_h)]\|_T^2 + \|\operatorname{div}(v_h)\|_T^2 \le \|\varepsilon(v_h)\|_T^2 + \|\omega(u) - \eta_h\|_T^2.$$

As $\operatorname{curl}(\omega(\Pi^{RM}v_h)) = 0$, we obtain, using an inverse inequality for polynomials (see [117]) and estimate (5.4),

$$h^{2} \|\operatorname{curl}(\eta_{h})\|_{T}^{2} = h^{2} \|\operatorname{curl}(\eta_{h} - \omega(\Pi^{RM}v_{h}))\|_{T}^{2} \lesssim \|\eta_{h} - \omega(\Pi^{RM}v_{h})\|_{T}^{2}$$

$$\leq \|\eta_{h} - \omega(v_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \|\omega(v_{h}) - \omega(\Pi^{RM}v_{h})\|_{T}^{2}$$

$$\sim \|\eta_{h} - \omega(v_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \|\operatorname{curl}(v_{h} - \Pi^{RM}v_{h})\|_{T}^{2}$$

$$\lesssim \|\eta_{h} - \omega(v_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \|\varepsilon(v_{h})\|_{T}^{2},$$

which concludes the proof.

Lemma 40. For all $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ and $(u_h, \gamma_h) \in U_h$ with $\gamma_h \perp \mathbb{P}^0(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ there holds

$$\|\gamma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \sim \inf_{v_h \in V_h} \|(v_h, \gamma_h)\|_{U_h}, \\ \|u_h\|_{1,h,sym} \sim \inf_{\eta_h \in W_h} \|(u_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h}.$$

Proof. We start with the first equivalence. It is easy to see that the right side can be bounded by the left side by choosing $v_h = 0$. For the other direction we have, using lemma 39 and lemma 38,

$$\inf_{v_h \in V_h} \|(v_h, \gamma_h)\|_{U_h} \gtrsim h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \sim h \|\nabla \gamma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \sim \|\gamma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)},$$

where we used $\gamma_h \perp \mathbb{P}^0(T, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ in the last step. For the other equivalence, again the right side can be bounded by the left side by choosing $\eta_h = \omega(u_h)$. For the other direction note that

$$\inf_{\eta_h \in W_h} \|(u_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h}^2 = \|u_h\|_{1,h,sym}^2 + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\omega(u_h) - \eta_h\|_T^2 \ge \|v_h\|_{1,h,sym}^2,$$

thus the other direction follows trivially.

7.3.2 Stability analysis

Similarly as in section 6.2.2 we are aiming to use Brezzi's theorem 6 to show discrete inf-sup stability. To this end we prove all the conditions needed in the following.

Lemma 41 (Continuity of a and b_1 and b_{2h}^{ε}). The bilinear forms a, b_1 and b_{2h}^{ε} are continuous:

$$\begin{aligned} a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) &\lesssim \nu^{-1} \|\sigma_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} \nu^{-1} \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}}, \quad \text{for all } \sigma_h, \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, \\ b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (v_h, \eta_h)) &\lesssim \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} \|(v_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h}, \quad \text{for all } \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, (v_h, \eta_h) \in U_h, \\ b_1(v_h, q_h) &\lesssim \|(v_h, 0)\|_{U_h} \|q_h\|_{Q_h}, \quad \text{for all } (v_h, 0) \in U_h, q_h \in Q_h. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The continuity of a and b_1 follow by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. For b_{2h}^{ε} we have

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (v_h, \eta_h)) = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau : (\nabla v_h - \eta_h) \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F \tau_{nt} \cdot \llbracket (v_h)_t \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Using the estimate

$$\|\nabla v_h - \eta_h\|_T^2 \le \|\nabla v_h - \omega(v_h)\|_T^2 + \|\omega(v_h) - \eta\|_T^2,$$

we conclude the proof by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and lemma 19.

With respect to the bilinear forms b_1 and b_{2h}^{ε} we define the kernel as

$$K_{b_h^{\varepsilon}} := \{ (\tau_h, q_h) \in \Sigma_h \times Q_h : b_1(v_h, q_h) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\sigma_h, (v_h, \eta_h)) = 0 \text{ for all } (v_h, \eta_h) \in U_h \}.$$

Lemma 42 (Coercivity of a on the kernel). For all $(\sigma_h, p_h) \in K_{b_h^{\varepsilon}}$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu} \big(\|\sigma_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} + ||p_h||_{Q_h} \big)^2 \lesssim a(\sigma_h, \sigma_h).$$

Proof. The proof follows with the same steps as the proof of lemma 24. Again, bounding the symmetric norm trivially by the full norm, we find for all $p_h \in Q_h$ a $v_h \in V_h$ with

$$\operatorname{div}(v_h) = p_h$$
, and $||v_h||_{1,h,sym}^2 \lesssim ||p_h||_{Q_h}$.

For $\eta_h := \omega(v_h) \in W_h$ we then immediately also have the estimate

$$\|(v_h,\eta_h)\|_{U_h} \lesssim \|p_h\|_{Q_h}$$

thus

$$2||p_h||_{Q_h}^2 = b_1(v_h, p_h) = -b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\sigma_h, v_h) \lesssim \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} \|(v_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h} \lesssim \|\sigma\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} ||p_h||_{Q_h}.$$

The rest of the proof follows similarly as in the proof of lemma 24.

We continue with the proof of the discrete LBB-condition. For this we proceed similarly as in section 6.2.2 and first show two lemmas needed for the final result. Whereas the first lemma proves a LBB-condition for the symmetry constraint, the second lemma discusses inf-sup stability of the discrete divergence of stress variables.

Lemma 43. Let $\gamma_h \in W_h$ be arbitrary. There exists a $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \tau_h : \gamma_h \gtrsim h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}}.$$

Further let $u_h \in V_h$ be arbitrary, then additionally we have

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)) \gtrsim \left(h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} - \|\operatorname{div}(u_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}\right) \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}}.$$

Proof. Let $\gamma_h \in W_h$ be arbitrary. Using the proper transformation for skew symmetric matrices we define for each $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ the function

$$\hat{\tau}_h^T := \operatorname{dev}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_h F)\hat{B})),$$

where curl is the curl operator with respect to the coordinates on the reference element. Using these locally defined functions we set

$$\tau_h := \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \mathcal{M}(\hat{\tau}_h^T).$$

In the following we show that this is an admissible choice, thus that τ_h is an element of Σ_h^{\dagger} . We start with the three-dimensional case. By the definition of the covariant Piola transformation \mathcal{M} , see equation (5.22), and the proper mapping for the bubble matrix, see equation (7.4), we observe on a fixed element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ that

$$\mathcal{M}\left(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_h F)\hat{B})\right) = \frac{1}{\det(F_T)}F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_h F)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}BF_T)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

With the same argument as in the proof of lemma 38 we can write the curl on the reference element \hat{T} in terms of the curl on the physical element T. Using this identity twice we deduce

$$F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_h F)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}BF_T)F_T^{\mathrm{T}} = F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}\det F_T F_T^{\mathrm{T}}BF_T)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}$$

$$= \det F_T F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)BF_T)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}$$

$$= (\det F_T)^2 F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B)F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}F_T^{\mathrm{T}}$$

$$= (\det F_T)^2 \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B).$$

As the mapping \mathcal{M} and the deviator commutes, see lemma 16, this shows

$$\tau_h|_T = (\det F_T) \operatorname{dev}(\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B))$$

Further, we have that $\Pi^k(\tau_h|_T) \in \Sigma$ and $(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi^k)(\tau_h|_T) \in \delta\Sigma$, thus by corollary 6 and lemma 34 we conclude that $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}$.

Next, note that due to the skew symmetry of γ_h we have on each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$

$$\int_{T} \tau_{h} : \gamma_{h} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{T} \det F_{T} \det(\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})B)) : \gamma_{h} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{T} \det F_{T} \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})B) : \gamma_{h} \, \mathrm{d}x \, .$$

Integrating by parts and using lemma 34 this yields

$$\int_T \tau_h : \gamma_h \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_T \det F_T \operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h) B : \operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h) \, \mathrm{d}x \, .$$

As $|\det F_T| \sim h^d$ and $||B||_{\infty} \sim ||\sum_{l \in \mathcal{V}} \nabla \lambda_l \otimes \nabla \lambda_l||_{\infty} \sim h^{-2}$, we conclude $\int_T \tau_h : \gamma_h \, \mathrm{d}x \gtrsim h ||\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)||_T^2.$ Next, lemma 37, lemma 18 and a standard scaling argument further show that

$$\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^\dagger} \sim \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

which proves the first part of the lemma for d = 3.

In two dimensions we first have with similar steps as in the proof of lemma 38 that

$$\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_h F_T)\hat{B}) = F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\gamma_h F_T)\hat{B}) = (\det F_T)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\hat{B}).$$

According to the definition of the enrichment space, the outer curl operator is applied on each scalar component of the vector $\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\hat{B}$. By the properties of the discrete de Rham complex (in two dimension), the resulting field is mapped with the (inverse) Piola mapping, which yields

$$(\det F_T)F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\widehat{\mathrm{curl}}(\mathrm{curl}(\gamma_h)\hat{B}) = (\det F)^2 F_T^{\mathrm{T}}\mathrm{curl}(\mathrm{curl}(\gamma_h)\hat{B})F_T^{-\mathrm{T}}.$$

Summing up the above results and using the classical pullback for the bubble we have similarly as in three dimensions that

$$\mathcal{M}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(\widehat{\operatorname{curl}}(F^{\mathrm{T}}\gamma_{h}F)\hat{B})) = (\det F)\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})B).$$

With the same arguments as in the three-dimensional case this shows that $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}$, and an integration by parts argument yields

$$\int_T \tau_h : \gamma_h \, \mathrm{d}x \gtrsim h^2 \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_T^2.$$

A scaling argument as above (using $||B||_{\infty} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$) further shows $||\tau_h||_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} \sim h ||\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)||_{L^2(\Omega)}$, from which we conclude the first statement of the lemma.

Now let $u_h \in V_h$ be arbitrary. For d = 3 we observe as $[(\tau_h)_{nt}] = 0$ (see lemma 34) that

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)) = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h : \nabla u_h \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h : \gamma_h \, \mathrm{d}x \, .$$

With the above results the second sum can be bounded from below by $h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$. By the definition of τ_h , we can split the first sum into two parts

$$\begin{aligned} -\sum_{T\in\mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \tau_h : \nabla u_h \, \mathrm{d}x &= -\sum_{T\in\mathcal{T}_h} \det F_T \int_T \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B) : \nabla u_h \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \frac{\det F_T}{d} \sum_{T\in\mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{Id} \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B)) : \nabla u_h \, \mathrm{d}x \end{aligned}$$

For the first sum we observe by an integration by parts argument on each element $T \in \mathcal{T}_h$ separately that

$$\int_{T} \operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})B) : \nabla u_{h} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{T} (\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})B) : \operatorname{curl}(\nabla u_{h}) \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\partial T} (\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})B) \times n : (\nabla u_{h})_{t} \, \mathrm{d}s = 0,$$

where lemma 34 was used to prove that the boundary terms vanish. Thus, all together this yields

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)) \ge \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \frac{\det F_T}{d} \int_T \operatorname{Id} \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B)) : \nabla u_h \, \mathrm{d}x + h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$$
$$= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \frac{\det F_T}{d} \int_T \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{curl}(\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)B)) \operatorname{div}(u_h) \, \mathrm{d}x + h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$$
$$\gtrsim -\|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|\operatorname{div}(u_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2,$$

where we used an inverse inequality for polynomials in the last step. Using $\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} \sim \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$ we conclude the proof (the two dimensional case follows similarly). \Box

Lemma 43 states that it is possible to choose a stress function τ_h , which lies almost in the kernel of the distributional divergence operator. The facet contributions vanish completely, and the (low order) element contributions are bounded from below (with a minus) only by the divergence of the velocity u_h . This is one of the key results needed to show stability of the global system.

Next, we define the following norm on the product space U_h

$$\|(v_h,\eta_h)\|_{U_h,\Pi}^2 := \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi_T^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_h - \eta_h)\|_T^2 + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi_F^1[(v_h)_t]\|_F^2.$$

For the discrete solution $u_h \in V_h$ and $\gamma_h \in W_h$ of (7.9) we have that $\omega(u_h) \approx \gamma_h$ and $\operatorname{div}(u_h) = 0$, and thus the first term in this norm is approximately $\Pi^{k-1}\varepsilon(u)$. Therefore, for divergence free velocity functions and a proper η_h the norm $\|(v_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h,*}$ can be interpreted as a (projected) symmetric discrete H^1 -norm of the velocity similarly as the norm $\|\cdot\|_{1,h,\Pi}$ defined it in section 6.2.2.

Lemma 44. Let $(u_h, \gamma_h) \in U_h$ be arbitrary. There exists a $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}$ such that

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)) \gtrsim ||(u_h, \gamma_h)||_{U_h, \Pi}^2,$$

and $\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^\dagger} \lesssim \|(u_h, \gamma_h)\|_{U_h, \Pi}.$

Proof. The proof follows along the same lines as the proof of lemma 25, and is based on a decomposition of the space $\Sigma_h = \Sigma_h^F \oplus \Sigma_h^T$, where Σ_h^T contains element-wise normaltangential bubbles, and Σ_h^F contains basis functions associated with the facets given by S^F with the property that $S_{nt}^F \in \mathbb{P}^0(F, n_T^{\perp})$ and $\|S_{nt}^F\|_2 = 1$ on the facet F and equal (0,0) on all other facets. Given any $(u_h, \gamma_h) \in U_h$, we now define similarly to equation (6.15), the function

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_h^0 &:= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} -(S^F : \Pi^{k-1} \mathrm{dev}(\nabla u_h - \gamma_h)) \lambda_T^F S^F, \\ \tau_h^1 &:= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} (\Pi^1 \llbracket (u_h)_t \rrbracket) S^F. \end{aligned}$$

Note that the choice of τ_h^0 in terms of $(S^F : \Pi^{k-1} \text{dev}(\nabla u_h - \gamma_h))\lambda_T^F S^F$ is admissible as $\Pi^{k-1} \text{dev}(\nabla u_h - \gamma_h))$ is a polynomial of degree k - 1, and $\Sigma_h^{\dagger} = \Sigma_h \oplus \delta \Sigma_h$ contains polynomials up to order k. Using the norm equivalences stated in lemma 19 and the proper mapping for u_h and γ_h , we easily see that

$$\|\tau_h^0\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}}^2 \lesssim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\Pi^{k-1} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla u_h - \gamma_h))\|_T^2, \quad \text{and} \quad \|\tau_h^1\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}}^2 \lesssim \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \frac{1}{h} \|\Pi^1[(u_h)_t]\|_F^2.$$

We conclude the proof by a proper linear combination of τ_h^0 and τ_h^1 , and the same lines as in the proof of lemma 25.

Theorem 28 (Discrete LBB-condition). Let $(u_h, \gamma_h) \in W_h$ be arbitrary. There holds

$$\sup_{(\tau_h, q_h) \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger} \times Q_h} \frac{b_1(u_h, q_h) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h))}{\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} + \|q_h\|_{Q_h}} \gtrsim \|(u_h, \eta_h)\|_{U_h}.$$

Proof. We choose $\tau_h^1, \tau_h^2 \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}$ according to lemma 43 and lemma 44, respectively, and scale them such that

$$\|\tau_{h}^{1}\|_{\Sigma_{h}^{\dagger}} = h\|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \text{ and } \|\tau_{h}^{2}\|_{\Sigma_{h}^{\dagger}} = \|(u_{h},\gamma_{h})\|_{U_{h},\Pi}$$

Next, we further choose $q_h = \operatorname{div}(u_h)$, which is possible due to the choice of the velocity space V_h and the pressure space Q_h . This yields that $b_1(u_h, q_h) = \|\operatorname{div}(u_h)\|_{Q_h}^2$. For $\tau_h := \alpha \tau_h^1 + \tau_h^2$ and βq_h , where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ are constants to be chosen later, it follows

$$b_{1}(u_{h},q_{h}) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_{h},(u_{h},\gamma_{h})) = \beta \|\operatorname{div}(u_{h})\|_{Q_{h}}^{2} + \alpha b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_{h}^{1},(u_{h},\gamma_{h})) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_{h}^{2},(u_{h},\gamma_{h})) \\ \gtrsim \beta \|\operatorname{div}(u_{h})\|_{Q_{h}}^{2} + \alpha h^{2} \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ - \alpha h \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\operatorname{div}(u_{h})\|_{Q_{h}} + \|(u_{h},\gamma_{h})\|_{U_{h},\Pi}^{2}.$$

Using Young's inequality for the mixed terms and choosing $\alpha > 1$ and $\beta > \alpha^2/2$ we get

$$b_1(u_h, q_h) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)) \gtrsim \|\operatorname{div}(u_h)\|_{Q_h}^2 + h^2 \|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \|(u_h, \gamma_h)\|_{U_h, \Pi^2}^2$$

and $\|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} + \|q_h\|_{Q_h} \lesssim \|\operatorname{div}(u_h)\|_{Q_h} + h\|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_h)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|(u_h, \gamma_h)\|_{U_h, \Pi}$. We conclude the proof by using lemma 39 (separately on each element) and lemma 35, which yields

$$\|\operatorname{div}(u_{h})\|_{Q_{h}}^{2} + h^{2}\|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|(u_{h},\gamma_{h})\|_{U_{h},\Pi}^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} \|\Pi_{T}^{k-1}\operatorname{dev}(\nabla v_{h} - \gamma_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + h^{2}\|\operatorname{curl}(\gamma_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \|\operatorname{div}(u_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h}\|\Pi_{F}^{1}[(v_{h})_{t}]\|_{F}^{2}$$

$$\sim \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} \|\varepsilon(u_{h})\|_{T}^{2} + \|\omega(u_{h}) - \gamma_{h}\|_{T}^{2} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{h}} \frac{1}{h}\|\Pi_{F}^{1}[(v_{h})_{t}]\|_{F}^{2} \sim \|(u_{h},\gamma_{h})\|_{U_{h}}^{2}.$$

We are now able to show existence and uniqueness of the discrete solution. To this end we define the bilinear form

$$B_{\varepsilon}(u_h, \gamma_h, \sigma_h, p_h; v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h)$$

$$:= a(\sigma_h, \tau_h) + b_1(u_h, q_h) + b_1(v_h, p_h) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\sigma_h, (v_h, \eta_h)) + b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (u_h, \gamma_h)),$$

and the norm $\|(u_h, \gamma_h, \sigma_h, p_h)\|_{*,\varepsilon} := \sqrt{\nu} \|(u_h, \gamma_h)\|_{U_h} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} (\|\sigma_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} + ||p_h||_{Q_h}).$

Corollary 7. The bilinearform B_{ε} is inf-sup stable with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{*,\varepsilon}$, thus there exists a constant $\beta > 0$ such that for all nonzero functions $(\sigma_h, u_h, \gamma_h, p_h) \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger} \times V_h \times W_h \times Q_h$ there holds

$$\|(u_h, \gamma_h, \sigma_h, p_h)\|_{*,\varepsilon} \lesssim \sup_{\substack{(v_h, \eta_h) \in V_h \times W_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B_{\varepsilon}(u_h, \gamma_h, \sigma_h, p_h; v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\|(v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h)\|_{*,\varepsilon}}$$

Let $f \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and assume homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8). There exists a unique solution $(\sigma_h, u_h, \gamma_h, p_h) \in \Sigma_{h,N}^{\dagger} \times V_{h,D} \times W_h \times Q_h$ of the MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry (7.9) with the stability estimate

$$||u_h, \gamma_h, \sigma_h, p_h||_{*,\varepsilon} \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} ||f||_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Proof. This follows along the same lines as the proof of corollary 4 using lemma 41, lemma 42, theorem 28 and Brezzi's theorem 6. \Box

Theorem 29 (Consistency). The mass conserving mixed stress formulation with weakly imposed symmetry (7.9) is consistent in the following sense. If the exact solution of the mixed Stokes problem (7.1) fulfills the regularity property $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$, $\gamma = \omega(u) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $p \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, then

$$B_{\varepsilon}(u,\gamma,\sigma,p;v_h,\eta_h,\tau_h,q_h) = (-f,v_h)_{\Omega} + (g_{D,t},(\tau_h)_{nt})_{\Gamma_{D,t}} + (g_{N,n},v_n)_{\Gamma_{N,n}}$$

for all $(v_h, \eta_h) \in V_h \times W_h, q_h \in Q_h$, and $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$. Further, there holds consistency on the subspace of divergence free velocity fields

$$B(u, \gamma, \sigma, 0; v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, 0) = (-f, v_h)_{\Omega} + (g_{D,t}, (\tau_h)_{nt})_{\Gamma_{D,t}} + (g_{N,n}, v_n)_{\Gamma_{N,n}},$$

for all $(v_h, \eta_h) \in V_h^0 \times W_h$ and $\tau_h \in \Sigma_h$.

Proof. Follows with the same steps as in the proof of theorem 18 and theorem 19. \Box

7.4 Error estimates and post processing

Beside the operators defined by equation (6.30) we further set $I_{W_h} := \Pi_{\mathcal{T}_h}^k$. As we also aim to prove an enhanced convergence rate of the L^2 -norm error measured in a proper sense, we again assume that the solution $z \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\mu \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ of a symmetric version of the standard variational formulation in a velocity-pressure setting (4.40) fulfills the regularity property equation (6.31).

There holds the following error estimate.

Theorem 30 (Optimal convergence). Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$, $p \in Q \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ and $\gamma = \omega(u) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ be the exact solutions of the symmetric mixed Stokes equations (7.1). Further, let u_h , σ_h , γ_h and p_h be the solution of the MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry (7.9). For $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu} (\|\sigma - \sigma_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} + \|p - p_h\|_{Q_h}) + \|u_h - I_{V_h} u, \gamma - \gamma_h\|_{U_h} \\
\lesssim h^s (\frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu} \|p\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \|\gamma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}).$$

Assume that the solution (z, μ) of problem (4.40) fulfills the regularity estimate (6.31). Then, for $s = \min(m - 1, k + 1)$, there holds

$$\|I_{V_h}u - u_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim h^{s+1}(\frac{1}{\nu}\|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \frac{1}{\nu}\|p\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \|\gamma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)})$$

Proof. This follows with the same steps as the proof of theorem 23. First, we split the error into an interpolation error and a discrete measure of the error

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\nu} (||\sigma - \sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p - p_h||_{Q_h}) + ||u_h - I_{V_h} u, \gamma - \gamma_h||_{U_h} \\ \lesssim \frac{1}{\nu} (||\sigma - I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma||_{\Sigma_h} + ||p - \Pi^k p||_{Q_h}) + ||\gamma - I_{W_h} \gamma||_{L^2(\Omega)} \\ + \frac{1}{\nu} (||I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma - \sigma_h||_{\Sigma_h} + ||\Pi^k p - p_h||_{Q_h}) + ||u_h - I_{V_h} u, I_{W_h} \gamma - \gamma_h||_{U_h} \end{aligned}$$

By the approximation results of the interpolation operators, the first three terms already converge with optimal order. Next, we use discrete inf-sup stability theorem 7 and consistency, see corollary 29, to get

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \| (I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, \Pi^k p - p_h) \|_* \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h, \eta_h \in V_h \times W_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B_{\varepsilon}(I_{V_h}u - u_h, I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma_h, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma_h, \Pi^k p - p_h; v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h) \|_*} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{\substack{v_h, \eta_h \in V_h \times W_h \\ \tau_h \in \Sigma_h^{\dagger}, q_h \in Q_h}} \frac{B_{\varepsilon}(I_{V_h}u - u, I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma, I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, \Pi^k p - p; v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h)}{\sqrt{\nu} \| (v_h, \eta_h, \tau_h, q_h) \|_*}. \end{split}$$

Next, each term of the bilinear form B_{ε} is estimated separately. For the terms including the bilinear form b_{2h}^{ε} we have by the properties of I_{V_h}

$$\begin{split} b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(\tau_h, (I_{V_h}u - u, I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma)) \\ &= \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T \operatorname{div}(\tau_h) \cdot (I_{V_h}u - u) + \tau_h : (I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma) \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F \llbracket(\tau_h)_{nn} \rrbracket(I_{V_h}u - u)_n \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\lesssim \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h} \|I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \|\tau_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} \sqrt{\nu} \|(0, I_{W_h}\gamma - \gamma)\|_{U_h}, \end{split}$$

and for the other term, adding and subtracting $\Pi_{\mathcal{T}_h}^{k-1} \nabla v_h$,

$$\begin{split} & b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, (v_h, \eta_h)) \\ & = -\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma : (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1}) \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma : (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^{k-1}) \nabla v_h \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} \int_F (I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt} \cdot \left[\!\!\left[(v_h)_t\right]\!\!\right] \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T (I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma) : \eta_h \, \mathrm{d}x \, . \end{split}$$

By the definition of the interpolator I_{Σ_h} the second sum vanishes. Further, as $I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma$ is orthogonal on constants, we have the equality

$$\sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T (I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma - \sigma) : \eta_h \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \int_T (I_{\Sigma_h} \sigma - \sigma) : (\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^0) \eta_h \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}x$$

Next, lemma 40 shows that $\|(\mathrm{Id} - \Pi_T^0)\eta_h\| \lesssim \|v_h, \eta_h\|_{U_h}$, thus by lemma 36 and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality this yields

$$b_{2h}^{\varepsilon}(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma, (v_h, \eta_h)) \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \left(\|I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma\|_{\Sigma_h} + \sqrt{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_h} h \|(I_{\Sigma_h}\sigma - \sigma)_{nt}\|_F^2} \right) \sqrt{\nu} \|v_h, \eta_h\|_{U_h}.$$

For the terms including the bilinear forms a and b_1 we proceed as in the proof of theorem 23. Adding up all results from above yields

$$B_{\varepsilon}(I_{V_{h}}u-u, I_{W_{h}}\gamma-\gamma, I_{\Sigma_{h}}\sigma-\sigma, \Pi^{k}p-p; v_{h}, \eta_{h}, \tau_{h}, q_{h}) \\ \lesssim \left(\|(0, I_{W_{h}}\gamma-\gamma, I_{\Sigma_{h}}\sigma-\sigma, \Pi^{k}p-p)\|_{*} + 1/\sqrt{\nu} \|I_{\Sigma_{h}}\sigma-\sigma\|_{\Sigma_{h}^{\dagger}, nt} \right) \|(v_{h}, \eta_{h}, \tau_{h}, 0)\|_{*}.$$

We conclude with the interpolation properties given by lemma 28, theorem 21 and the optimal approximation properties of the L^2 -projection, see lemma 30. The improved convergence order of the L^2 -norm error follows with an Aubin-Nitsche technique similarly as in the proof of theorem 25.

Theorem 31 (Pressure robustness). Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ and $\gamma = \omega(u) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R})$ be the exact solutions of the symmetric mixed Stokes equations (7.1). Further, let u_h , σ_h and γ_h be the solutions of the MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry (7.9). For $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$\frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma - \sigma_h\|_{\Sigma_h^{\dagger}} + \|u_h - I_{V_h} u, \gamma - \gamma_h\|_{U_h} \lesssim h^s (\frac{1}{\nu} \|\sigma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)} + \|\gamma\|_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}).$$

Proof. The proof follows along the lines of the proof of theorem 26. Note that discrete inf-sup stability with respect to the subspace of divergence free velocity functions V_h^0 is given by lemma 43, lemma 44 and lemma 39.

Remark 6. Using a Korn inequality as given by lemma 1 in [50] there exists a constant c_K such that

$$||v_h||_{1,h} \le c_K ||v_h||_{1,h,sym}$$
 for all $v_h \in V_h$.

This yields for all $(v_h, \gamma_h) \in U_h$ the estimate

$$\|\gamma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\gamma_h\|_T^2 \le \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\omega(v_h) - \gamma_h\|_T^2 + \sum_{T \in \mathcal{T}_h} \|\omega(v_h)\|_T^2 \le c_K \|u_h - I_{V_h}u, \gamma - \gamma_h\|_{U_h}^2.$$

Thus, the results of theorem 30 and theorem 31 can be extended to prove optimal convergence of $\|\gamma - \gamma_h\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$. However, in contrast to the results given by theorem 30 and theorem 31, the constant then depends on the Korn constant c_K .

We conclude this section with the definition of a local element-wise post processing as it is defined in section 6.3.4. To this end let $V_h^* = \mathcal{BDM}^{k+1}(\mathcal{T}_h)$ and $V_h^{*,-}$ as in (6.37). We define the minimization problem

$$u_{h}^{*,-} := \underset{V_{h}}{\operatorname{argmin}} \underbrace{v_{h}^{*,-} \in V_{h}^{*,-}}_{I_{V_{h}}(v_{h}^{*,-}-u_{h})=0} \| \nu \varepsilon(v_{h}^{*,-}) - \sigma_{h} \|_{T}^{2}, \tag{7.12}$$

and set $u_h^* := \mathcal{R}(u_h^{*,-})$. There holds the following result.

Theorem 32. Assuming homogeneous boundary conditions (6.8), let $u \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H^m(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\sigma \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{D}) \cap H^{m-1}(\mathcal{T}_h, \mathbb{D})$ be the exact solutions of the symmetric mixed Stokes equations (7.1). Further, let u_h be the solutions of the MCS method with weakly imposed symmetry (7.9) and let u_h^* be the post processed solution defined as above. There holds $u_h^* \in V_h^*$ and $\operatorname{div}(u_h^*) = 0$. Further, for $s = \min(m-1, k+1)$ there holds

$$||u - u_h^*||_{1,h,sym} \lesssim h^s \frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}.$$

If we further assume that the solution of the dual problem (7.9) fulfills the regularity assumption 6.31, we have

$$||u - u_h^*||_{L^2(\Omega)} \lesssim h^{s+1} \frac{1}{\nu} ||\sigma||_{H^s(\mathcal{T}_h)}$$

Proof. Follows with the same steps as in theorem 27. Note that this includes stability of the reconstruction operator \mathcal{R} in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{1,h,sym}$. This follows with the same steps as the proof of lemma 3.3 in [76] changing the gradient to the symmetric gradient. \Box

8 Numerical examples

In this chapter we present three numerical examples to verify our methods and to validate the findings of section 6.3 and section 7.4. All numerical examples were implemented within the finite element library NGSolve/Netgen, see [105, 104] and www.ngsolve.org. We added the finite element basis of $\Xi^k(\mathcal{T}_h)$ to the library and used the Python interface NGS-Py for the implementation of several examples.

To this end we define the computational domain by $\Omega = [0, 1]^d$. We want to explore the velocity field driven by the volume force determined by $f = -\operatorname{div}(\sigma) + \nabla p$ with the exact solutions

$$u = (\operatorname{curl}(\psi_2)), \quad \text{and} \quad p := x^5 + y^5 - \frac{1}{3} \quad \text{for } d = 2,$$
 (8.1)

$$u = (\operatorname{curl}(\psi_3, \psi_3, \psi_3)), \text{ and } p := x^5 + y^5 + z^5 - \frac{1}{2} \text{ for } d = 3.$$
 (8.2)

Here, $\psi_2 := x^2(x-1)^2 y^2(y-1)^2$ and $\psi_3 := x^2(x-1)^2 y^2(y-1)^2 z^2(z-1)^2$ define a given potentials in two and three dimensions, respectively. Further, we choose the viscosity $\nu = 10^{-3}$. In both space dimensions the velocity solution fulfills homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions u = 0 on $\partial\Omega$. Depending on the choice of σ we either solve the standard Stokes problem, see equation (4.6), or the symmetric version, see equation (4.41).

8.1 Optimal convergence rates

The first example is dedicated to the analysis of the convergence rates. In table 8.1 and table 8.2 we listed several errors for varying polynomial orders k = 1, 2, 3, 4 in the twodimensional case for the choices $\sigma = \nu \nabla u$ and $\sigma = \nu \varepsilon(u)$, respectively. For the symmetric version we have further added the error of the vorticity approximation. Beside the errors the experimentally determined orders of convergence are given in brackets. As predicted by theorem 23 and theorem 30, the L^2 -norm error of the stress variable σ_h , the pressure p_h and the vorticity ω_h (in the symmetric case, see also remark 6) converge with optimal order. In contrast to this, the L^2 -norm error and the discrete H^1 -seminorm error of the velocity solution u_h show a reduced order as the velocity was only approximated in the Raviart-Thomas space of order k. Note, however, that the post processed velocity solution u_{h}^{*} shows the expected improved accuracy as proven in theorem 27 and theorem 32. The same observation can be made for the three-dimensional case for varying polynomial orders k = 1, 2, 3 in table 8.3 and table 8.4. Note that all calculations were done with respect to the choice $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$ and $\Gamma_{N,t} = \emptyset$. Thus, whereas the normal part of the homogeneous boundary conditions of the velocity is incorporated as an essential boundary condition in the discrete velocity space, the homogeneous tangential velocity is given as a natural boundary condition.

8.2 Pressure robustness

The second example is dedicated to the analysis of pressure robustness. To this end we choose the same example as before, thus the exact solution is given by equation (8.1). Due to the construction of this example the right hand side naturally splits into two different parts given by

$$f = -\operatorname{div}(\sigma) + \nabla p.$$

Using the Helmholtz projector (see section 6.3.3) we immediately see that

$$\mathbb{H}(f) = -\operatorname{div}(\sigma) = -\operatorname{div}(\nu \nabla u),$$

thus the discrete velocity solution should only be steered by $-\operatorname{div}(\nu\nabla u)$ and the discrete pressure should (obviously) only depend on ∇p . In the following we study the behaviour of the presented methods in the case of varying viscosities. In particular, we are interested in what happens in the limit $\nu \to 0$. Then, the two parts of the force f scale differently as it was discussed in section 6.3.3. To validate our findings we compare the H^1 -seminorm error of the velocity solution of our methods with the errors of the velocity solution of the standard Taylor-Hood method, see e.g., [20] and [53]. In order to compare the results we choose the polynomial orders such that the post processed solution u_h^* , which is defined according to section 6.3.4, and the solution of the Taylor-Hood method, denoted by u_h^{TH} , have the same convergence order. Further, we only present the results for the non-symmetric case $\sigma = \nu \nabla u$, as the symmetric case behaves similarly. In figure 8.1 we can observe that the error of the Taylor-Hood method increases as $\nu \to 0$ and behaves as if it was scaled by a factor $1/\nu$ for small values of ν . This is the phenomenon we discussed in section 6.3.3: Clearly, the Taylor-Hood method is not pressure robust (and does not provide exactly divergence-free numerical velocity). This results in a velocity error estimate as it is given by equation (6.36). In contrast, the velocity errors of the MCS method (see equation (6.6)) appear not to be influenced by varying values of ν . This behaviour is observed for several polynomial orders and matches the predictions of theorem 26.

8.3 Mixed boundary conditions

In the last example we want to show that the MCS method is well suited for all different kinds of boundary conditions as given in (4.6). To this end we again solve the Stokes equations with the exact solutions denoted by (8.1), but with a different choice of the boundaries. In particular, we set in two dimensions

$$\Gamma_{D,n} = ((0,1) \times \{0\}) \cup (\{1\} \times (0,1)) \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma_{D,t} = ((0,1) \times \{1\}) \cup (\{1\} \times (0,1)), \quad (8.3)$$

and in three dimensions

$$\Gamma_{D,n} = ((0,1) \times (0,1) \times \{0\}) \cup (\{1\} \times (0,1) \times (0,1)) \\
\cup ((0,1) \times \{0\} \times (0,1)) \cup ((0,1) \times \{1\} \times (0,1)) \\
\Gamma_{D,t} = \cup (\{1\} \times (0,1) \times (0,1)) \cup ((0,1) \times (0,1) \times \{1\}).$$
(8.4)

The Neumann boundaries are then given by

$$\Gamma_{N,n} = \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{D,n}$$
 and $\Gamma_{N,t} = \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{D,t}$.

According to (4.1) this results in all four different types of boundary conditions. As discussed in chapter 5, our finite element spaces are suited to incorporate the essential boundary conditions (4.6d) and (4.6g) into the finite element spaces V_h and Σ_h , respectively. On $\Gamma_{N,n}$ we add the right hand side term

$$\int_{\Gamma_{N,n}} (-\sigma_{nn} + p) v_n \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where σ and p are the exact solutions given by (8.1). In table 8.5 we present the finite element error for the symmetric case in two dimensions for the polynomial orders k = 2, 3, 4. Similarly as in the first example the L^2 -norm error of the discrete stress, the pressure and the vorticity converge with optimal order. Further, the H^1 -seminorm error of the post processed velocity solution u_h^* shows the enhanced accuracy. This matches the predictions of theorem 27. The same observation can be made also for the non-symmetric case in three dimensions for the polynomial orders k = 2, 3, see table 8.6. Note, however that in both cases the L^2 -norm error of the post processed solution does not show the increased convergence rate $\mathcal{O}(h^{k+2})$. It seems that the regularity assumption (6.31) is not fulfilled. In the work [60] the authors discuss the regularity of Stokes flows on polygonal domains in two dimensions. In particular, they quote the works [91, 92], saying that the velocity solution of the Stokes problem shows a reduced regularity $H^r(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$, with r = 2 for pure Dirichlet boundary conditions and r < 2 with other boundary conditions. Hence, we can not apply the Aubin-Nitsche techniques used to prove the increased convergence rate of $||u - u_h^*||_0$. Nevertheless, by the findings from above, we conclude that the presented methods are capable of handling all different kinds of boundary conditions.



Figure 8.1: The H^1 -seminorm error for the MCS method and a Taylor-Hood approximation for k = 2, 3, 4 and varying viscosity ν .

(eoc)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ (1.3) \\ (2.0) \\ (2.0) \\ (2.0) \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ 2.8 \end{pmatrix}$ (3.0) (3.0) (3.0)	(-) (2.8) (4.0) (4.0) (4.0)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ (4.3) \\ (5.1) \\ (5.0) \\ (5.0) \end{pmatrix}$
$\ u-u_h\ _0$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.83\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 7.59\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 1.85\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 4.60\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.15\cdot 10^{-5}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.52\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 8.12\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.02\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.28\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 1.61\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 1.61\cdot 10^{-7}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.26\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 6.04\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 3.91\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 2.44\cdot 10^{-8}\\ 1.52\cdot 10^{-9}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.17\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 4.15\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 1.25\cdot 10^{-8}\\ 3.84\cdot 10^{-10}\\ 1.20\cdot 10^{-11}\end{array}$
(eoc)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ 0.6 \end{pmatrix}$ (0.6) (1.0) (1.0) (1.0)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ (1.8) \\ (2.0) \\ (2.0) \end{pmatrix}$	$egin{pmatrix} - \ (2.0)\ (2.0)\ (3$	(-) (3.2) (3.2) (4.0) (4.0)
$\ \nabla u - \nabla u_h\ _0$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.88\cdot 10^{-2}\\ 2.64\cdot 10^{-2}\\ 1.32\cdot 10^{-2}\\ 6.62\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 3.31\cdot 10^{-3}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.71\cdot 10^{-2}\\ 4.91\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 1.27\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 3.20\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 8.01\cdot 10^{-5} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.04\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 7.36\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 9.48\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.18\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.48\cdot 10^{-6}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.77\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 7.59\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 4.63\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 2.86\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 1.78\cdot 10^{-8}\end{array}$
(eoc)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ (1.9) \\ (2.0) \\ (2.0) \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ 2.8 \end{pmatrix}$ (3.0) (3.0) (3.0)	(-) (3.7) (3.7) (4.0) (4.0) (4.0)	$egin{pmatrix} (-)\ (4.3)\ (5.0)\ (5.0)\ (5.0) \end{pmatrix}$
$\ p-p_h\ _0$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.44\cdot 10^{-2}\\ 9.36\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 2.38\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 5.97\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 1.49\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 1.49\cdot 10^{-4}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.72\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 5.31\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 6.75\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 8.47\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 1.06\cdot 10^{-6}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.20 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 5.70 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 3.65 \cdot 10^{-7} \\ 2.29 \cdot 10^{-8} \\ 1.44 \cdot 10^{-9} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.79\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 4.36\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 1.36\cdot 10^{-8}\\ 4.26\cdot 10^{-10}\\ 1.33\cdot 10^{-10}\end{array}$
(eoc)	$\begin{array}{c} c = 1 \ (-) \ (1.8) \ (1.9) \ (2.0) \ (2.0) \end{array}$	$\ddot{c} = 2 (-) (-) (3.0) (3.0)$	$\begin{array}{c} z=3 \\ (-) \\ (3.4) \\ (3.9) \\ (4.0) \\ (4.0) \end{array}$	$egin{array}{c} c = 4 \ (-) \ (3.2) \ (5.0) $
$\ \sigma-\sigma_h\ _0$	$\begin{array}{c} k \\ 1.71 \cdot 10^{-2} \\ 4.94 \cdot 10^{-3} \\ 1.30 \cdot 10^{-3} \\ 3.32 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ 8.39 \cdot 10^{-5} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} k \\ 2.42 \cdot 10^{-3} \\ 5.15 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ 6.74 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 8.52 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 8.52 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 1.07 \cdot 10^{-6} \end{array}$	$\begin{matrix} k \\ 4.01 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ 3.71 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 2.40 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 1.53 \cdot 10^{-7} \\ 9.66 \cdot 10^{-9} \end{matrix}$	$\begin{matrix} k \\ 2.27 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 2.41 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 7.45 \cdot 10^{-8} \\ 2.33 \cdot 10^{-9} \\ 7.29 \cdot 10^{-11} \end{matrix}$
(eoc)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ 2.4 \end{pmatrix}$ (2.9) (2.9) (3.0)	(-) (3.1) (3.1) (4.0) (4.0)	(-) (4.2) (4.2) (5.0) (5.0) (5.0)	$(\ - \) (4.3) (6.0) (6.0) (6.0)$
$\ u-u_h^*\ _0$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.04 \cdot 10^{-3} \\ 1.97 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ 2.65 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 3.47 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 4.45 \cdot 10^{-7} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.63\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.13\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 7.84\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 5.02\cdot 10^{-8}\\ 3.16\cdot 10^{-9}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.48 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 8.05 \cdot 10^{-7} \\ 2.49 \cdot 10^{-8} \\ 7.81 \cdot 10^{-10} \\ 2.45 \cdot 10^{-11} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.52\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 3.20\cdot 10^{-8}\\ 5.08\cdot 10^{-10}\\ 7.97\cdot 10^{-12}\\ 1.25\cdot 10^{-13}\end{array}$
(eoc)	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ (1.6) \\ (2.0) \\ (2.0) \\ (2.0) \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} - \\ 2.3 \end{pmatrix}$ (2.8) (3.0) (3.0)	(-) (3.1) (4.0) (4.0) (4.0)	$egin{pmatrix} - \ (3.5) \ (4.9) \ (5.0) \ (5.0) \ \end{array}$
$\ \nabla(u-u_h^*)\ _0$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.09\cdot 10^{-2}\\ 7.13\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 1.81\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 4.65\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 1.18\cdot 10^{-4}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.87\cdot 10^{-3}\\ 8.09\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 1.16\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 1.48\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 1.85\cdot 10^{-6}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.25\cdot 10^{-4}\\ 9.71\cdot 10^{-5}\\ 5.91\cdot 10^{-6}\\ 3.70\cdot 10^{-7}\\ 2.32\cdot 10^{-8}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.85 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 5.18 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 1.71 \cdot 10^{-7} \\ 5.41 \cdot 10^{-9} \\ 1.70 \cdot 10^{-10} \end{array}$
	20 80 320 1280 5120	20 80 320 1280 5120	20 80 320 1280 5120	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \\ 80 \\ 320 \\ 1280 \\ 5120 \end{array}$

Table 8.1: Finite element errors for the solutions of the MCS method (6.6) (non-symmetric case) for the the problem (8.1) in the two-dimensional case with $\nu = 1e^{-3}$ and polynomial orders k = 1, 2, 3, 4.

8 Numerical examples

$u_h \ _0 (ext{ eoc })$	$egin{array}{ccccc} 10^{-4} & (&-&)\ 10^{-4} & (&2.0&)\ 10^{-5} & (&2.0&)\ 10^{-5} & (&2.0&)\ 10^{-4} & (-6.1)\ 10^{-4} & (-6.1) \end{array}$	$egin{array}{ccccc} 10^{-4} & (& - &) \ 10^{-5} & (& 2.8 &) \ 10^{-5} & (& 3.0 &) \ 10^{-6} & (& 3.0 &) \ 10^{-7} & (& 3.0 &) \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10^{-6} (-) 10^{-7} (4.3) 10^{-8} (5.1)
eoc) $ u - $	$\begin{array}{c} - & 7.63 \\ 1.0 & 1.86 \\ 1.0 & 1.861 \\ 1.0 & 4.61 \\ 1.0 & 1.15 \\ -3.0 & 7.63 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ 1.6 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.02 \\ 2.0 \\ 1.61 \\ 2.0 \\ 1.61 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ - \\ 1.9 \\ 1.9 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.0 \\ 2.44 \\ 3.0 \\ 1.52 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ 3.1 \\ 4.0 \\ 1.24 \end{array}$
$(u) - arepsilon(u_h) \ _0$ ($\begin{array}{c} 2.09\cdot 10^{-2} & (\\ 1.05\cdot 10^{-2} & (\\ 5.26\cdot 10^{-3} & (\\ 2.63\cdot 10^{-3} & (\\ 2.09\cdot 10^{-3} & (\\ 2.09\cdot 10^{-2} & (\\ \end{array}\right)$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.35 \cdot 10^{-2} & (\\ 3.85 \cdot 10^{-3} & (\\ 1.00 \cdot 10^{-3} & (\\ 2.53 \cdot 10^{-4} & (\\ 6.34 \cdot 10^{-5} & (\end{array}) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.22\cdot10^{-3} & (\\ 5.76\cdot10^{-4} & (\\ 7.33\cdot10^{-5} & (\\ 9.12\cdot10^{-6} & (\\ 1.14\cdot10^{-6} & (\\ \end{array}\right)$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.96\cdot 10^{-4} \\ 5.71\cdot 10^{-5} \\ 3.48\cdot 10^{-6} \end{array} ($
$\ _0$ (eoc) $\ \varepsilon($	$egin{array}{cccc} -3 & (-) & (-4) & (-1) & (-4) & (-1) & (-5) $	$egin{array}{cccc} -3 & (& -) \ -4 & (& 2.4 \) \ -5 & (& 2.7 \) \ -6 & (& 3.0 \) \ -7 & (& 3.0 \) \end{array}$	$egin{array}{ccccc} -4 & (& -\\ -5 & (& 3.1 &)\\ -6 & (& 3.3 &)\\ -7 & (& 3.3 &)\\ -9 & (& 4.0 &) \end{array}$	$egin{array}{cccc} -6 & (& - &) \ -6 & (& 3.0 &) \ -8 & (& 5.0 &) \end{array}$
oc) $\ \omega - \omega_h\ $	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ 3.22 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0.0 \\ 0.247 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0.0 \\ 0.865 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0.0 \\ 3.22 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0.0 \\ 0.32 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0.0 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.22 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0.0 \\$	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ 1.46 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 2.77 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 2.77 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0 \\ 4.14 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0 \\ 5.20 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 6.45 \cdot 10^{-} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ 2.24 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 2.63 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 2.63 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 1.71 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 1.13 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0 \\ 1.13 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 7.32 \cdot 10^{-} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - & 0 \\ - & 0 \\ - & 0 \\ - & 3 \\ - & 0 \\$
$ p-p_h _0$ (e	k = 1 (36) 10^{-3} (2) $2.38 \cdot 10^{-3}$ (2) $2.97 \cdot 10^{-4}$ (2) 10^{-4} (2) 10^{-4} (2) 10^{-4} (2) 10^{-3} (2) 1	k = 2 k = 2 $(-72 \cdot 10^{-3})$ $(-75 \cdot 10^{-4})$ $(-75 \cdot 10^{-5})$ $(-75 \cdot 10^{-6})$ $(-75 \cdot 10^{-$	k = 3 k = 3 (-5) (-5) (-6) (-7) (-7) (-8) (-1) (-8) (-1) (-8) (-1) (-8) (-1) (-8) (-1) (-8) (-1) (-5) (-1) (-5) (-5) (-5) (-5) (-5) (-5) (-5) (-5) (-7) (-6) (-7) (-	k = 4 (.79.10 ⁻⁶ (.36.10 ⁻⁷ (4
0 (eoc)	$egin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$egin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$egin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\left(\begin{array}{c} -5 \\ -6 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} - \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} 8 \\ -3.5 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} 4 \\ 4 \end{array} \right)$
oc) $\ \sigma - \sigma_h$	$\begin{array}{c} - &) & 3.58 \cdot 10 \\ 2.8 &) & 9.41 \cdot 10 \\ 2.8 &) & 2.46 \cdot 10 \\ 2.9 &) & 6.30 \cdot 10 \\ 2.5 &) & 3.58 \cdot 10 \\ 8.5 &) & 3.58 \cdot 10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - \\ 0 \\ 1.81 \cdot 10 \\ 3.72 \cdot 10 \\ 3.8 \\ 0 \\ 5.06 \cdot 10 \\ 6.37 \cdot 10 \\ 1.0 \\ 0 \\ 7.96 \cdot 10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - &) & 2.38 \cdot 10 \\ 1.1 &) & 2.70 \cdot 10 \\ 5.0 &) & 1.73 \cdot 10 \\ 5.0 &) & 1.12 \cdot 10 \\ 5.0 &) & 1.12 \cdot 10 \\ 5.0 &) & 7.10 \cdot 10 \end{array}$	-) 2.24 10 1.5) 1.98 10 6 9) 6 20 10
$ u-u_h^* _0$ (ϵ	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.65 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ 2.39 \cdot 10^{-5} \\ 3.40 \cdot 10^{-6} \\ 1.61 \cdot 10^{-7} \\ 1.65 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00\cdot 10^{-4} & (\\ 1.06\cdot 10^{-5} & (\\ 7.74\cdot 10^{-7} & (\\ 2.93\cdot 10^{-8} & (\\ 4.93\cdot 10^{-8} & (\\ 4.03\cdot 10^{-9} & (\\ 4.03\cdot $	$\begin{array}{c} 1.44\cdot10^{-5} (\\ 3.44\cdot10^{-7} (\\ 4.2.61\cdot10^{-8} (\\ 2.30\cdot10^{-10} (\\ 5.30\cdot10^{-11} (\\ 5.63\cdot10^{-11} (\\ 5.65\cdot10^{-11} (\\ $	$9.67 \cdot 10^{-7}$ ($1.37 \cdot 10^{-8}$ ($\frac{1}{2}$
) 0 (eoc)	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} -3 \\ -4 \\ -5 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -3.0 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -3.0 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -3.0 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -3.0 \\ -6 \\ -6 \\ -8 \\ -6 \\ -8 \\ -8 \\ -8 \\ -8$	$\begin{array}{c c} -4 & (-) \\ -5 & (3.1) \\ -6 & (4.0) \\ -7 & (4.0) \\ -8 & (4.0) \\ -8 & (4.0) \\ \end{array}$	$^{-5}$ ($-$) ($^{-6}$ (3.1) ($_{-1}$ ($_{-1}$) ($_{-1$
$\ \varepsilon(u-u_{h}^{*})$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.53\cdot10^{-}\\ 9.50\cdot10^{-}\\ 2.52\cdot10^{-}\\ 6.53\cdot10^{-}\\ 3.53\cdot10^{-}\\ 3.53\cdot10^{-}\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.22 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 5.03 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 6.66 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 8.36 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 1.04 \cdot 10^{-} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.15 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 4.78 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 2.96 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 1.86 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 1.17 \cdot 10^{-} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} 2.58 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 2.96 \cdot 10^{-} \\ 9.00 \cdot 10^{-} \end{array}$
F	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ 80\\ 320\\ 1280\\ 5120\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ 80\\ 320\\ 1280\\ 5120\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ 80\\ 320\\ 1280\\ 5120\end{array}$	20 80 320

Table 8.2: Finite element errors for the solutions of the MCS method (7.1) (symmetric case) for the problem (8.1) in the two-dimensional case with $\nu = 1e^{-3}$ and polynomial orders k = 1, 2, 3, 4.

8 Numerical examples

$ \mathcal{T} $	$ \ \nabla (u - u_h^*) \ _0$	(eoc)	$\ u-u_h^*\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ \sigma - \sigma_h\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ p-p_h\ _0$	(eoc)
k = 1								
28	$2.46 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$1.49 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$2.23\cdot10^{-3}$	(-)	$7.45 \cdot 10^{-2}$	(-)
224	$2.03 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(0.3)	$9.38 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(0.7)	$1.31 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(0.8)	$3.11 \cdot 10^{-2}$	(1.3)
1792	$9.19 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.1)	$2.21 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.1)	$4.57 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.5)	$9.52 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(1.7)
14336	$2.61 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.8)	$3.20 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.8)	$1.27 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.8)	$2.53 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(1.9)
114688	$6.71 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.0)	$4.10 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.0)	$3.26 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.0)	$6.44 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.0)
k = 2								
28	$1.46 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$6.10 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$1.20 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$6.75 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)
224	$5.38 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.4)	$1.14 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.4)	$2.49 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.3)	$1.55 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(2.1)
1792	$1.75 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.6)	$1.90 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.6)	$4.91 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.3)	$2.62 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.6)
14336	$2.46 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.8)	$1.33 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.8)	$6.75 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.9)	$3.53 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.9)
114688	$3.24 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.9)	$8.84 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(3.9)	$8.85 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(2.9)	$4.50 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)
k = 3								
28	$3.26 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$1.16 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$2.34 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$2.37 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)
224	$1.39 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.2)	$2.24 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.4)	$5.61 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.1)	$2.51\cdot10^{-4}$	(3.2)
1792	$2.10 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.7)	$1.56 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.8)	$6.39 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.1)	$2.98 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(3.1)
14336	$1.83 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.5)	$6.65 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(4.6)	$5.33 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.6)	$2.05 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.9)
114688	$1.24 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.9)	$2.21 \cdot 10^{-10}$	(4.9)	$3.54 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(3.9)	$1.31 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.0)

Table 8.3: Finite element errors for the solutions of the MCS method (6.6) (non-symmetric case) for the problem (8.1) in the three-dimensional case with $\nu = 1e^{-3}$ and polynomial orders k = 1, 2, 3.

$ \mathcal{T} $	$\ arepsilon(u-u_h^*)\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ u-u_h^*\ _0$	(eoc) $\ \sigma - \sigma_h\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ p-p_h\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ \omega - \omega_h\ _0$	(eoc)
				k = 1					
28	$1.53 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$1.36 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$(-)$ 1.46 \cdot 10 ⁻³	(-)	$7.45 \cdot 10^{-2}$	(-)	$1.06 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)
224	$8.11 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(0.9)	$5.42 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.3) $8.15 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(0.8)	$3.11 \cdot 10^{-2}$	(1.3)	$6.70 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(0.7)
1792	$3.17 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.4)	$1.32 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.0) 3.16 \cdot 10 ⁻⁴	(1.4)	$9.52 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(1.7)	$3.17 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.1)
14336	$9.20 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.8)	$1.93 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.8) $8.98 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.8)	$2.53 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(1.9)	$9.05 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.8)
114688	$2.38 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.9)	$2.48 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.0) $2.31 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.0)	$6.44 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.0)	$2.34 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.9)
k = 2									
28	$5.01 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$4.30 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$(-)$ 5.76 $\cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$6.75 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$4.88 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)
224	$2.08 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.3)	$9.65 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.2) $1.58 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.9)	$1.55 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(2.1)	$1.35 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.9)
1792	$5.70 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.9)	$1.51 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.7) 3.87 $\cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.0)	$2.62 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.6)	$3.57 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.9)
14336	$7.87 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.9)	$1.06 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.8) 5.42 $\cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.8)	$3.53 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.9)	$5.24 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.8)
114688	$1.04 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.9)	$7.00 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(3.9) 7.15 $\cdot 10^{-7}$	(2.9)	$4.50 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)	$7.02 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(2.9)
				k = 3					
28	$1.76 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$1.28 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$(-)$ 1.67 \cdot 10 ⁻⁴	(-)	$2.37 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$1.27 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)
224	$5.75 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.6)	$2.42 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.4) $4.43 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(1.9)	$2.51 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(3.2)	$2.98 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.1)
1792	$6.81 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.1)	$1.68 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.8) $4.95 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.2)	$2.98 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(3.1)	$3.62 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)
14336	$5.74 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.6)	$7.31 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(4.5) $4.11 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.6)	$2.05 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.9)	$3.02 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.6)
114688	$3.98 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(3.9)	$2.46 \cdot 10^{-10}$	(4.9) $2.76 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(3.9)	$1.31 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.0)	$2.03\cdot10^{-8}$	(3.9)

Table 8.4: Finite element errors for the solutions of the MCS method (7.1) (symmetric case) for the problem (8.1) in the three-dimensional case with $\nu = 1e^{-3}$ and polynomial orders k = 1, 2, 3.

$ \mathcal{T} $	$\ \varepsilon(u-u_h^*)\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ u-u_h^*\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ \sigma - \sigma_h\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ p-p_h\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ \omega - \omega_h\ _0$	(eoc)
					k = 2					
28	$7.62 \cdot 10^{-2}$	(-)	$5.16\cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$6.44\cdot10^{-2}$	(-)	$3.72\cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$5.02\cdot10^{-2}$	(-)
224	$3.67 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(4.4)	$1.23 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(5.4)	$3.00 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(4.4)	$5.31 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.8)	$2.43 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(4.4)
1792	$1.73 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(4.4)	$2.82 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(5.4)	$1.43 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(4.4)	$6.75 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(3.0)	$1.15\cdot10^{-4}$	(4.4)
14336	$1.09 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(4.0)	$7.75 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(5.2)	$8.92 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(4.0)	$8.47 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)	$6.88 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(4.1)
114688	$1.07 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.3)	$3.30 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(4.6)	$8.63 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.4)	$1.06 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)	$6.32 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.4)
					k = 3					
28	$1.97 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$9.90\cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$1.46 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$7.19 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$1.01\cdot10^{-3}$	(-)
224	$5.83 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(5.1)	$1.35 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(6.2)	$4.17 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(5.1)	$5.70 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.7)	$3.65 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(4.8)
1792	$2.97 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(4.3)	$2.83\cdot10^{-8}$	(5.6)	$1.91 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(4.4)	$3.65 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.0)	$1.77 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(4.4)
14336	$1.82 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.0)	$8.25 \cdot 10^{-10}$	(5.1)	$1.15 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.1)	$2.29\cdot10^{-8}$	(4.0)	$1.08 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.0)
114688	$1.15 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(4.0)	$2.73 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(4.9)	$7.19 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(4.0)	$1.44 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(4.0)	$6.85 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(4.0)
					k = 4					
28	$2.49 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$1.07\cdot10^{-6}$	(-)	$2.46 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$8.79 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(-)	$9.69 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(-)
224	$3.04 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)	$4.74 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(4.5)	$2.16 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.5)	$4.36 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(4.3)	$1.11 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.1)
1792	$9.08 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(5.1)	$7.46 \cdot 10^{-10}$	(6.0)	$6.54 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(5.0)	$1.36 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(5.0)	$3.33 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(5.1)
14336	$2.78 \cdot 10^{-9}$	(5.0)	$2.57 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(4.9)	$2.00\cdot10^{-9}$	(5.0)	$4.26 \cdot 10^{-10}$	(5.0)	$1.01\cdot10^{-9}$	(5.0)
114688	$9.67 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(4.8)	$2.37 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(0.1)	$6.76 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(4.9)	$1.33 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(5.0)	$4.38 \cdot 10^{-11}$	(4.5)

Table 8.5: Finite element errors for the solutions of the MCS method (7.1) (symmetric case) for the problem (8.1) in the two-dimensional case with $\nu = 1e^{-3}$ and polynomial orders k = 2, 3, 4, with boundary conditions according to the splitting (8.3).

$ \mathcal{T} $	$ \ \nabla (u - u_h^*) \ _0$	(eoc)	$\ u-u_h^*\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ \sigma - \sigma_h\ _0$	(eoc)	$\ p-p_h\ _0$	(eoc)
			k =	2				
20	$1.53 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$7.77 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$1.26 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)	$6.75\cdot10^{-3}$	(-)
80	$5.59 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.5)	$1.28 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.6)	$2.57 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.3)	$1.55 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(2.1)
320	$1.78 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.6)	$2.02 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.7)	$5.03 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.4)	$2.62 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(2.6)
1280	$2.48 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.8)	$1.59 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.7)	$6.88 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.9)	$3.53 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.9)
5120	$3.26 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.9)	$1.47 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(3.4)	$8.98 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(2.9)	$4.50 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.0)
			k =	3				
28	$3.30 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(-)	$1.55 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(-)	$2.38\cdot10^{-4}$	(-)	$2.37 \cdot 10^{-3}$	(-)
224	$1.49 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(1.1)	$3.21 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(2.3)	$5.87 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.0)	$2.51 \cdot 10^{-4}$	(3.2)
1792	$2.14 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(2.8)	$2.44 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.7)	$6.53 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.2)	$2.98 \cdot 10^{-5}$	(3.1)
14336	$1.85 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.5)	$1.50 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(4.0)	$5.40 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.6)	$2.05 \cdot 10^{-6}$	(3.9)
114688	$1.23 \cdot 10^{-7}$	(3.9)	$9.25 \cdot 10^{-10}$	(4.0)	$3.57 \cdot 10^{-8}$	(3.9)	$1.31\cdot10^{-7}$	(4.0)

Table 8.6: Finite element errors for the solutions of the MCS method (6.6) (non-symmetric case) for the problem (8.1) in the three-dimensional case with $\nu = 1e^{-3}$ and polynomial orders k = 2, 3, with boundary conditions according to the splitting (8.4).

9 Open questions

In this thesis we tried to establish a new understanding of the mathematical structure of the incompressible Stokes equations. Based on the new results in the continuous setting we introduced two finite element methods and presented a detailed a priori analysis. Nevertheless, the variational formulation and the stability analysis (in the continuous setting) that we presented in chapter 4 are based on the assumption that we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions for the velocity in normal direction on the whole boundary, thus $\Gamma_{D,n} = \Gamma$. However, as illustrated by the numerical examples in section 8, the corresponding finite element methods are suitable to deal with all different kinds of boundary conditions. As the discrete methods were motivated by the continuous setting, this suggests that the stability analysis for the continuous formulation can also be extended to the case $\Gamma_{D,n} \neq \Gamma$. In the following we try to motivate this setting and lead the reader to the point where, to the best knowledge of the authors, the (standard) theory can not be applied.

In order to incorporate partial boundary conditions the obvious choice of the velocity space is now given by $V = H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$. With similar findings as in chapter 4 we want that the divergence of stress variables can continuously act on velocity functions. Thus, the appropriate stress space is given by

$$H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)(\Gamma_{D,n}) := \{ \sigma \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}) : \operatorname{div}(\sigma) \in H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div},\Omega)^* \},$$

with the norm

$$\|\sigma\|_{\rm cd}^2 := \|\sigma\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \left(\sup_{v \in H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}({\rm div})} \frac{\langle \sigma, v \rangle_{H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}({\rm div})}}{\|v\|_{H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}({\rm div})}}\right)^2$$

Then, similarly as before we define the stress space as the matrix trace-free subspace

$$\Sigma := \{ \sigma \in H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div}, \Omega)(\Gamma_{D,n}) : \operatorname{tr}(\sigma) = 0, \sigma_{nt} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{N,t} \}.$$

Next, we aim to follow along the same steps as in section 4.3 to define a variational formulation. To this end we test equation (4.6a) with a test function $\tau \in \Sigma$. Assuming that τ can be approximated by a series of smooth functions τ_l with $l \in \mathbb{N}$ this then leads (assuming enough regularity of the exact solution u) to

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau_l \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tau_l) \cdot u \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Gamma_{N_n}} (\tau_l)_{nn} u_n \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The crucial question now is how the resulting equation looks like if we pass to the limit $l \to \infty$. In contrast to the derivation as in section 4.3, where the limit was given by equation (4.25), it is not obvious if we get a similar result, which would read as

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau_l \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tau_l) \cdot u \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Gamma_{N_n}} (\tau_l)_{nn} v_n \, \mathrm{d}s \xrightarrow{?} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\nu} \sigma : \tau \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div})}.$$

In particular, this is not trivial as there exists no continuous normal-normal trace operator that can be applied for functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)(\Gamma_{D,n})$. In fact, this question is related to the definition of the *distributional divergence*. To this end let $\phi \in \{\psi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) : \psi_n = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{D,n}\}$, then we would like to define

$$\langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), \phi \rangle_{H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div})} := -\int \tau : \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{D,n}} \tau_{nt} \cdot \phi_t \, \mathrm{d}s,$$
 (9.1)

where the last integral has to be understood as a duality pair. Then, assuming enough regularity, an integration by parts argument yields the identity that is needed to pass to the limit above. Although it seems feasible that the functional $\operatorname{div}(\tau) \in H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div})^*$ can be decomposed into a part which continuously acts on u on the domain Ω , and a part that continuously acts on u_n on the boundary $\Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{D,n}$, we are not aware of any decomposition results such that the above results can be defined rigorously.

Such a result would be the key ingredient that is needed to define a well-posed variational formulation and to give a precise stability analysis. If we assume that functions in $H(\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{div},\Omega)(\Gamma_{D,n})$ can be approximated by smooth functions and that the distributional divergence $\operatorname{div}(\tau)$ is given according to definition (9.1), the stability analysis would follow with very similar steps as in section 4.3.1. Continuity of the bilinear forms and kernel coercivity of $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ follow as in the proofs of lemma 8 and lemma 9, respectively. An inf-sup result for the term $\langle \operatorname{div}(\tau), u \rangle_{H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div})}$ can be proven as in the proof of lemma 12 and would include to solve the auxiliary problem: Find $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{V} := H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \cap H_{0,\Gamma_{D,n}}(\operatorname{div})$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u}) : \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{D,t}} \tilde{u}_t \cdot \tilde{v}_t \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \tilde{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(u) \operatorname{div}(\tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \tilde{v} \in \tilde{V}.$$

According to lemma 11 this problem is solvable if $\Gamma_{D,n} \cap \Gamma_{D,t} \neq \emptyset$, which was one of the assumptions at the beginning of chapter 6. The Robin-type boundary conditions on the boundary $\Gamma_{D,t}$ are needed to show that the choice $\sigma = \operatorname{dev}(\nabla \tilde{u})$ is admissible, thus to prove $\langle \sigma, tw \rangle_{TW(\Gamma_{N,t})} = 0$ for all $tw \in TW(\Gamma_{N,t})$ and $\sigma \in \Sigma$. We hope that future contributions will tackle the analysis of dual spaces for Sobolev spaces with vanishing traces only on a part of the boundary such that a stability analysis in the case $\Gamma_{D,n} \neq \Gamma$ can be presented.

Bibliography

- [1] M. Abramowitz. Handbook of Mathematical Functions, With Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Dover Publications, Incorporated, 1974.
- [2] R. Adams. Sobolev Spaces. Academic Press, 1970.
- [3] Anderson, J. *Computational Fluid Dynamics*. Computational Fluid Dynamics: The Basics with Applications. McGraw-Hill Education, 1995.
- [4] G. Andrews, R. Askey, and R. Roy. Special Functions. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- [5] D. N. Arnold, F. Brezzi, and J. Douglas Jr. "PEERS: a new mixed finite element for plane elasticity". In: Japan J. Appl. Math. 1.2 (1984), pp. 347–367.
- [6] D. N. Arnold, R. S. Falk, and R. Winther. "Mixed finite element methods for linear elasticity with weakly imposed symmetry". In: *Math. Comp.* 76.260 (2007), pp. 1699–1723.
- [7] D. N. Arnold et al. "Unified analysis of discontinuous Galerkin methods for elliptic problems". In: SIAM journal on numerical analysis 39.5 (2002), pp. 1749–1779.
- [8] G. A. Baker, W. N. Jureidini, and O. A. Karakashian. "Piecewise solenoidal vector fields and the Stokes problem". In: SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 27.6 (1990), pp. 1466– 1485.
- [9] P. Bastian and B. Rivière. "Superconvergence and H(div) projection for discontinuous Galerkin methods". In: Internat. J. Numer. Methods Fluids 42.10 (2003), pp. 1043–1057.
- [10] Batchelor, G.K. An Introduction to Fluid Dynamics. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [11] D. Boffi, F. Brezzi, and M. Fortin. *Mixed Finite Element Methods and Applications*. Springer Series in Computational Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [12] D. Boffi, F. Brezzi, and M. Fortin. "Reduced symmetry elements in linear elasticity". In: Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 8.1 (2009), pp. 95–121.
- [13] D. Braess. Finite Elemente Theorie, schnelle Löser und Anwendungen in der Elastizitätstheorie. Springer, 2013.
- [14] J. H. Bramble and S. R. Hilbert. "Estimation of Linear Functionals on Sobolev Spaces with Application to Fourier Transforms and Spline Interpolation". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 7.1 (1970), pp. 112–124.
- [15] J. H. Bramble. "A proof of the inf-sup condition for the Stokes equations on Lipschitz domains". In: *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.* 13.3 (2003). Dedicated to Jim Douglas, Jr. on the occasion of his 75th birthday, pp. 361–371.

- [16] C. Brennecke et al. "Optimal and pressure-independent L² velocity error estimates for a modified Crouzeix-Raviart Stokes element with BDM reconstructions". In: J. Comput. Math. 33.2 (2015), pp. 191–208.
- [17] S. C. Brenner and R. Scott. The Mathematical Theory of Finite Element Methods. Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer New York, 2007.
- [18] S. C. Brenner. "Korn's inequalities for piecewise H^1 vector fields". In: *Math. Comp.* 73.247 (2004), pp. 1067–1087.
- [19] F. Brezzi. "On the existence, uniqueness and approximation of saddle-point problems arising from Lagrangian multipliers". In: *Rev. Française Automat. Informat. Recherche Opérationnelle Sér. Rouge* 8.R-2 (1974), pp. 129–151.
- [20] F. Brezzi and R. S. Falk. "Stability of higher-order Hood-Taylor method". In: SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 28 (1991).
- [21] F. Brezzi, J. Douglas Jr., and L. D. Marini. "Two families of mixed finite elements for second order elliptic problems". In: *Numerische Mathematik* 47.2 (1985), pp. 217– 235.
- [22] F. Brezzi, J. Douglas, and L. D. Marini. "Recent results on mixed finite element methods for second order elliptic problems". In: *In Balakrishanan, Dorodnitsyn, and Lions, editors*. Vistas in Applied Math., Numerical Analysis, Atmospheric Sciences, Immunology, 1986.
- [23] F. Brezzi et al. "Mixed finite elements for second order elliptic problems in three variables". In: Numerische Mathematik 51.2 (1987), pp. 237–250.
- [24] A. Buffa and P. Ciarlet Jr. "On traces for functional spaces related to Maxwell's equations. I. An integration by parts formula in Lipschitz polyhedra". In: *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.* 24.1 (2001), pp. 9–30.
- [25] P. Ciarlet. *The Finite Element Method for Elliptic Problems*. Classics in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 2002.
- [26] B. Cockburn, B. Dong, and J. Guzmán. "A superconvergent LDG-hybridizable Galerkin method for second-order elliptic problems". In: *Math. Comp.* 77.264 (2008), pp. 1887–1916.
- [27] B. Cockburn, J. Gopalakrishnan, and J. Guzmán. "A new elasticity element made for enforcing weak stress symmetry". In: *Math. Comp.* 79.271 (2010), pp. 1331–1349.
- [28] B. Cockburn, J. Gopalakrishnan, and R. Lazarov. "Unified hybridization of discontinuous Galerkin, mixed, and continuous Galerkin methods for second order elliptic problems". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 47.2 (2009), pp. 1319–1365.
- [29] B. Cockburn, G. Kanschat, and D. Schötzau. "A locally conservative LDG method for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations". In: *Mathematics of Computation* 74.251 (2005), pp. 1067–1095.
- [30] B. Cockburn, G. Kanschat, and D. Schötzau. "A note on discontinuous Galerkin divergence-free solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations". In: *Journal of Scientific Computing* 31.1-2 (2007), pp. 61–73.

- [31] B. Cockburn, G. Kanschat, and D. Schötzau. "The local discontinuous Galerkin method for the Oseen equations". In: *Math. Comp.* 73.246 (2004), 569–593 (electronic).
- [32] B. Cockburn and F.-J. Sayas. "Divergence-conforming HDG methods for Stokes flows". In: Math. Comp. 83.288 (2014), pp. 1571–1598.
- [33] B. Cockburn et al. "A hybridizable discontinuous Galerkin method for steady-state convection-diffusion-reaction problems". In: SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 31.5 (2009), pp. 3827–3846.
- [34] B. Cockburn et al. "Analysis of HDG methods for Stokes flow". In: Mathematics of Computation 80.274 (2011), pp. 723–760.
- [35] B. Cockburn et al. "Local Discontinuous Galerkin Methods for the Stokes System". In: SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 40.1 (Jan. 2002), pp. 319–343.
- [36] M. Costabel and A. McIntosh. "On Bogovskiĭ and regularized Poincaré integral operators for de Rham complexes on Lipschitz domains". In: *Mathematische Zeitschrift* 265.2 (2010), pp. 297–320.
- [37] M. Dubiner. "Spectral methods on triangles and other domains". In: Journal of Scientific Computing 6.4 (1991), pp. 345–390.
- [38] F. Dubois, M. Salaün, and S. Salmon. "First vorticity-velocity-pressure numerical scheme for the Stokes problem". In: Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 192.44-46 (2003), pp. 4877–4907.
- [39] G. Duvaut and J. Lions. Inequalities in mechanics and physics. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, 1976.
- [40] H. C. Elman, D. J. Silvester, and A. J. Wathen. Finite elements and fast iterative solvers: with applications in incompressible fluid dynamics. Oxford University Press, 2014.
- [41] A. Ern and J. Guermond. Theory and Practice of Finite Elements. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer New York, 2013.
- [42] A. Ern and J. L. Guermond. "Mollification in strongly Lipschitz domains with application to continuous and discrete de Rham complexes". In: Comput. Methods Appl. Math. 16.1 (2016), pp. 51–75.
- [43] A. Ern and J. L. Guermond. Theory and Practice of Finite Elements. 1st ed. Applied Mathematical Sciences 159. Springer-Verlag New York, 2004.
- [44] L. C. Evans. Partial differential equations. Providence, R.I.: American Mathematical Society, 2010.
- [45] M. Farhloul. "Mixed and Nonconforming Finite Element Methods for the Stokes Problem". In: *Canadian Applied Mathematics Quarterly* 3.4 (Fall 1995).
- [46] M. Farhloul and M. Fortin. "A new mixed finite element for the Stokes and elasticity problems". In: SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 30.4 (1993), pp. 971–990.

Bibliography

- [47] M. Farhloul and M. Fortin. "Review and complements on mixed-hybrid finite element methods for fluid flows". In: Proceedings of the 9th International Congress on Computational and Applied Mathematics (Leuven, 2000). Vol. 140. 2002, pp. 301– 313.
- [48] M. Farhloul and M. Fortin. "Dual hybrid methods for the elasticity and the Stokes problems: a unified approach". In: *Numer. Math.* 76.4 (1997), pp. 419–440.
- [49] G. Fu, Y. Jin, and W. Qiu. "Parameter-free superconvergent H(div)-conforming HDG methods for the Brinkman equations". In: IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis (2018), dry001.
- [50] G. Fu and C. Lehrenfeld. "A Strongly Conservative Hybrid DG/Mixed FEM for the Coupling of Stokes and Darcy Flow". In: *Journal of Scientific Computing* 77.3 (2018), pp. 1605–1620.
- [51] G. Fu, W. Qiu, and Y. Jin. "Parameter-free superconvergent H(div)-conforming HDG methods for the Brinkman equations". In: (Feb. 2018).
- [52] W. Gautschi and G. Inglese. "Lower bounds for the condition number of Vandermonde matrices". In: Numerische Mathematik 52.3 (1987), pp. 241–250.
- [53] V. Girault and P.-A. Raviart. *Finite element methods for Navier-Stokes equations:* theory and algorithms. Vol. 5. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [54] V. Girault, B. Rivière, and M. Wheeler. "A discontinuous Galerkin method with nonoverlapping domain decomposition for the Stokes and Navier-Stokes problems". In: *Mathematics of Computation* 74.249 (2005), pp. 53–84.
- [55] J. Gopalakrishnan, P. L. Lederer, and J. Schöberl. "A mass conserving mixed stress formulation for the Stokes equations". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1806.07173* (2018).
- [56] J. Gopalakrishnan and W. Qiu. "Partial expansion of a Lipschitz domain and some applications". In: Front. Math. China 7.2 (2012), pp. 249–272.
- [57] P. Grisvard. Elliptic Problems in Nonsmooth Domains. Classics in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1985.
- [58] P. Grisvard. Singularities in Boundary Value Problems. Recherches en mathématiques appliquées. Masson, 1992.
- [59] S. Gross and A. Reusken. Numerical Methods for Two-phase Incompressible Flows. Springer Series in Computational Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [60] B. Guo and C. Schwab. "Analytic regularity of Stokes flow on polygonal domains in countably weighted Sobolev spaces". In: J. Comput. Appl. Math. 190.1-2 (2006), pp. 487–519.
- [61] J. Guzmán, C.-W. Shu, and F. A. Sequeira. "H (div) conforming and DG methods for incompressible Euler's equations". In: *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis* (2016), drw054.
- [62] A. Hannukainen, R. Stenberg, and M. Vohralík. "A unified framework for a posteriori error estimation for the Stokes problem". In: *Numer. Math.* 122.4 (2012), pp. 725– 769.

- [63] R. Hiptmair. "Finite elements in computational electromagnetism". In: Acta Numer. 11 (2002), pp. 237–339.
- [64] R. Hiptmair, J. Li, and J. Zou. "Universal extension for sobolev spaces of differential forms and applications". In: J. Func. Anal. 263 (2012), pp. 364–382.
- [65] R. Hiptmair and W. Zheng. "Local multigrid in H(curl)". In: J. Comput. Math. 27.5 (2009), pp. 573–603.
- [66] S. Hofmann, M. Mitrea, and M. Taylor. "Geometric and transformational properties of Lipschitz domains, Semmes-Kenig-Toro domains, and other classes of finite perimeter domains". In: *The Journal of Geometric Analysis* 17.4 (2007), pp. 593– 647.
- [67] P. Houston, C. Schwab, and E. Süli. "Discontinuous hp-finite element methods for advection-diffusion-reaction problems". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 39.6 (2002), pp. 2133–2163.
- [68] J. S. J. Gopalakrishnan P. L. Lederer. "A mass conserving mixed stress formulation for Stokes flow with weakly imposed stress symmetry". In: preprint arXiv:1901.04648 (2019).
- [69] J. S. J. Gopalakrishnan P. L. Lederer. "A mass conserving mixed stress formulation for the Stokes equations". In: *preprint arXiv:1806.07173* (2018).
- [70] V. John et al. "On the divergence constraint in mixed finite element methods for incompressible flows". In: SIAM Review 59 (2017), pp. 492–544.
- [71] O. Karakashian and T. Katsaounis. "A discontinuous Galerkin method for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations". In: *Discontinuous Galerkin methods (Newport, RI, 1999)*. Vol. 11. Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. Eng. Springer, Berlin, 2000, pp. 157–166.
- [72] G. Karniadakis and S. Sherwin. Spectral/hp element methods for computational fluid dynamics. Oxford University Press, 2013.
- [73] J. Könnö and R. Stenberg. "H(div)-conforming finite elements for the Brinkman problem". In: Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 21.11 (2011), pp. 2227–2248.
- [74] J. Könnö and R. Stenberg. "Numerical computations with H(div)-finite elements for the Brinkman problem". English. In: *Computational Geosciences* 16.1 (2012), pp. 139–158.
- [75] P. Lederer. "Pressure-Robust Discretizations for Navier–Stokes Equations: Divergence - free Reconstruction for Taylor–Hood Elements and High Order Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin Methods". MA thesis. Vienna Technical University, 2016.
- [76] P. L. Lederer, C. Lehrenfeld, and J. Schöberl. "Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin methods with relaxed H(div)-conformity for incompressible flows. Part I". In: to appear in SINUM (preprint arXiv:1707.02782) (2017).
- [77] P. L. Lederer, C. Lehrenfeld, and J. Schöberl. "Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin methods with relaxed H(div)-conformity for incompressible flows. Part II". In: to appear in ESAIM: M2AN (preprint arXiv:1805.067) (2018).

- [78] P. L. Lederer and J. Schöberl. "Polynomial robust stability analysis for H(div)conforming finite elements for the Stokes equations". In: IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis (2017), drx051.
- [79] P. L. Lederer et al. "Divergence-free Reconstruction Operators for Pressure-Robust Stokes Discretizations with Continuous Pressure Finite Elements". In: SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 55.3 (2017), pp. 1291–1314.
- [80] C. Lehrenfeld. "Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin methods for solving incompressible flow problems". In: *Rheinisch-Westfalischen Technischen Hochschule Aachen* (2010).
- [81] C. Lehrenfeld and J. Schöberl. "High order exactly divergence-free Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin Methods for unsteady incompressible flows". In: Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 307 (2016), pp. 339–361.
- [82] A. Linke, G. Matthies, and L. Tobiska. "Robust Arbitrary Order Mixed Finite Element Methods for the Incompressible Stokes Equations with pressure independent velocity errors". In: *ESAIM: M2AN* 50.1 (2016), pp. 289–309.
- [83] A. Linke. "On the role of the Helmholtz decomposition in mixed methods for incompressible flows and a new variational crime". In: Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 268 (2014), pp. 782–800.
- [84] J. Lions and E. Magenes. Problèmes aux limites non homogènes et applications. Problèmes aux limites non homogènes et applications Bd. 1. Dunod, 1968.
- [85] K.-A. Mardal, J. Schöberl, and R. Winther. "A uniformly stable Fortin operator for the Taylor-Hood element". In: *Numer. Math.* 123.3 (2013), pp. 537–551.
- [86] N. Meyers and J. Serrin. "H = W". In: Proc 8.R-2 (1974), pp. 129–151.
- [87] P. Monk. *Finite Element Methods for Maxwell's Equations*. Numerical Analysis and Scientific Computation. Oxford University Press, 2003.
- [88] J. Nečas. Les Méthodes Directes en Théorie des Equations Elliptiques. Masson, 1967.
- [89] J. C. Nedelec. "Mixed finite elements in \mathbb{R}^3 ". In: Numerische Mathematik 35.3 (1980), pp. 315–341.
- [90] N. C. Nguyen, J. Peraire, and B. Cockburn. "An implicit high-order hybridizable discontinuous Galerkin method for linear convection-diffusion equations". In: *Journal of Computational Physics* 228.9 (2009), pp. 3232–3254.
- [91] M. Orlt. "Regularitätsuntersuchungen und Fehlerabschätzungen für allgemeine Randwertprobleme der Navier–Stokes Gleichungen". PhD thesis. Stuttgart University, 1998.
- [92] M. Orlt and A.-M. Sändig. "Regularity of viscous Navier-Stokes flows in nonsmooth domains". In: Boundary value problems and integral equations in nonsmooth domains (Luminy, 1993). Vol. 167. Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. Dekker, New York, 1995, pp. 185–201.
- [93] Panton, R.L. Incompressible Flow. Wiley, 2013.
- [94] J. E. Pasciak and J. Zhao. "Overlapping Schwarz methods in H(curl) on polyhedral domains". In: J. Numer. Math. 10.3 (2002), pp. 221–234.

- [95] A. S. Pechstein and J. Schöberl. "An analysis of the TDNNS method using natural norms". In: *Numerische Mathematik* 139.1 (2018), pp. 93–120.
- [96] A. S. Pechstein and J. Schöberl. "Tangential-displacement and normal-normal-stress continuous mixed finite elements for elasticity". In: *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.* 21.8 (2011), pp. 1761–1782.
- [97] A. S. Pechstein and J. Schöberl. "The TDNNS method for Reissner-Mindlin plates". In: Numer. Math. 137.3 (2017), pp. 713–740.
- [98] W. Qiu and K. Shi. "A superconvergent HDG method for the Incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations on general polyhedral meshes". In: *CoRR* abs / 1506.07543 (2015).
- [99] P.-A. Raviart and J. M. Thomas. "A mixed finite element method for 2nd order elliptic problems". In: Mathematical aspects of finite element methods (Proc. Conf., Consiglio Naz. delle Ricerche (C.N.R.), Rome, 1975). Berlin: Springer, 1977, 292– 315. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 606.
- [100] W. H. Reed and T. Hill. "Triangular mesh methods for the neutron transport equation". In: Los Alamos Report LA-UR-73-479 (1973).
- [101] S. Rhebergen and G. N. Wells. "A Hybridizable Discontinuous Galerkin Method for the Navier–Stokes Equations with Pointwise Divergence-Free Velocity Field". In: *Journal of Scientific Computing* 76.3 (2018), pp. 1484–1501.
- [102] B. Rivière. Discontinuous Galerkin methods for solving elliptic and parabolic equations: theory and implementation. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 2008.
- [103] B. Rivière. Discontinuous Galerkin methods for solving elliptic and parabolic equations. Vol. 35. Frontiers in Applied Mathematics. Theory and implementation. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2008, pp. xxii+190.
- [104] J. Schöberl. C++11 Implementation of Finite Elements in NGSolve. Tech. rep. ASC-2014-30. Institute for Analysis and Scientific Computing, 2014.
- [105] J. Schöberl. "NETGEN An advancing front 2D/3D-mesh generator based on abstract rules". In: Computing and Visualization in Science 1.1 (1997), pp. 41–52.
- [106] J. Schöberl. *Numerical Methods for Maxwell Equations*. Lecture notes. Technische Universität Wien, 2009.
- [107] J. Schöberl and S. Zaglmayr. "High order Nédélec elements with local complete sequence properties". In: COMPEL-The international journal for computation and mathematics in electrical and electronic engineering 24.2 (2005), pp. 374–384.
- [108] D. Schötzau, C. Schwab, and A. Toselli. "Mixed hp-DGFEM for incompressible flows". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 40.6 (2002), pp. 2171–2194.
- [109] P. W. Schroeder and G. Lube. "Divergence-free H(div)-FEM for time-dependent incompressible flows with applications to high Reynolds number vortex dynamics". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1705.10176 (2017).

- [110] A. Sinwel. "A New Familiy of Mixed Finite Elements for Elasticity". PhD thesis. JKU Linz, 2009.
- [111] R. Stenberg. "A family of mixed finite elements for the elasticity problem". In: Numerische Mathematik 53.5 (1988), pp. 513–538.
- [112] R. Stenberg. "Some new families of finite elements for the Stokes equations". In: *Numer. Math.* 56.8 (1990), pp. 827–838.
- [113] A. Toselli. "hp discontinuous Galerkin approximations for the Stokes problem". In: Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 12.11 (2002), pp. 1565–1597.
- [114] D. Tritton. *Physical Fluid Dynamics*. Oxford Science Publ. Clarendon Press, 1988.
- [115] E. E. Tyrtyshnikov. "How bad are Hankel matrices?" In: *Numerische Mathematik* 67.2 (1994), pp. 261–269.
- [116] R. Verfürth. "Error estimates for a mixed finite element approximation of the Stokes equations". In: RAIRO Anal. Numér. 18.2 (1984), pp. 175–182.
- [117] T. Warburton and J. Hesthaven. "On the constants in hp-finite element trace inverse inequalities". In: Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 192.25 (2003), pp. 2765 –2773.
- [118] S. Zaglmayr. "High order finite element methods for electromagnetic field computation". PhD thesis. JKU Linz, 2006.
- [119] S. Zhang. "A New Family of Stable Mixed Finite Elements for the 3D Stokes Equations". In: Math. Comp. 74.250 (2005), pp. 543–554.

Curriculum Vitae

Persönliche Daten

NamePhilip Lukas LedererGeburtsdatum07.02.1990GeburtsortStadt Salzburg / SalzburgNationalitätÖsterreich

Ausbildung

seit $05/2016$	Projektmitarbeiter am Institut für Angewandte und Numeri-
	sche Mathematik, TU Wien, Österreich
11/2014-04/2016	Masterstudium Technische Mathematik, TU Wien, Österreich
10/2010-11/2014	Bachelorstudium Technische Mathematik, TU Wien, Österreich
06/2009	Matura, Höhere technische Bundeslehranstalt Salzburg,
	Österreich

Wissenschaftliche Publikationen

- J. Gopalakrishnan, P. L. Lederer, and J. Schöberl: A mass conserving mixed stress formulation for Stokes flow with weakly imposed stress symmetry, (arXiv:1901.04648)
- J. Gopalakrishnan, P. L. Lederer, and J. Schöberl: A mass conserving mixed stress formulation for the Stokes equations, (arXiv:1806.07173)
- P. W. Schroeder, V. John, P. L. Lederer, C. Lehrenfeld, G. Lube, and J. Schöberl: On reference solutions and the sensitivity of the 2d Kelvin-Helmholtz instability problem, Computers and Mathematics with Applications (to appear), (arXiv:1803.06893)
- P. L. Lederer, C. Merdon, and J. Schöberl: *Refined a posteriori error estimation for classical and pressure-robust Stokes finite element methods*, Numerische Mathematik (to appear), (arXiv:1712.01625)
- P. L. Lederer, C. Lehrenfeld, and J. Schöberl: *Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin methods* with relaxed H(div)-conformity for incompressible flows. Part II, ESAIM:Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis (to appear), (arXiv:1805.06787)

Bibliography

- P. L. Lederer, C. Lehrenfeld, and J. Schöberl: *Hybrid Discontinuous Galerkin methods with relaxed H(div)-conformity for incompressible flows. Part I*, SIAM Journal of Numerical Analysis (to appear) (arXiv:1707.02782)
- P. L. Lederer, and J. Schöberl: *Polynomial robust stability analysis for H(div) conforming finite elements for the Stokes equations*, IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis, drx051 (2017), 1–29.
- P. L. Lederer, A. Linke, C. Merdon, and J. Schöberl: Divergence-free Reconstruction Operators for Pressure-Robust Stokes Discretizations With Continuous Pressure Finite Elements, SIAM Journal of Numerical Analysis, 55 (2017), 1291–1314.

Wien, 12. Februar 2019

Philip Lukas Lederer